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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B

The following is a summary of the total assets, total liabilities, results and other financial information of Chevalier
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) as of year ended 31 March for
the last five years.

THARELTEBEEEGRAT ([RAF]) REMEAR (5 [ REE ) RNBELFNEE=-A=1T—"RLFE HEE - &
B FENHOMBEREE -

HHEN(ERERT)

Financial Information (HK$ million)

Total assets BEE 17,039 17093 16,105 15,064 14,520
Total liabilities Py 7,356 7451 6,769 6,561 6,282
Total equity e 9,683 9,642 9,336 8,503 8,238
Non-controlling interests FEFERR 611 621 603 534 488
Shareholders’ funds REES 9,072 9,021 8733 7969 7750
Share capital B
—in number (million) - #E(AER) 302 302 302 302 302
—in value (HK$1.25 per share) - BE(BRE®1.257T) 377 377 377 377 377
Revenue N 6,381 6,893 6,980 4,759 5,538
Profit attributable to shareholders ANRIRE
of the Company FE(R SR 533 655 908 540 315
Per Share Basis (HK$) SREE (B%)
Earnings - basic Bf — &K 1.77 2.17 3.01 1.79 1.05
Dividends s 0.52 0.50 1.75 0.60 0.70
Net assets value BEFE
- excluding non-controlling interests — MefEd RS 30.0 299 28.9 26.4 25.7

2020

—g-%f

—_—

HKS$ million
BEEERT

2019
—T-NEF
HK$ million
B BET

Segment Revenue* 2EUA *
® Construction and engineering REREWMITE 4,105 4,262
® Property investment LI EZ g} 143 140
Property development and operations )23 [ 418 699 1,021
Healthcare investment REEEEICE 964 866
® Car dealership BRI 2,303 2,695
® Others Hih 693 679
Total zE 8,907 9,563
Segment Profit/(Loss)* DEHF, (BE) *
® Construction and engineering RN T2 318 294
® Property investment L EZ g 220 269
Property development and operations Y23 E N &8 315 218
Healthcare investment REEERIEE (105) 144
® Car dealership BRI 4 (10)
® Others EAth (5) 47
Total ko] 747 962
* Included share of revenue/results of associates and joint ventures
BIEEBME R REEREZWAEE
HtERERERAT

—TTEFR

5



CORPORATE INFORMATION
EEEH

CHAIRMAN EMERITUS
The late Dr. CHOW Yei Ching

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. HO Chung Leung

Mr. MA Chi Wing

Miss Lily CHOW

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. KO Chan Gock, William
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YANG Chuen Liang, Charles
Professor POON Chung Kwong
Mr. lIrons SZE

Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun

SECRETARY
Mr. MUI Chin Leung

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
and Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Berkadia Commercial Mortgage LLC

Capital One, National Association

Chong Hing Bank Limited

DBS Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited

SOLICITORS

Appleby
Mayer Brown JSM
Robertsons

REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

KEXR
EEE gL

BTES
SIS (L EREFRIEIE)
RESS A (B H FARATIE)

Al RER S

BEREE

FEIRIF/ME

FUTES
BEEEL
B IESRE

BYFHITES
ISEmL
BRI
L
Pk A

WE
BRRSEE

BEEm
BEFUOKEG T ESET
HEZEHAD

PEER PN lEN 4Lt
EEPIR
AFREZ+ZE

FEERBRIT

Berkadia Commercial Mortgage LLC

Capital One, National Association
BRI TER AR
ERBITERAREAENTT
BERITERAF]
RERITERAR
BELSELRITERAR
LBmEERITERAR

FREm
BARERTE AT
FiTRemeT
BB T E IS

AfRER

Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda



PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

22nd Floor, Chevalier Commercial Centre
8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2318 1818

Facsimile:  (852) 2757 5138

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor

North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Standard Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen'’s Road East, Hong Kong

SHARE LISTING

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 25

WEBSITE

http://www.chevalier.com

CORPORATE INFORMATION

FTELEEME

BB

LB RFE )\
BEtfmEd L+
EiE ¢ (852) 2318 1818
{85 : (852) 2757 5138

FTERMBF

BRE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor

North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

EBRMBE
EREoE
BEEZEFRAR]
EAEEAER—\=5
AR LT+ E

G viglniy ]
EBHMAT S AR QA
RN FREE - 25

494t

http://www.chevalier.com

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Announcement of Results
Interim Results
Final Results

27 November 2019
26 June 2020

Book Close Dates
Interim Dividend
Annual General Meeting
Final Dividend

13 to 17 December 2019
21 to 28 August 2020
7 to 11 September 2020

Annual General Meeting 28 August 2020

Payment of Dividends

Interim dividend of
HK$0.20 per share

Final dividend of
HK$0.32 per share

20 December 2019

18 September 2020
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LETTERTO SHAREHOLDERS
BRR 2 R

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to report the results of the Group for the financial year
2019/20.

The past year was full of uncertainties as a result of the escalation in the
tension between the US and China and the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic. The volatility of the global financial market and its impact on
worldwide economic growth have gradually surfaced. Hong Kong also had
to, since June 2019, deal with consecutive months of social unrest from
which Hong Kong will need time to slowly recover. In order to relieve the
adverse impact and economic downturn caused by the pandemic, the
Government of the HKSAR has adopted a massive scale of measures to
ease pressure.

The construction and engineering industry in Hong Kong has inevitably
been affected by the roll out schedules of tenders for large-scale public
works. Moreover, the progress of the rehabilitation and modernisation
works of lifts in aged buildings was also hindered or deferred as a result
of COVID-19. The entertainment and resort business in Macau was also
hard hit by the pandemic and hence the activities of the construction and
engineering projects in Macau slowed down significantly as well.

The adverse impacts arising from the social unrest and COVID-19 have
also spilled over to various businesses of the Group. Unfavourable factors
including the weakening of inbound tourism, transport interruptions,
business suspensions and the global economic slowdown affected, since
the second half of 2019, the local business environment and the general
population’s spending pattern. Hence, most of our business units have
also to a certain extent been affected by these adverse impacts.

Nevertheless, we hold a guarded optimistic view on the long-term growth
of the construction and engineering industry in Hong Kong and Macau.
Land supply has always been a sensitive issue and was the focal point in
the Chief Executive’s 2019 Policy Address. The Government of the HKSAR
has urged the public works subcommittee of Legco to expedite the
vetting process of the Government’s public works projects. Moreover, in
response to the strategy to increase housing supply as mentioned in the
Policy Address in both 2018 and 2019, the Urban Renewal Authority has
recently kicked-off statutory planning procedures of two pilot projects in
Kowloon City to redevelop buildings under the Civil Servants’ Co-operative
Building Society Scheme. Apart from public tenders, the Group will make
use of multiple channels to replenish its land bank cautiously in Hong
Kong for property development and property investment. The Government
has set up a HK$1 billion Construction Innovation and Technology Fund to
encourage players in the construction industry to widely adopt innovative
construction methods and new technologies so as to promote productivity,
building quality and site safety and also to enhance environmental
performance which will surely benefit industry players as a whole. As for
Macau, we anticipate that projects in Macau for upgrading entertainment
and resort facilities will kick start again with the lifting of lockdown
restrictions and the resumption of normal life and services.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Although the path ahead is uphill and is full of challenges, the Group
remains positive with the increase of land and housing supply as stated
in the Chief Executive's Policy Address. The Group anticipates that the
resilient Hong Kong property market will soon make a come-back in light
of the strong solid demand for housing coupled with the low interest
rate environment. In addition, the Government’s target of expediting the
commencement of infrastructure projects will most likely provide plenty of
business opportunities in Hong Kong.

On the healthcare business front, we believe that our healthcare business
has great organic growth potentials given the ageing population will only
grow larger with the advancement of technology extending life span and
with decreasing birth rates worldwide. The ravages caused by COVID-19
will also likely raise people’s general interest in health awareness.

With the various measures implemented by the Government of the
HKSAR and major central banks supporting the restarting of global
economic activities, the Group is hopeful that our various businesses
can benefit from those measures and the Group endeavours to seize all
possible business opportunities as the economy picks up.

Year 2020 marks the 50th anniversary of the Group. The Group has sailed
across low and high tides for over five decades in the ever changing Hong
Kong business environment. With a healthy financial position coupled with
a professional and experienced management team and dedicated staff
members, we are confident that the Group will continue to sail through
obstacles smoothly in the many decades ahead.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to our
shareholders and business partners for their continuing support, and to
our colleagues for their dedication and hard work over the years.

KUOK Hoi Sang
Chairman and Managing Director
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENWE DN

The Group's consolidated revenue was HK$6,381 million (2019: HK$6,893
million), representing a decrease of 7% when compared with the last
financial year. Taking into account its share of revenue in its associates
and joint ventures, total segment revenue was HK$8,907 million (2019:
HK$9,563 million), representing a decrease of 7%. Profit for the year
ended 31 March 2020 reported a decrease of 19% to HK$567 million after
taking into account contributions from one-off disposal gains deriving from
the sale of the (i) office and commercial property development project
at Tai Yip Street, Kwun Tong amounting to HK$167 million, (ii) industrial
property located at East Sun Industrial Centre at Kwun Tong amounting
to HK$39 million and (iii) residential and commercial property project
located at Davis Street, Kennedy Town amounting to HK$74 million. Profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders for the year ended 31 March
2020 decreased to HK$533 million (2019: HK$655 million), and earnings
per share was HK$1.77 (2019: HK$2.17).

CONSTRUCTION AND ENGINEERING

The Construction and Engineering segment’s revenue for the year ended
31 March 2020 recorded a slight decrease of 4% to HK$4,105 million (2019:
HK$4,262 million) while segment profit increased by 8% from HK$294
million to HK$318 million. The increase in profit was mainly due to the
increase in the contribution from the Group's associates.

Our building construction division continued to serve clients in both
the private and public sectors. The overall performance of this segment
maintained steady growth. During the year under review, the Group
invested sizable resources and manpower in the latest prefabricated
construction technology, that is, the Modular Integrated Construction (MiC)
and the advanced virtual visualisation technology of Building Information
Modelling (BIM), so as to enhance the productivity of the Group, improve
site safety and also to resolve the labour shortage problem in the market.

The performance of the electrical and mechanical engineering division
also maintained steady growth as this division continued to work on
projects of Galaxy Resort & Casino at Cotai City, Macau for the provision
of mechanical, electrical and plumbing works during the year under review.

The contribution of the aluminium windows and curtain walls division and
the building supply division experienced a decrease in both revenue and
profit due to the slowdown of building and construction projects in the
market during the year. With the passing of budget bills of government
projects, both divisions will take proactive actions with caution in seeking
business opportunities in the coming year.

The environmental engineering division reported a positive contribution as
a result of the recognition of profit after the completion of projects during
the year. The division will continue to partner with seasoned experts in
this field to form joint ventures and carry out sewage treatment and water
treatment works projects from the Drainage Services Department and
Water Supplies Department respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As a result of the turnaround in the performance of its associates in
Mainland China, the lift and escalator division recorded an encouraging
result during the year. With an increase in the awareness of lift safety and
the advocacy for rehabilitation of lifts in ageing buildings in Hong Kong,
it is anticipated that the demand for the supply and installation of lifts
and related equipment to replace aged lifts under the Government Lift
Modernisation Subsidy Scheme will increase. Leveraging on the Group's
expertise and good track record in the lift and escalator industry, the Group
believes that we are in a competitive position and will capture any future
market opportunities in the coming year.

As at 31 March 2020, the total value of all outstanding construction and
engineering contracts of the Group's subsidiaries amounted to HK$4,455
million. Major contracts include:

1. Construction of the extension of the operating theatre block for Tuen
Mun Hospital, New Territories;

2. Construction of commercial development at A.l.L. 462 Yip Kan Street
& Wong Chuk Hang Road, Hong Kong;

3. Construction of heated swimming pool at Morse Park, Kowloon;
4. Upgrade of Kwun Tong Preliminary Treatment Works;

5. Mechanical and electrical works for Galaxy Resort & Casino Phase
3C Multi-Functional Hall Convention Complex and Hotel at Cotai City,
Macau;

6. Supply of kitchen cabinets for residential units at Lohas Park 6, Tseung
Kwan O, New Territories; and

7. Design, supply and installation of curtain walls, windows, metal
claddings, acoustic panels and glass balustrades for proposed
residential development at No. 547 Castle Peak Road, Tuen Mun, New
Territories.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The property rental business of this segment covered Hong Kong,
Singapore and Mainland China during the year under review. This
segment experienced a slight increase in revenue from HK$140 million
to HK$142 million, representing an increase of 1%. The increase in
revenue was mainly attributable from the stable income arising from
the letting of the properties. The segment profit decreased by 18%
from HK$269 million to HK$220 million, mainly due to decrease in
re-valuation as compared to last year despite positive contribution from
the one-off disposal gain from the industrial property located at East
Sun Industrial Centre at Kwun Tong and the residential and commercial
property project located at Davis Street, Kennedy Town, Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB W N D

During the year, the Group disposed a residential and commercial property
with gross floor area of about 9,100 square feet located at 1B and 1C
Davis Street, Kennedy Town. The property was acquired in 2017 at a
consideration of HK$228 million. The completion of the sale took place on
31 October 2019.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND OPERATIONS

During the year under review, the Property Development and Operations
segment recorded a decrease of 32% in revenue from HK$1,021 million to
HK$699 million while its segment profit increased by 44% from HK$218
million to HK$315 million. The attributable profit mainly arose from the
one-off disposal gain from the sale of the office and commercial property
development project at Tai Yip Street, Kwun Tong.

With its optimal location and proximity to the new To Kwa Wan MTR
station which is expected to open in 2021, the Group will focus on
marketing the remaining residential units and commercial area of City Hub,
the Urban Renewal Authority (“URA") re-development project in which the
Group owns 50% interest located in To Kwa Wan in the coming year.

The Group's latest 100% owned URA re-development project at 8 Fuk
Chak Street, Tai Kok Tsui was officially named “Sablier” in May 2020. Upon
completion, it will provide 144 small to medium size residential units with
residential gross floor area of about 55,000 square feet and commercial
area of 7000 square feet. The project is scheduled for completion by 2021.

Foundation works of the redevelopment project at 292A-D Prince Edward
Road West, Homantin commenced in April 2019 and is scheduled for
completion in the third quarter of 2020. Given the site is situated in a well
sought after location in Kowloon, the Group intends to redevelop it into a
luxurious residential block with a gross floor area of approximately 39,000
square feet.

Demolition works for the redevelopment project at 5 Hang Lok Lane,
Shatin completed in April 2019 and the Group plans to redevelop this
project into luxurious residential units consisting houses or low-rise
apartment blocks. The project is currently in the planning stage.

Phase Ill of “Chevalier City” in Changchun comprises of 10 residential
blocks and provides about 1,100 units with a gross floor area of
approximately 100,000 square meters. The size of the residential units
range from 36 - 125 square meters. “Chevalier City” is located in a
developed community close to the Changchunxi Railway Station. Two
residential blocks of Phase lll of “Chevalier City” were launched for pre-
sale in the market in mid-October last year after obtaining the pre-sale
consent and over 85% have been sold since their launch. Construction
works of Phase Il is expected to be completed in the third quarter of
2021.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

RER - Zﬁ‘ilﬂj%—lé{jﬂi)ﬁtm%ﬁé
ZEHIBHR L ICHENEEMRERYE

EEmEEL 59,100 F R » z%%mfg
—tFBAZREAEBE 228 - HEE

RZEBE-NFE+A=T—HB=K -
MEREREE

REBEFA - MEZRREESBRARS
#1021 87T 32% B8 6.99187T - M
HABEN A msE218E g nad% &=
FEH 31518 - [EIE R EERE Wi%w%
AEFHAENEAYERREBEEN XK

IS o

BREE BB IEAIE B AR R - IUZH,
#Huh (AR T —FFR) AEERAE
REFENEHRE (—BUR L IVENT
BEZR(MmERERER - MAKEE
BZEBR50% ) gk METELNE
E G

REBNRAKABREEHSK 2RI EH
ENTEREREE  EN-_ZT-_ZTFHA
EXpEA Bl - BT % ZBEBBRE

144 @R/ NRVEEELN - FEAEEEELD
/455,000 F 75 R N S EE 7000 F 7R o
ZIEAHEN B —FRT -

AMA XA FEE292A-DHREEE R /)
WEIRER-ZT— jmi@ﬂ FItAEN T > I
*fiﬂﬁAf?f?i FEEI - AR

uﬁéhﬁéﬁ%ﬁﬁwﬁx REBEBEKZ
EYEEEAFTEFEETF  BEAEREY
39,000 FHR -

XY AELERNERAEBHFETED
R-F-NEFMATK - MAEEE &K%
HEBERZASEEEEM(BREMNEREE
NE) o ZBBNENFBIFEE

REN[FER | =HeE 10BEEET

WA 1,100 EEEEM - LEEHEEL
100,000 F 75 K « (FEEMLEEN F36E

126 753K o [ BB (LR REFAIA T
EEEMRE - ME [ FAH ] —BHEEETF
EHBERZEREREF AT BEMSE
HIEE - BEMEUREE TR BIRSE% - &
—HERTREBER S —FE=FF
BT o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The cold storage and logistics business in the fiscal year ended 31
March 2020 remained stable with slight growth in revenue and profit.
The performance of the cold storage business was satisfactory with a
lower turnover rate as compared to last year whilst maintaining stable
occupancy. During the year, the Group's cold storage and logistics
operations worked closely with key account clients by providing additional
quality in-store service and all-in-one total logistics reefer service solution
to support key account clients in the challenging market. Nevertheless, the
prolonged Sino-US trade dispute and COVID-19 have negative impact on
the sea and air frozen food supply chain coming into Hong Kong and may
impact the performance of this business in 2020/21.

HEALTHCARE INVESTMENT

This segment’s revenue experienced an increase of 11% from HK$866
million to HK$964 million after accounting for the contribution of those
newly acquired projects during the year. Segment results reported a loss
of HK$105 million this year after taking into consideration the operational
expenses, impairment loss, finance costs and the recognition of incentive
fee expenses.

During the year under review, the Group disposed certain unused portion
of a senior housing facility at Roswell, New Mexico, US and entered into
a contract to dispose equity interest in seven senior housing properties at
North Carolina, US. The target completion of the North Carolina transaction
will be in 2020/21. Apart from the disposal, the Group also entered into a
contract to acquire a senior housing property located at Medford, Oregon,
US and the transaction completed in May 2020.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group owned 35 senior housing facilities
(including those classified as assets held-forsale) across 7 states in the
United States of America (the “US") providing over 3,000 beds or units
covering a wide spectrum of independent living, assisted living and
memory care and skilled nursing services. The Group also owns 3 medical
office buildings located in New York, Pennsylvania and Rhode Island
comprising a gross floor area of approximately 428,000 square feet. As the
trend of the life expectancy of the general population increases and with
the increase in cost of healthcare, the Group believes that demand for
senior housing facilities and medical office buildings will continue to grow
in the US.

With our extensive experience in the healthcare business in the US, the
Group has engaged in the development of a senior housing project in
Happy Valley, Hong Kong. Foundation works are underway and the target
opening date of the residence is in 2022/23.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB W N D

CAR DEALERSHIP

During the year, the overall performance of this segment covering the
car dealership in Canada and Mainland China was affected by the Sino-
US trade dispute, slowing macroeconomic growth, lack of tax incentive
in Mainland China and COVID-19 incident. The revenue of this segment
decreased by 11% from HK$2,595 million to HK$2,303 million which
was mainly due to the decrease in the sales volume of imported cars in
Mainland China with also a slight decrease in the sale of the number of
vehicles in Canada. There was a turnaround in operating results owing
to the improvement in our Mainland China car dealerships’ performance
since the market re-opened after COVID-19 lockdown. In order to relieve
the adverse impact, the Chinese government has launched a series of
measures to entice potential buyers to purchase new cars including tax
incentives, subsidies and rebates. The Chinese government has also
relaxed controls over the issuance of new licences for traditional-fuel cars
and increased the number of new car licenses in major cities. The Group
is cautiously optimistic that all these measures would help in regaining
the momentum in the sales of the car industry. In Canada, the Canadian
government has implemented measures to relieve pressure on the
automobiles industry arising from COVID-19. Our Canada team wiill actively
launch more promotional incentives to potential customers after obtaining
the support from various car manufacturers.

OTHERS

During the year, segment revenue recorded a slight growth of 2% from
HK$679 million to HK$693 million. Notwithstanding an increase in the
profit of our insurance business, segment profit declined significantly
from a profit of HK$47 million to a loss of HK$5 million as a result of
the translation loss of approximately HK$6 million and unrealised loss of
approximately HK$25 million in security investment and also due to the
unsatisfactory performance of our food and beverage investment as a
result of the social unrest and COVID-19.

During the period under review, the insurance business recorded a
steady income from premium written, supported, in particular, by the
rising employees’ compensation premium. Our strength remains in the
employee compensation area in light of the numerous large and small
scale construction projects in place in Hong Kong. In addition, the property
insurance sector also managed to maintain its underwriting performance
and net profitability in light of the limited exposure to major losses during
the year. The segment will continue to adopt a prudent underwriting
approach, keep its operation at a competitive level whilst providing reliable
services to its customers.

For the information and technology business, with the slowdown in the
economy of Hong Kong since the second half of 2019, many small-medium
enterprises have taken a wait-and-see approach in incurring investments in
assets thereby leading to a slowdown in business. Although our revenue
of this business in Thailand improved during the year, it was off-set by
provisions made in accordance with accounting adjustments under Thai
law.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Revenue

Revenue of the Group decreased from HK$6,893 million in the year
2018/19 to HK$6,381 million in the year 2019/20. The decrease was mainly
due to less revenue recognised from the sale of residential units in the
property development in Changchun and Hong Kong and less revenue
recognised from Car Dealership segment but partially offset by higher
revenue recognised from the Healthcare Investment segment.

Gross profit

Gross profit decreased from HK$887 million in the year 2018/19 to HK$844 million
in the year 2019/20 and gross profit margin slightly increased from 12.9%
t0 13.2%.

Other income, net

Other income, net of HK$46 million was recorded in the year 2019/20
(2018/19: HK$68 million). The decrease was mainly due to the turnaround
of gain on investments at fair value through profit or loss from HK$1 million
in the year 2018/19 to a loss of HK$32 million in the year 2019/20 but offset
by insurance contract refund and increases in the insurance underwriting
activities in the year 2019/20.

Other (losses)/gains, net

Other losses, net of HK$48 million were recorded in the year 2019/20
(2018/19: other gains of HK$182 million). The decrease in gain was
primarily due to the impairment loss on properties for sale in Changchun,
loss on disposal of a building in Roswell, the US and the absence of
remeasurement gain on transfer from properties for sale to investment
properties and turnaround decrease in fair value of investment properties
by HK$25 million (2018/19: increase in fair value of investment properties
by HK$166 million), but offset by exchange gain and gain on disposal of a
partial land in Canada totalling HK$12 million.

Gain on disposals of subsidiaries

Disposals of entire interest in an office and commercial property in Tai
Yip Street, an industrial property in Shing Yip Street, and a residential
and commercial property in Davis Street resulted in gain on disposals of
subsidiaries totalling HK$280 million in 2019/20 (2018/19: HKS$nil).

Selling and distribution costs

Selling and distribution costs decreased from HK$157 million in the
year 2018/19 to HK$148 million in the year 2019/20. The decrease was
mainly due to less sale of residential units in the property development in
Changchun.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
R

Share of results of associates

The Group's share of results of associates increased from HK$125 million
in the year 2018/19 to HK$151 million in the year 2019/20 mainly due to
the increase in revenue and the absence of redundancy cost recognised
by the associates.

Share of results of joint ventures

The Group's share of results of joint ventures recorded a profit of
HK$1 million in the year 2019/20 (2018/19: HK$171 million). The decrease
was mainly attributable to the joint ventures in the US under the
Healthcare Investment segment.

Finance costs, net

Finance costs, net of HK$53 million were recorded in the year 2019/20
(2018/19: HK$80 million). Finance costs decreased by HK$10 million to
HK$113 million (2018/19: HK$123 million), while finance income increased
by HK$17 million to HK$60 million (2018/19: HK$43 million), mainly due to
increase in bank deposit income.

Taxation

Taxation of HK$76 million in the year 2019/20 (2018/19: HK$140 million)
was derived from the current tax expenses of HK$97 million (2018/19:
HK$90 million) and the deferred tax income of HK$21 million (2018/19:
deferred tax expenses of HK$50 million). The turnaround was mainly
arising from deferred tax asset recognised in respect of tax losses by the
Healthcare Investment segment.

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$533 million was
achieved in the year 2019/20 (2018/19: HK$655 million). Excluding the
aforementioned disposals of entire interest in an office and commercial
property in Tai Yip Street, an industrial property in Shing Yip Street,
and a residential and commercial property in Davis Street totalling
HK$280 million in the year 2019/20, profit attributable to shareholders of
the Company decreased.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Investment properties

The carrying value of investment properties decreased by HK$338 million
to HK$3,432 million as at 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$3,770 million) mainly
due to the disposal of a property of HK$206 million, decrease in fair value
of HK$25 million and exchange loss of HK$108 million.

Property, plant and equipment

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment decreased by HK$127 million
to HK$3,034 million as at 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$3,161 million) which
mainly resulted from the transfer of senior housing properties to assets
held-for-sale.
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Goodwill

The carrying value of goodwill slightly decreased to HK$644 million as at
31 March 2020 (2019: $684 million), mainly due to transfer of goodwill
associated with seven senior housing properties from the Healthcare
Investment segment to assets held-for-sale.

Interests in associates (under non-current assets) and amounts
due from associates (under current assets)

Interests in associates consisted of interests in associates, including
goodwill, of HK$496 million (2019: HK$472 million) and non-current portion
of amount due from an associate of HK$2 million (2019: HK$3 million).

Interests in joint ventures (under non-current assets) and amounts
due from joint ventures (under current assets)

Interests in joint ventures consisted of interests in joint ventures, including
goodwill, of HK$770 million (2019: HK$829 million) and non-current portion of
amounts due from joint ventures of HK$264 million (2019: HK$429 million).

The decrement of interests in joint ventures mainly resulted from the
repayment from a joint venture of URA project and the dividend received
from a joint venture of HK$30 million of the Healthcare Investment
segment in the US.

Properties under development (under non-current and current
assets)

Properties under development (under non-current and current assets) increased
by HK$110 million to HK$2,324 million (2019: HK$2,214 million) mainly
representing the development costs incurred for properties development
projects in Hong Kong and Mainland China totalling HK$155 million.

Properties for sale

The decrease in properties for sale of HK$100 million to HK$267 million
(2019: HK$367 million) was mainly due to sales of properties of a
development project in Changchun.

Bank balances and cash

As at 31 March 2020, bank balances and cash increased to HK$2,825 million
(2019: HK$1,833 million), of which 73.9% (2019: 46.2%) of bank balances
and cash were denominated in Hong Kong and US dollars while 18.9%
(2019: 44.2%) were denominated in Renminbi.

Bank and other borrowings (under current and non-current
liabilities)

Bank and other borrowings decreased to HK$3,368 million as at 31 March
2020 (2019: HK$3,740 million) as a result of repayment of bank loan during
the year. 63.2% and 33.3% of the balance as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
57.8% and 38.3%) were denominated in Hong Kong dollar and US dollar
respectively.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
R

The Group’s bank and other borrowings due within one year decreased
from 29.7% as at 31 March 2019 to 26.3% as at 31 March 2020.

Majority of the borrowings in Hong Kong, the US and Mainland China carry
floating interest rates, most of which are based on Hong Kong or London
Interbank Offered Rates or the People’s Bank of China Benchmark Loan
Rate.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's net assets attributable to shareholders of
the Company amounted to HK$9,072 million, representing an increase of
HK$51 million when compared with 31 March 2019 of HK$9,021 million.
Such increase mainly resulted from the profit attributable to shareholders
of the Company of HK$533 million offset by exchange difference on
translation of operations of overseas subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures of HK$302 million and dividend payment of HK$166 million.

LEVERAGE RATIOS

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated cash
flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and the US.

As at 31 March 2020, of the Group’s total debt which amounted to
HK$3,368 million (2019: HK$3,740 million), HK$1,120 million (2019:
HK$1,431 million) was attributable to the senior housing business, of
which HK$1,050 million (2019: HK$1,360 million) was without recourse to
the Company.

Analysis of the net debt is set out below:

Unsecured: IR
— other business - HAMn R
Secured: BHEM
— senior housing business - LR EER
— other business - B %%
Total debt RIETS
Bank balances and cash RITHEF MRS
Net debt R ES
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As at 31 March 2020, with the decrease in bank and other borrowings,
total debt to equity ratio decreased to 34.8% (2019: 38.8%), which was
expressed as a percentage of bank and other borrowings over the Group's
net assets of HK$9,683 million (2019: HK$9,642 million). Net debt to
equity ratio decreased to 5.6% (2019: 19.8%), which was expressed as
a percentage of net bank and other borrowings (representing total bank
and other borrowings net of bank balances and cash) over the Group's
net assets. Ratio of total debt to total assets of HK$17039 million (2019:
HK$17,093 million) decreased from 21.9% to 19.8% as at 31 March 2020.

With the existing banking facilities and the recurrent cash generation
from its operations, the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet
the funding requirements for its ongoing operations as well as its future
expansion.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. The Group’s treasury activities are centralised in order to
achieve better risk control and minimise cost of funds. Cash is generally
placed in short-term deposits with majority denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, Renminbi or US dollar. The Group's liquidity and financing
requirements are frequently reviewed. In anticipating new investments
or maturity of bank and other borrowings, the Group will consider new
financing while maintaining an appropriate level of gearing.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND
INTEREST RATES

The major currencies used to operate the businesses are Hong Kong
dollar, Renminbi and US dollar. As at 31 March 2020, the Group had
arranged foreign currency swap contracts amounting to HK$19 million
(2019: HK$9 million) to hedge part of its foreign currency risk from
various foreign currencies used for business operations. The Group had
no outstanding interest rate swap contract as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK$nil).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
R

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, bank and other borrowings of HK$1,690 million
(2019: HK$2,023 million) and other unutilised banking facilities were
secured by charges on investment properties of HK$1,294 million (2019:
HK$1,521 million), property, plant and equipment of HK$1,320 million
(2019: HK$1,337 million), properties under development of HK$1,210 million
(2019: HK$1,083 million), other non-current assets of HK$22 million
(2019: HK$22 million), inventories of HK$30 million (2019: HK$91 million),
debtors, contract assets, deposits and prepayments of HK$83 million
(2019: HK$55 million) and deposits at bank of HK$50 million (2019: HK$55 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the contingent liabilities are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENT

Details of the commitment are set out in note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements. The commitment is to be financed by borrowings and
internal funds.
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MR. KUOK HOI SANG M.H., Executive Director, Chairman and Managing
Director, chairman of the Executive Committee and the Nomination
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee, aged 70, joined
Chevalier Group in 1972. He is also a director of certain companies of the
Group. Mr. Kuok has extensive experience in business development and is
responsible for the strategic planning and management of the operations
of lift and escalator, building construction, building supplies, aluminium
windows and curtain walls, electrical and mechanical engineering, civil
engineering, property investment and development as well as investment
projects of Chevalier Group. Mr. Kuok is the President of The Lift and
Escalator Contractors Association in Hong Kong, the Chairman of the Hong
Kong - China Branch of The International Association of Elevator Engineers,
Vice President of The Hong Kong Federation of Electrical and Mechanical
Contractors Limited, a Registered Lift and Escalator Engineer in Hong
Kong and Chairman of Executive Board of The Hong Kong Real Property
Federation.

Mr. Kuok has served on a number of the Government of the HKSAR
Boards and Committees, including the Lift and Escalator Safety Advisory
Committee as well as the Examination Committee of the Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department for registration of lift engineers and
escalator engineers. Mr. Kuok was awarded the Medal of Honour by
the Government of the HKSAR in 2016 for his dedicated public service,
particularly for his contributions to the development of the electrical and
mechanical services industry. He was also a member of the Guangzhou
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
from the 9th to 12th sessions and the Election Committee of the Chief
Executive of the HKSAR.

MR. TAM KWOK WING, Executive Director, Deputy Managing Director
and a member of the Executive Committee, aged 59, joined Chevalier
Group in 1986. He is also a director of certain companies of the Group.
Mr. Tam is responsible for the operations of cold storage and logistics;
insurance services; property investment and development; property
management; and travel agency businesses.

Mr. Tam holds a Bachelor Degree in Laws from Peking University of the
People's Republic of China; a Master of Arts Degree from City University of
Hong Kong; and a Postgraduate Diploma in Corporate Administration from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Tam is a Fellow Member of each
of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators; the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors; the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the
UK; and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Mr. Tam is also
a Chartered Member of the Chartered Institute of Housing.
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At present, Mr. Tam is a Deputy Chairman of the General Insurance
Council and a Member of the Governing Committee in the Hong Kong
Federation of Insurers, and a Council Member and the Chairman of
Membership Committee of the Hong Kong Association of Property
Management Companies. He is also an appointed Member of each of
the Property Management Services Authority; the Occupational Safety
and Health Council; the Employees’ Compensation Insurance Levies
Management Board; the Property Management Industry Training Advisory
Committee of the Education Bureau; the Advisory Committee on Water
Supplies and the Steering Committee on the Promotion of Electric Vehicles
of Environmental Protection Department. In addition, he is an Honorary
Secretary of The Insurance Complaints Bureau and a member of The Board
of Directors of Bao Minh Insurance Corporation in Vietnam. He is the Past
President of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries.

Mr. Tam is also appointed as the Honorary Vice Consul of the Kingdom
of Bahrain to Hong Kong. He also serves as the Secretary General of the
Hong Kong Bahrain Business Association. In China, Mr. Tam is appointed
as a Standing Committee Member of the 13th Changchun Committee of
the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Tam is also a
Council Member of the Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors.

MR. HO CHUNG LEUNG, Executive Director and a member of the
Executive Committee, aged 70, joined Chevalier Group in 1985. He is also
a director of certain companies of the Group. He is responsible for the
internal audit of the Group. Mr. Ho is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the UK and a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

MR. MA CHI WING, Executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee, aged 51, joined Chevalier Group in 1993. He is also a
director of certain companies of the Group. He is responsible for the
human resources and general administration of the Group. Mr. Ma has
extensive experience in project management and is currently in charge of
the healthcare investment, car dealership, hotel investment and trading
businesses of the Group. Mr. Ma holds a Master Degree in Business
Administration from The University of Warwick, UK, a Bachelor Degree
in International Business Studies from City University of Hong Kong, a
Corporate Finance Certificate from UC Berkeley, US, and a Professional
Certificate in China Construction from Tsinghua University, Mainland China.

MISS LILY CHOW, Executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee, aged 57 joined Chevalier Group in 1990. She is also a director
of certain companies of the Group. She is responsible for strategic
planning and business development of the Group. Miss Chow holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of British Columbia, Canada.
Miss Chow is currently a Standing Committee member of the Ningbo
Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference.
She is also a Vice-chairman of Ladies’ Committee of The Chinese General
Chamber of Commerce, the Hong Kong non-voting member of the All-
China Women'’s Federation and a member of the board of Governors of
Hong Kong Sinfonietta. Miss Chow is the daughter of the late Dr. Chow Yei
Ching, Chairman Emeritus of the Company, and a sister of Mr. Chow Vee
Tsung, Oscar, Non-Executive Director of the Company.
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DR. KO CHAN GOCK, WILLIAM S.B.S., Ph.D., Non-Executive Director,
aged 74, joined the Company in 2009. Dr. Ko graduated from The University
of Hong Kong in 1968. He served in the Government of the HKSAR for
more than 38 years, having worked in a wide range of departments
including the Water Supplies Department, the Highways Department, the
Civil Engineering and Development Department and the Works Branch. In
2001, he was appointed as the Director of Water Supplies. Dr. Ko retired
from the civil service in January 2007

MR. CHOW VEETSUNG, OSCAR, Non-Executive Director, aged 46, joined
Chevalier Group in 2000. He is also a director of certain companies of the
Group. He holds a degree in Master of Engineering from The University
of Oxford, UK and is currently a Vice Chairman of General Committee of
the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce and a General Committee
Member of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong. Mr.
Chow is the Honorary Consul of the Kingdom of Bahrain in Hong Kong
and currently the Chairman of Hong Kong Bahrain Business Association.
He is also a member of the Shanghai Committee of the Chinese People's
Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Chow is also a court member of
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Chow is the son of the late
Dr. Chow Yei Ching, Chairman Emeritus of the Company, and a brother of
Miss Lily Chow, Executive Director of the Company.

MR. YANG CHUEN LIANG, CHARLES B.B.S., J.R, Independent Non-
Executive Director and chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of
each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee,
aged 61, joined the Company in 2008. Mr. Yang obtained a Master Degree
in Business Administration from Cass Business School London, UK in 1983
and is currently a sole proprietor at S. Y. Yang & Company, Practising firm
of Accountants and member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales as well as the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Yang holds directorship in various private companies.
His community duties include the Vice Patron of the Community Chest,
panel member of the Insurance Appeals Tribunal, an independent director
of the Travel Industry Council of Hong Kong, member of Travel Industry
Authority, member of Hospital Governing Committee of Yan Chai Hospital
and member of the Council Committee of The Hong Kong Academy for
Performing Arts. Mr. Yang was selected as “Outstanding Accountant
Ambassador” by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He was appointed as a Justices of the Peace by the Government of the
HKSAR in 2004 and awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government
of the HKSAR in 2011.
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PROFESSOR POON CHUNG KWONG G.B.S., J.R, Ph.D., D.Sc.,
Independent Non-Executive Director and chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee, aged 80, joined the Company in 2012. Professor Poon
obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree from the University of
Hong Kong, a Doctor of Philosophy degree and a Higher Doctor of Science
degree from the University of London, UK. He was a postdoctoral fellow at
the California Institute of Technology and University of Southern California,
US. He also held the Honorary Degree of Doctor of Humanities from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2009. Professor Poon is currently the
chairman of Virya Foundation Limited (a registered non-profit charitable
organisation). He is an Emeritus Professor and the President Emeritus of
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and had devoted 40 years of his
life to advancing university education in Hong Kong before he retired in
January 2009 from his 18-year presidency at The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Professor Poon was appointed a non-official Justices of the
Peace in 1989 and received the OBE award in 1991, the Gold Bauhinia Star
award in 2002, and the “Leader of the Year Awards 2008 (Education)” In
addition, Professor Poon was appointed as a member of the Legislative
Council (1985-1991) and a member of the National Committee of the
Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference (1998-2013).

Professor Poon is a non-executive director of Lee & Man Paper
Manufacturing Limited, an independent non-executive director and
member of corporate governance committee of Henderson Land
Development Company Limited, and an independent non-executive
director, member of board audit and risk committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of The Hong Kong and China Gas
Company Limited. All of those companies are public companies listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

MR. IRONS SZE B.B.S., J.P, Independent Non-Executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee, aged 58, joined the Company in 2016.
Mr. Sze graduated with a Bachelor's degree in Science from University of
Wisconsin-La Crosse, US in 1985. Mr. Sze has extensive experience in
investment and corporate management. Mr. Sze is an independent non-
executive director, member of the audit committee and remuneration
committee of Continental Holdings Limited, an independent non-executive
director, chairman of the nomination committee and member of the
audit committee of ST International Holdings Company Limited, and
an independent non-executive director, chairman of the remuneration
committee and member of the audit committee of Best Mart 360 Holdings
Limited. He was appointed as an independent non-executive director,
chairman of nomination committee, and member of the audit committee
and remuneration committee of Jianzhong Construction Development
Limited on 18 February 2020. He resigned as a non-executive director of
China Weaving Materials Holdings Limited on 6 June 2019. All of the above
mentioned companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Sze is also
an executive director of a private company, Hang Tung Resources Holding
Limited and holds directorship in various private companies.
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Mr. Sze is a Deputy Director of the Population Resources and Environment
Committee of the 13th National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference and an executive member of the
Beijing Municipal Standing Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, the Permanent Honorary President of The
Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, and the Deputy
Secretary General of the Hong Kong Coalition. He was also elected as a
member of Election Committee of the Chief Executive of the HKSAR in
2016. Mr. Sze was appointed as a Justices of the Peace and awarded the
Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of the HKSAR in 2011 and 2015
respectively.

MR. SUN LELAND LI HSUN, Independent Non-Executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee, aged 58, joined the Company in 2019.
Mr. Sun obtained his Master of Business Administration in 1986 from
the UCLA Anderson School of Business. Mr. Sun is an independent non-
executive director, a member of remuneration committee and nomination
committee of Quanzhou Huixin Micro-credit Co., Ltd.. He was an
independent non-executive director of Chongging Rural Commercial Bank
Co., Ltd. and resigned on 6 June 2019. All of those companies are public
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also an
independent non-executive director, chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of Remuneration Committee of Mizuho Securities Asia Limited.
Mr. Sun is the founder and managing director of Pan Asian Mortgage
Company Limited, an innovative non-banking financial services company
specialising in residential mortgage financing in Hong Kong since 2001.

Mr. Sun is a Deputy Chairman of the General Committee of the Hong Kong
General Chamber of Commerce, a Chairman of the Nominating Committee
of English Schools Foundation and a member of the Executive Committee
and Honorary Treasurer of the Servicemen’s Guides Association.

Mr. Sun was elected as a member of Election Committee of the Chief
Executive of the HKSAR in 2017 He was also appointed by the Financial
Secretary of the Government of the HKSAR as the first Chief Operating
Officer of The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited in 1997
Previously, he was a Senior Managing Director of Bear Stearns Asia
Limited and an Executive Director of Goldman Sachs (Asia) LLC. Mr. Sun
was also the President of The American Club Hong Kong and member
of the Executive Committee (Treasurer) and Board of Governors of the
American Chamber of Commerce in Hong Kong.
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

AEBRARE A2 EBYEFIIAT

Particulars of major properties held by the Group as at the date of

this report are as follows:

(1) HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN () BEREWE BRWE
USE

Approximate
gross The Group’s

Location floor area* Lease term interest
i 25 EHEBEIR * ZNFH XEEFMGER
sq. ft. £ 5 R %

Hong Kong &%

Units 1011 to 1019 on 10th Floor, Office premise and 174,600 Medium 100
19th to 23rd Floors and one-third carpark Fh Ef
interest in 201 car parking spaces of MAENEES
Chevalier Commercial Centre,
8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay
BEERFE ) SRE T EER L
TE—ZET——Z=-ZF-NE"
TAEZFT=BRE=D =
2201 {E{=EfL
Chevalier Warehouse Building, Industrial 118,300 Medium 100
3 On Fuk Street, On Lok Tsuen, Fanling T2 B
MELZSETTRE=SFEITEEKRE
29-33Tsing Yi Road, Tsing Yi Industrial 253,500 Medium 875
BRERE=ZTIE=T=5% IT% HHA
8 Kwai Hei Street, Kwai Chung Cold storage 380,000 Medium 75
LREEH/)\R warehouse A HA
REEE
124-130 Kwok Shui Road and Cold storage 427500 Medium 75
79-85 Yau Ma Hom Road, Kwai Chung warehouse HHR
LREBBE A THNE—A=T%KkhA AEEE
s i A RESY AN
No. 20, Shek O Road Residential 5,300 Long 100
ABE TR x= = HEA

Mainland China # B it

Chevalier Place, 168 An Fu Road, Residential, shop and 142,600 Long 80
Xuhui District, Shanghai carpark KHA

EETRERLERE —A/~T /IR E = B ke,

Units 3-9 of 18th Floor, Dongshan Plaza, Office premise 13,000 Medium 100
69 Xianlie Zhong Road, Guangzhou WRE HRHR

BT SRR B S+ SRR L E S
TNE=FNE

Singapore N3

Chevalier House, 23 Genting Road, Industrial 106,500 Freehold 100
Singapore 349481 T% KA ZERE

The Blue Building, 10 Genting Road, Industrial 16,900 Freehold 100
Singapore 349473 S KA ZERE

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

() BHEREWHX BRAY*(E)

() HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN

USE (CONTINUED)
Approximate
gross The Group’s
Location floor area* Lease term interest
1th 25 EEEEAR* RNFH FEBEFGER
sq. ft. ¥ 5 R %
UsS xH
430 East Grand Avenue, Industrial/MWarehouse 37000 Freehold 100
South San Francisco, CA 94080 T% BE KA ZERE
13258 Nelson Avenue, City of Industry, Industrial/MWarehouse 31,400 Freehold 100
Los Angeles, CA 91746 I% 7B IKAZENE
4510 Duraleigh Road, Raleigh, Senior Housing 52,700 Freehold 98.6
NC 27612 wEhr & KAFRE
1700 Montana Drive, Charlotte, Senior Housing 34,400 Freehold 100
NC 28216 ZERE KA S
3060 SE Stark Street, Portland, Senior Housing 150,500 Freehold 100
OR 97214 ZERE KAKRE
14420 SW, Farmington Road, Beaverton, Senior Housing 35,000 Freehold 100
OR 97005 & KAFRE
535 U.S Highway 158, Yanceyville, Senior Housing 38,900 Freehold 98.6
NC 27379 ZERE KAZERE
2560 Willard Road, Winston-Salem, Senior Housing 33,300 Freehold 98.6
NC 27107 wERE KAZERE
37501 Joy Road, Westland, Senior Housing 77800 Freehold 100
Wayne County, M| 48185 ZERE KA ZFERE
2725 N Pennsylvania Avenue, Senior Housing 66,000 Freehold 100
Roswell NM 88201 zEhRE KAGFRE
6031 Cheyenne Avenue, Senior Housing 109,100 Freehold 100
Las Vegas, NV 89108 &S KAKNE
Canada &KX
838 Hamilton Street, Vancouver, Hotel 66,000 Freehold 100
B.C., V6B 6A2 JBE IKAFKRE
4334-4340 Kingston Road, Ontario, Office and workshop 20,200 Freehold 100
M1E 2M8 for automobile KA
dealership
FRERERIHIHRE
NI%
14535-14583 Yonge Street, Aurora, Office and workshop 25,000 Freehold 100
Ontario, L4G 6L1 for automobile KA FERE
dealership
FRIERERHI AT
KI5
Thailand %=
Chevalier House, Office premise and 21,300 Freehold 100
540 Bamrungmuang Road, showroom KA ZERE
Debsirin Sub-district, MAENRYE
Pomprab District, Bangkok Metropolis
H+EBERERAR

—TTEFR



SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

(1) PROPERTIES FOR SALE () FEW=E

Approximate
gross The Group's

Location floor area* Lease term interest
ih 25 BEEHERLE* ZHNEFEH XEEFMGER
sq. ft. F 5 R %

Hong Kong &%

Units 1601-1603 on 16th Floor, Chevalier House, 3,800 Medium 100
45-51 Chatham Road South, Tsim Sha Tsui HHER
APBERERETREERA T —HELTRETE
—RE—E—RE=FE
Mainland China B A it
Phase | of Chevalier City — 240 apartment units, 2 residential units 470,700 Medium 96
and 100 shop units, Luyuan District, Changchun HRHR
REMFBRERE AN 18240 EAAE - 2 @I F & 100 @R
Phase Il of Chevalier City — 6 residential units and 10 shop units, 27900 Medium 96
Luyuan District, Changchun R
REMGR R B A 2 896 6= & 10 &7 4
My Villa — 6 villas and 6 shop units, Huairou District, Beijing 132,100 Medium 44
bR TR R BAR 6 16 Al 22 807 K 6 (B & HHf
(111) PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT () BEAPYZE
Estimated
gross floor
Stage of Expected date Approximate area after The Group's
Location completion of completion Major usage site area completion* interest
1th 26 EE FEEZIAS TERR H £ 4t THEEE AEE G ER
HEAY EEAZ
sq. ft. AR sq. ft. AR %
Hong Kong &8
URA project at Fuk Chak In progress 2021 Residential and 8,300 61,800 100
Street/Li Tak Street, TR —E-—F commercial
Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon FEREH
NEXABREEYFIEEN
mERER
Nos. 292A-D Prince Edward In progress 2022 Residential 7800 39,200 100
Road West, Homantin, T - St S F=x
Kowloon
BEfISCAA T BT 292A-D 5%
No.5 Hang Lok Lane, Shatin In progress 2023 Residential 47900 28,800 100
DHEZBERS TR TH —T=F FE
Mainland China Bl A ith
Luyuan District, Changchun In progress 2021 to 2027 Residential and 1,921,000 4,607.000 96
REMEER TR :éf: Fz commercial
T tE FEREA
*  Excluding carparks * T EIEEES
+  Excluding the floor areas of basements, carparks, public amenities and resettlement +  TEEMTE - 285 RERERDBREEZE
buildings HEEE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices and business ethics in the firm belief that they
are essential for maintaining and promoting investors' confidence and
maximising shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the rising
expectations of stakeholders and comply with regulatory requirements,
and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

The Code on Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
"“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange sets out two levels of corporate
governance code, namely code provisions that a listed company must
comply with or explain its non-compliance, and recommended best
practices that a listed company is encouraged to comply with but need
not disclose in the case of non-compliance. The Company is in compliance
with the code provisions of the CG Code except for the following
deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
person. The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the Board while the
Managing Director is responsible for managing the Group's businesses.
Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang serves as both the Chairman and Managing Director
of the Company. The Board believes that with Mr. Kuok's comprehensive
knowledge in the history and various business segments, and his
extensive experience in the operation of the Group, vesting the roles of
both Chairman and Managing Director in Mr. Kuok provides the Company
with strong and consistent leadership and facilitates the implementation
and execution of the Group's business strategies which is in the best
interest of the Company.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that Non-Executive Directors should
be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. All the Non-
Executive Directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term
but are instead subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Company's Bye-
Laws.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is charged with providing effective and responsible leadership
for the Company. The Directors, individually and collectively, must act in
good faith and in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.
The Board sets the Group's overall objectives and strategies, monitors
and evaluates its operating and financial performance and reviews the
corporate governance standard of the Company. It also decides on
matters such as annual and interim results, notifiable transactions, director
appointments or re-appointments, and dividend and accounting policies.
Management profile of the Company as at the date of this report is set out
on pages 21 to 25.

TEERBRE

EEERNHEREKTNEEERRRLE
RERFERNAGE - WEEILHN G RIE
BREENELOLMEMRERNERERE
2 - BTEDERSHEHEEERTRKYF
TEHRFAWHEMTEERER - UREE
EEeURTEBCEREANAG B9
TR BEEATR

BEsprE s DA RN (T EmARRN) %+
FrE( e ERTRD ([REEERTRIDAT
A ER R EEERTA - B3 - TRIK
X — EMRRBAEST  KETAREET
A BRI AR - REZRRERR —
BB LM AR AR TERRREREESR
MBI » RRRIEETREEETRIF T
AIMEST - HEDATR 22 T RIESTER S -

FA2NVZEXREERERITRER 2 AE
EEESD - ETEH—ARERE - TES
EREESORLEF EFALEAE
BEANEENER - BEELELEFRAR
AERENESERENRL - EFEeRR
HEEBENBERESEEH I BBEM
WRH - MESENEREDASEERZE
B mBRERRETIREMESELEN
BB ARARREEAMERNEE - §
MRAEEEBRENOE I NAT - FER

NAEERERE

FALNZIGXREFATESTNRIER
EELH - WRRRENER - ARRMA
FHTEFRBEEEH - EAREBAR
AARNARRBRBFAE LIRESER
I fEI& BT

BEEg
EFEeFaRANTREREARENET
EMEE - SEE - EmE R R ER -
HABE S AR DB R B R RERN S
BARITE - BRI UAEECBERZ
MR - EEFFEAERELERMBE L
ZRATBHAARB ZEEEAKFE - ES
CNMERESEEE BT EE2FERPH
RE - ATRHORS EBETRERE -
MR BEEFHR - RAKREZH » AQF
EEEMNEANFE21BE25H -

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR

29



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CREABE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The Board comprises five Executive Directors, two Non-Executive
Directors and four Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Board met
four times during the year under review. The attendance of Directors at the
Board Meetings, the Board Committees Meetings and General Meeting is
set out in the table below:

B (F)

EEEHRIENTES MEFNTESER
MEBYIFRNITESHEN - EFEHROIES
NHEBITTHREE SEFEEFIY
& EFLEggRNMREAGNHEERN
T

Meetings Attended/Held
BELE ETRY

Audit Remuneration Nomination General

30

Directors Committee

= EREES

Executive Directors

HITEE

Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director) 4/4 -
MRS (FEFEEELTE)

Mr. Tam Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director) 4/4 -
BRI (RIEFBIE)

Mr. Ho Chung Leung 4/4 -
Al RS

Mr. Ma ChiWing
Miss Lily Chow 4/4 -
BRI ME

4/4 -

Non-Executive Directors

FHITEE

Dr. Ko Chan Gock, William 4/4 -
SEEELT

Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar 3/4 -
MRS

Independent Non-Executive Directors

BUFHTEE

Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles 4/4 3/3
HEREE

Professor Poon Chung Kwong 4/4 3/3
Mr. Irons Sze 4/4 2/3
S P

Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun 4/4 3/3
BRushkE

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other except that Mr. Chow Vee Tsung,
Oscar, Non-Executive Director of the Company, is a brother of Miss Lily
Chow, an Executive Director of the Company.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company met at all times
the requirements of the Listing Rules to have at least three Independent
Non-Executive Directors or representing at least one-third of the Board
and with at least one Independent Non-Executive Director possessing
appropriate accounting and financial management expertise and
professional qualifications.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The Company received from its Independent Non-Executive Directors
annual confirmation of independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board assessed their independence and concluded that
all the Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5, all directors should participate in
continuous professional development to refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. The Company also provides reading materials and updates
to the Directors on the latest developments and changes to the Listing
Rules, applicable laws and regulations relating to directors’ duties and
responsibilities.

During the year under review, the Company arranged a seminar for the
Directors on matters relating to inside information disclosure obligation
and dealing restriction/insider dealing. All Directors received the training
materials after the seminar. Directors’ training is an ongoing process
and all Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at
the Company’'s expenses. Directors are requested to provide records
of training they received to the Company Secretary of the Company for
records.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board shall have power to appoint any person as a director either to
fill a vacancy or for expansion of the Board. The Company has set up a
Nomination Committee for formulating nomination policy for consideration
by the Board and making recommendations to the Board on the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of directors. All candidates must also
meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing
Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director should also meet the independence criteria set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

In accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company, all Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings
of the Company. New directors appointed by the Board during the
year are required to retire and submit themselves for re-election at the
annual general meeting or general meeting immediately following their
appointments. Further, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors, or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third are required to retire from office by
rotation and no later than the third annual general meeting since the last
re-election or appointment of such Director.

Messrs Tam Kwok Wing, Ma Chi Wing, Yang Chuen Liang, Charles and
Irons Sze shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 28 August 2020 (the "AGM")
in accordance with the Company's Bye-Laws. All the retiring Directors,
being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties of the
Audit Committee, have been adopted and posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange, and are regularly reviewed and updated
by the Board. Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles, Independent Non-Executive
Director, is the chairman of the committee. He has extensive experience
in financial reporting and controls. Other members include the remaining
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Professor Poon Chung
Kwong, Mr. Irons Sze and Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun. The Audit Committee
is responsible for, among others, reviewing the nature and scope of audit
performed by external auditors and their appointments, reviewing the
Group's financial information and overseeing the Group's financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems, and reviewing
and monitoring the effectiveness of the internal audit function. It is also
responsible for reviewing the interim and final results of the Group prior to
recommending them to the Board for approval.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31 March
2020. At the meetings, they reviewed the connected transactions (if any),
last year’s final results and accounts for the year ended 31 March 2019,
the interim results and financial statements for the six months ended
30 September 2019 and reviewed with management the accounting
policies and practices adopted by the Group and discussed the auditing,
financial reporting, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group. The final results and financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020 were reviewed by the Audit Committee in the meeting held
on 22 June 2020. They also reviewed and approved the engagement of
external auditors for providing non-audit services, the remuneration in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided by external auditors, risk
management and internal control systems and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties of the
Remuneration Committee, have been adopted and posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and are regularly reviewed and
updated by the Board. The Remuneration Committee currently comprises
two Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Professor Poon Chung
Kwong (chairman of the committee) and Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles;
and one Executive Director, namely Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang. The Remuneration
Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board
based on the Company’s policy and structure on the remuneration for
all Directors of the Company, and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy for approval by
the Board. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation model
where it has the responsibility, powers and discretion to determine, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee held a meeting during the year ended 31
March 2020 to review the remuneration packages paid to Directors for
the year ended 31 March 2020. Details of the emoluments of Directors by
bands are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties of the
Nomination Committee, have been adopted and posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and are regularly reviewed and
updated by the Board. The Nomination Committee currently comprises
Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang (chairman of the committee) and two Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely Professor Poon Chung Kwong and Mr.
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.
The Nomination Committee has the responsibility to consider and identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members, and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The Nomination Committee discusses and
reviews annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
agrees on measurable objectives for achieving diversity of the Board and
makes relevant recommendations to the Board for adoption with reference
to the Board Diversity Policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee held a meeting during the year ended 31
March 2020 to review the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assess the independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors,
recommend the re-election of retiring directors and make recommendation
on new appointment or any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company's corporate strategy.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy in August 2017 The aim of
this policy is to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity in Board.
The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually measurable
objectives for implementing diversity on the Board and recommend them
to the Board for adoption.

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity of
Directors based on a range of diversity perspectives, for example skills,
experience, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence, age, gender,
race and length of services. The Nomination Committee will monitor the
implementation of the policy from time to time with a view to enhancing
the Board's performance. The Nomination Committee will review the
policy periodically and amend it as appropriate to ensure its continued
effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that
may be required, and recommend any proposed changes to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a Nomination Policy in November 2018. The aim
of this policy is to assist the Nomination Committee in identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select and
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals for
directorship, for the appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors, in particular the Chairman and the
Managing Director. The Nomination Committee shall consider the following
criteria in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

Essence: The proposed candidate shall possess high ethical standards,
good character, and act with integrity.

Availability: The proposed candidate should be able to devote time to
understand the affairs of the Company in order to enable him/her to
make value-added contributions to the Board.

Qualification, expertise and experience: The proposed candidate
shall have ascertained qualification, expertise and experience in an
area of business or public affairs in line with the Company's corporate
strategy.

Diversity: The diversity of the Board will be considered including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
race, skills, knowledge, religion, industry and professional experience
and length of service in accordance with the Diversity Policy of the
Company.

Additional criteria are required for assessing the independence of the
proposed candidate of Independent Non-Executive Director as appropriate:

Independence: comply with the independence requirements set
under the Listing Rules.

Time commitment: ensure that sufficient time can be devoted to
discharge the duties/responsibilities as Independent Non-Executive
Directors. For Independent Non-Executive Directors who serve more
than seven listed companies’ directorship, the Board will need to
satisfy that the proposed candidate can devote sufficient time to the
Board. The Nomination Committee will consider the following factors
which can affect the individual's time commitment to the Company:

1. whether at the time of nomination the Company is undergoing a
period of particularly increased activity, such as an acquisition or
takeover;

2. the frequency of having to chair the Board and/or the
committee(s);

3. being multiple members of committees;
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NOMINATION POLICY (CONTINUED)

4. whether the candidate is a chief executive officer or full-time
executive director of another listed issuer; and

5. whether the candidate is an Independent Non-Executive Director
for multiple boards and the number of significant commmitments at
government or non-profit making bodies.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for re-election at any general
meeting. This policy shall be reviewed on a continuous basis and, when
necessary, can be revised by the Board from time to time.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing
business strategies and managing the daily operations of the Group's
business to an Executive Committee which was established in 1991.
The terms of reference of the Executive Committee were revised on
26 June 2017 so as to incorporate governance function as stipulated in
the CG Code. Written terms of reference, which describe the authority
and duties of the Executive Committee, have been adopted and are
regularly reviewed and updated by the Board. Members of the Executive
Committee comprise five Executive Directors, namely Messrs Kuok Hoi
Sang (chairman of the committee), Tam Kwok Wing, Ho Chung Leung, Ma
ChiWing and Miss Lily Chow.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness. The Board is also responsible for
overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to
manage, rather than eliminate, risks of failure in operating systems or in
achievement of the Group's business objectives.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts a review of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems, which covers all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, on an annual basis. It also considers the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting function. Significant issues in the management letters
from both internal and external auditors will be brought to the attention
of the Audit Committee to ensure that prompt remedial action is taken.
All recommendations will be properly followed up to ensure they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Under the enterprise risk management framework, policies and procedures
are in place to identify, assess, manage, control and report risks. Such
risks include strategic, credit, operational (administrative, system, human
resources, tangible assets and reputation), market, liquidity, legal and
regulatory risks. Exposure to these risks is continuously monitored by the
Board through the Audit Committee.

The internal control system includes a defined management structure with
specified limits of authority. The Board has clearly defined the authorities
and key responsibilities of each division to ensure adequate checks and
balances. The internal control system has been designed to safeguard
the Group's assets against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records for producing reliable financial
information; and to ensure compliance with applicable laws, regulations
and industry standard.

During the year under review, there were no major issue but areas for
improvement have been identified by the Audit Committee and both the
internal and external auditors with appropriate measures taken. The Board
is of the view that the risk management and internal control systems in
place for the year and up to the date of issuance of the annual report is
effective and adequate.

The Company'’s Internal Audit Department monitors the Group’s internal
governance and strives to provide objective assurance to the Board that
appropriate, adequate and effective risk management and internal control
systems are in place. It has unrestricted access to review all aspects of
the Group's activities and internal controls. It also conducts special audits
of areas of concern identified by management or the Audit Committee.
The Internal Audit Department adopts a risk-based audit approach. All
audit reports are circulated to the Audit Committee and key management.
The Internal Audit Department is also responsible for following up the
implementation of recommendations and corrective actions.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and
of the Group’s financial performance and cash flows. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, the Directors have adopted generally
accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong and suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and estimates
that are fair and reasonable and prepared the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. The Auditor of the Company
acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020 as set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 66 to
74.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the fees paid/payable to the auditors in
respect of the audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors to the
Group were as follows:

ERERRE

V%%ZM@

V%ZEW}ET/\,ZV%(&#V%(HEWEEZH/%
NZBEIET

Nature of services Amount (HK$°000)
PR E SHEOBE®TT)
Audit services — PricewaterhouseCoopers and other firms of the worldwide network of 7547
ZERE PricewaterhouseCoopers
FEFAGEGTAEBAMRAMBENESBUKEEIBEFNEBH
- other auditors 7837
H A EIAD
Non-audit services — PricewaterhouseCoopers and other firms of the worldwide network of 90
FERZBRTS PricewaterhouseCoopers
EEFAEGTA ST L EMBENESBUKERIRBETNEBM
— other auditors 2,627

H btz 2

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuer (the “Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules. Following a specific enquiry of all Directors, each of
the Directors confirmed that he/she has complied with the Model Code
throughout the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. During the year under
review, the Company Secretary had duly complied with the relevant
professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening a general meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. The requisition must be signed
by the requisitionist(s) and deposited at the principal place of business of
the Company in Hong Kong.

The meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) themselves, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the said date.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (CONTINUED)
Putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary and deposit the same at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail to
enquiry@chevalier.com.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings (“GM”)

Shareholders can submit a written requisition to move a resolution at
a GM. The number of shareholders shall represent not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the
date of the requisition a right to vote at the GM, or shall not be less than
one hundred shareholders.

The written requisition must state the resolution, accompanied by
a statement with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at the GM. It must also be
signed by all of the shareholders concerned and be deposited at the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the attention of
the Company Secretary.

The shareholders concerned must deposit a sum of money reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving the notice of the
resolution and circulating the statement submitted by the shareholders
concerned under applicable laws and rules.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a person for
election as a director is posted on the website of the Company.

INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Group’s Board and senior management maintains close
communications with investors and the media through various channels
including individual interviews and meetings. The Group also responds
promptly to request for information and queries (if any) from investors.

The Board welcomes the views of shareholders on matters affecting
the Group and encourages them to attend shareholders’ meetings to
communicate any concerns they might have with the Board or senior
management directly.

The Company provides extensive information of the Group to its
shareholders and the public through the publication of interim and annual
reports, circulars, notices and announcements. The financial and other
information relating to the Group is disclosed on the Company's website
at http://www.chevalier.com.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in November 2018 in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the Bye-Laws of
the Company. The aim of this policy is to establish the parameters for
the Board of the Company when they make decision on the declaration
or recommendation of the dividend. It also allows shareholders of the
Company to participate in the Company'’s profits whilst preserving the
Company'’s liquidity to capture future growth opportunities. This policy shall
be reviewed on continuous basis, and when necessary, and can be revised
by the Board from time to time.

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION AND BYE-LAWS OF THE
COMPANY

During the reporting period, no amendment had been made to the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiIR - HERERHKRSE

INTRODUCTION

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG Report”)
prepared by the Group pursuant to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide provided in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules
of the Stock Exchange.

—_
=

It 75 e A 5 AR SR B AR P T AR AU B 8%
“HEMEZRE e RERREESIR
REIRIR - HEREAWE ([RR - 1HE
KERIRE])
AEEXHBHEBLEMER - ARTH

HE A TR ER] - AR AR BT T
AEBAE  BREVAEAEERE S

The Group has varied business operations in Hong Kong and other
countries. Due to the differences in reporting standards across regions and
given our main operations remain in Hong Kong, this report only covers

the business operations of the Group in Hong Kong. E37 K

The Group believes that communication with its stakeholders helps REEEE - ,\/\?ﬂﬁ%/ﬁ BYRAEH
the Group gain a better understanding of their needs, expectations and B TSNS BB REE - e
concerns which in turn enables us to attain sustainable development in AILRMELE RERMLEHEERTRF
economic, environmental and social terms. The table below shows how BER - TRIDEMEXERNERNER
we communicate with our key stakeholders. R e

Communication Channels

Stakeholders Needs, expectations and concerns

FR - HEREE

S AZ]

Shareholders and investors e Return on investments e Company website
e Corporate strategy and governance e [nterim and annual reports
e Annual General Meeting
e Announcements, notices of meetings,
circulars
BRI EE Es-g=CIE o NAEHHUA
ERERER o HTHIRFERE
o BRERBRFXREG
o DEEHBE AR
Employees Compensation and benefits e Employee activities
Career development opportunities e  Staff newsletter and intranet
Occupational health and safety e In-house training programmes
e Job performance reviews and appraisals
e Regular meetings/training sessions
ES SR A . [EEEH
BxaEge . E\Iﬁ M B A
BEERETE o WA E
. IW%E%V&%@
b /E\gi/i ‘|n%*£
Sub-contractors e Effective project management e Training sessions
e QOccupational health and safety e Health, safety and environment
e FEthical business practices committee
e Sub-contractors assessment criteria  ®  Regular operation meetings
e Audits and assessments
PoR ] e AMMIEBTE o IEFIFRIE
o BERREEEZL o fEEE- ﬁ%&%%%é@
o HEEREES ﬁ%ﬁ s THIZESHR
o HEEFHHIRE o  ERZKEHE
Suppliers e | ong-term relationship e Procurement processes
e Ethical business practices e Regular review and assessment
e Supplier assessment criteria
B o EHAKFEIR . AR
s MEBELHTER o TEHIEBHNFTE
o HEREITHIEE

General public and community

Environmental issues
Community participation

Corporate news
Volunteer community work
Sponsorships and donations

AN Lo RIgEE o REIFE
HEme o EIHERE
o EBNBE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION (CONTINUED)

Sustainability is essential to the Group's development, as well as for the
viability of its business and for the benefit of the community. We are
dedicated to offering premium products and services to achieve all round
customer satisfaction. The Group believes in environmental protection and
cares for the community through engaging in various charitable initiatives
to make positive contributions to society. We also nurture our staff
and offer career development opportunities to further ensure business
continuity. During the year under review, the Group committed itself to a
high standard of corporate social responsibility and strictly complied with
relevant laws and regulations reporting. The two key subject areas for
reporting are: (A) Environmental, and (B) Social.

(A) ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions

During the year, the Group recorded carbon emissions mainly from its
construction sites. Please refer to the table below which sets out the
Group's total carbon emissions, by category, for the year.

Greenhouse gas emissions

RIR - g REREE

s ()

AHESREHASE R EBAUTHER
HEANEMELAEE - AEERREE
ﬁéuu&ﬂlﬁku\iﬁxﬁﬂgﬁ%i REE
FERBEREHMREET  BE2HAKER
%%@J%EQT’EMEEE% Z’S%@Tﬁu
BIRRHESEBRERS  LUE—PHER
¥ EEN - REEFR - AEBED
BERSKTREMEER  WEREESTHA
FEREMERBRE  TRENMIEBETEFEE
BwARBERBAE -

(A) IRB
29587
RER - AEBEZEFHRFRETRR
BEZEWRE - AAAKEIREANE D
BARF RPN E - F2H TR -

Tonnes of CO,e

Carbon Emissions —FitmEE (W)
Scope 1: Direct greenhouse gas emissions HE : ERAERBEBIN 1,041.83
Scope 2: Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions  #E 2 : fEREZ R EREETEK 1,865.74
Scope 3: Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions  #E 3 : HEZ L EREETNK 83.46
Total greenhouse gas emission BE RS 2,991.03
Scope 2 covers carbon emissions generated by the electricity HE 2RSS REBREMWBEENE S

purchased by our construction sites, and is the largest carbon
emissions for the Group. Due to the large demand for machineries
and equipment, and the size of the construction sites, 1,865.74 tonnes
of carbon emissions was recorded, representing over 60% of the
total recorded greenhouse gas emissions. Electricity is also used
for airconditioners and lighting of construction work sites and other
workplaces.

The second largest carbon emissions under scope 1 came from
the consumption of fuel used for the operation of generators at
our construction sites and for our corporate motor vehicles which
recorded 1,041.83 tonnes of carbon emissions.

ZHRHER  WAAEBEE RS
W o AREMBE RN RENAES
KNEEMWEBHNEEMERS @ 8515
1,865.74 Wi 2 W HE A+ (G EX 3R ERES
HEERB60% ° B IR AEEmR
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BiR -  HERERKRE

(A) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
Emissions (continued)

In general, the key air pollutants generated include nitrogen oxides
(NOx), sulphur oxides (SOx), and respiratory suspended particles (also
known as Particulate Matter (“PM")).

Air emissions

(A) B35 ()

e (&)

BE EANTEERSAVERELSA
1E¥) (NOX) ~ W E ¥ (SOx) KB 2 HE
K (TRFE AR (TPM])) o

R

Emissions (kg)

Type of Air Pollutants ERSRY M ER
AEEH (NOX)
A (SOx)
TR (PM)

Nitrogen oxides (NOx)
Sulphur oxides (SOx)
Particulate Matter (PM)

Waste is generated mainly from the disposal of materials from our
construction sites and the disposal of papers. All wastes are non-
hazardous and have been properly disposed of. The total amount of
waste generated is set out in the table below:

Waste
Type of Non-hazardous Waste mEREYER
Landfill B
Papers REAR

During the year under review, the Group did not violate any laws and
regulations in relation to emissions.

Nevertheless, we have implemented various energy saving measures
to help reduce our carbon emissions (please refer to the “The
Environment and Natural Resources” below).

Use of Resources

Our commitment to protect the environment is well reflected by our
continuous efforts in promoting green measures and awareness in
all business practices. During the year, resources consumed by the
Group are listed in the table below:

Type of Resources BRER
Electricity ES)

Water K

Paper AR

We implemented various energy saving measures to help reduce our
resources consumption (please refer to the “The Environment and
Natural Resources” below).
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2,12779
3.45
156.18
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Tonnes

7]

2,093.41
114.03

REEER - AEBEY B2 RBREER
EEDER ROER
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Consumption

HEE

262,573.00 kWh T E.iF
2,053.30 m3x 5K
51.59 tonnes A
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(A) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group recognises the importance of enhancing the awareness
about environmental protection among staff with the aim of saving
energy, fully utilising resources and recycling wastes in our daily office
operation. The mission of maintaining environmental sustainability
is engrained in all levels of staff members and is a long-term
commitment driven by our top management.

The Group took measures to reduce paper usage including the
promotion of the use of electronic devices, and encouraged the use of
websites and online versions of corporate communications. Since 2008,
Forest Stewardship Council-certified papers have been used for the
production of our annual and interim reports to reduce the impact on the
environment. The Group also engaged recyclers to collect regularly waste
papers for recycling. In order to facilitate the collection of waste papers,
recycle bags are placed beside photocopiers to collect waste papers.

In line with the Group’s promotion of environmental protection and
to save energy consumption, devices such as occupancy and motion
sensor which automatically turn lights off when the office is not
occupied, daylight sensor which reduces electric lighting inside the
building when it is daylight; and other measures such as, the adoption
of light-emitting diode (LED) type high energy efficiency lamps, the
reduction of the number of light tubes by replacing them with T5
florescent tube in the lighting basins in some offices one adopted.
Most of our office equipment carries the Energy Label issued by the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department which further helps
decrease energy consumption in our offices.

Our construction and engineering division puts much effort into
protecting the environment and uses energy in the most efficient,
cost-effective, and environmentally responsible manner possible
for new equipment, major work and new design at project sites.
Measures implemented, to name a few, include noise control, waste
water discharge, dust control, controlled chemical waste disposal,
use of recyclable waste materials and prevention of chemical leakage.
Another example was the use of biodiesel in some of our machineries
on site. Environmental protection policies and plans as well as energy
policies and energy management system manuals were set up for
different projects. Some of our group companies have obtained the
ISO 14001 and ISO 50001 certifications which also demonstrate our
commitment to environmental protection and energy management.

Our property management business has obtained the ISO 14001
certification since 2006 and is committed to enhancing environmental
awareness and promoting various recycling activities through its
managed estates. Activities were held for recycling and for the
promotion of green living lifestyle for residents and tenants of
properties managed by the Group. During the year, the property
management division participated in the Renewable Energy Feed-
in Tariff (FiT) Scheme launched by CLP Power Hong Kong Limited
("CLP") by installing solar power renewable energy system at roof
top of buildings managed by the Group to generate electricity supply
to public electricity network of the estates or to sell the generated
electricity back to CLP to reduce the emission of carbon dioxide and
to contribute to building a sustainable future. In addition, one of the
managed sites was awarded the “Wastewi$e Certificate” (Excellence
Level) in the “Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification” led by
the Environmental Campaign Committee, which demonstrates its
endeavor to promote environmental awareness and green living
lifestyle.
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RiR g RERKRE

(B) SOCIAL
Employment and Labour Practices
Employment and Labour Standards

To attract, develop and retain qualified employees, the Group is
committed to offering professional development opportunities and
a healthy working environment for all employees and onsite staff.
In addition, we have implemented equal opportunity employment
practices.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a total of approximately 4,000
full-time employees globally. Below is an analysis of the Group’s Hong
Kong workforce by employment type, gender and age group, and
employee turnover rate by gender and age group.
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Workforce by employment type, gender and age
REMREAD - Mhl R FhednlZl oM E TAR

Gender 1437/

30 or below
305 A T

Female

pogid

Age Group F#czE 5

51 or above
51 pRel A

Full-time 25 1,823 1286 537 301 707 815
Part-time &% 8 3 5 0 5 3
Total 4851 1,831 1,289 542 301 712 818
Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate
By Gender By Age Group
RUERE D WEE R AL = RERARE T NESRALL R
45%
64 %
33%
36% 22%
Male Female 30 or below 31-50 51 or above
el 7 30FREAT 31-505% 51pRk A
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Employment and Labour Standards (continued)

Gender diversity is challenging to the Group, especially for the
construction and engineering segment. During the year, male
employees make up over 70% of the total workforce. The largest
group of employees falls in the age category of 51 or above while the
highest turnover rate of employees also falls in the age category of 51
or above due to contract terminations.

The Group reviews its compensation and benefits programs regularly
to ensure that its compensation and benefits packages remain
competitive. In addition, the Group continues to conduct annual
review of its pay and benefits packages including its medical scheme,
health check programmes, travel insurance, training subsidies and
retirement benefits to align them with prevailing offers in the market.
Different recreational activities were also arranged by our Human
Resources Department. Interest classes, workshops and language
classes were organised during the year under review to increase
the sense of belonging of our employees. The Group also strives to
help our employees maintain a work life balance. A Chevalier Staff
Recreation Centre and a lactation room provides staff members and
working mothers with a place to rest, relax and socialise, enabling
them to balance work and personal life.

The Group advocates a community spirit that thrives on mutual
respect and equal opportunities. The Group complies strictly to equal
opportunities legislation, such as the Sex Discrimination Ordinance,
Race Discrimination Ordinance, Disability Discrimination Ordinance
and Family Status Discrimination Ordinance. To ensure diversity and
equality, we recruit, remunerate and promote employees based on
their experience, skills and performance, without prejudice to age,
race, disability, gender or family status. In addition, the Group is
strongly committed to compliance with relevant laws and regulations
and forbid to use forced or child labour.

The Group upholds high standards of business ethics and promotes
good personal conduct of its employees. Our Personal Conduct and
Staff Conduct Code in the Human Resources Policies and Procedures
Manual can be easily accessed by staff members through our intranet.
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment to all employees and on-site staff. We regularly monitor
our work environment and staff facilities. The Group has stringent
guidelines for employees who are assigned to work on construction
sites to minimise and prevent exposure to occupational hazards and
to ensure a high standard of occupational safety. Safety and health
care trainings are provided from time to time for newcomers and
relevant personnel at our construction sites so as to improve their
awareness of safety in a working environment. Moreover, we offer,
and it is mandatory for our colleagues on sites to use, special safety
equipment such as safety helmets, ear plugs, dust masks, goggles
and safety shoes. Additional rest periods and shelters, ventilation
facilities and potable water for workers are also provided during
hot weather. Further, two of our group companies subscribed to
the “Charter on Preferential Appointment of OSH Star Enterprise’
accredited by the Occupational Safety and Health Council and are
determined to improve the standard of occupational safety and health.
In response to the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group has adopted
a series of preventive measures, including the setting up of case
reporting mechanisms, strengthening disinfection and cleaning of
offices and construction sites, implementing the requirement for daily
temperature check for employees, distributing surgical masks and
alcohol-based hand-rub to employees, and installing hand disinfectant
dispensers in lift lobby and antibacterial fluid diffusers in meeting
rooms.

Occupational Health and Safety Committee

Our property management business has obtained the OHSAS 18001
recognition for its compliance with occupational health and safety
requirements since 2006. We have also obtained the ISO 45001
accreditation in early 2020 which recognises the standard of our safety
requirements. Head office and selected sites are audited periodically
by the British Standards Institution for renewal of the certificates. We
have a Safety Committee which consists of property management
staff members from head office and site level operation staff which
formulates site safety measures and policies. Regular meetings
are scheduled every 3 months for post-implementation review of
audited sites, as well as information exchange on accidents or injuries
and precautionary measures that can be taken for other sites to
follow. Trainings are organised every 3 months in various districts of
audited sites and the Group encourages staff of non-audited sites to
participate to promote the occupational health and safety culture.
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Health and Safety (continued)
Site Safety Subgroup

Our construction and engineering colleagues ensure site safety
inspections are carried out on a regular basis and any finding of major
breaches and unsafe condition are rectified promptly. The site safety
subgroup comprising representatives from our project companies and
subcontractors, held operation meetings frequently. During the year
under review, no work related fatalities was recorded.

BRI HERERERS

(B) #& (&)

BREEETESR (&)
RERZE(HE)
bt e |

BEREWM TR ES T gETHREY
2L UERBFMEERNERNTZ
2ER - WBRE/NMEAAKEEE R
AkDBERARER  LRFRITEE
G o NOEFA  UEBRSERIER
BARSE T L -

Occupational Health and Safety BERERZE

Work related fatalities HTERAMTEW
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Development and Training

The Group recognises that the knowledge and skills of our employees
are vital to the Group’'s business development and success, we,
therefore, encourage our staff to pursue further with their professional
development. The Group nominates staff to attend internal and
external training programs from time to time and when appropriate.
Our training programs also range from professional and technical
training to personal development skills. The Group also provides
education subsidies to encourage staff to further develop their skills
and broaden their knowledge. To continuously attract new talents,
the Group also organises apprenticeship programs and provides
apprentices with on-the-job training.
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED) (B) #t& (&)
Employment and Labour Practices (continued) EBREREIER (&)
Development and Training (continued) BEREZI (E)

The percentage of employees trained by gender The percentage of employees trained by employee category
REBBSNZIEET S ZESERESNZIREETSIL
3%

@ Male @ Female @ Senior Management Middle Management @ General/Operational Staff
E=les It =REEAS HREBAG —RRIEET

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
BIERIE D - TR E B TR PR TR B

Unit

BAL
Male 1% hours /)N 11.5
Female Z 1% hours /]\Ef 6.1

The average training hours completed per employee by employee category
RESERES - BHRES TN TR E

Unit

BAL
Senior Management hours /|\EF 6.6
SHEEAE
Middle Management hours /J\Ef 9.3
PREEAE
General/Operational Staff hours /|\EF 10.3
—MBRIEET
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group carefully selects qualified suppliers to ensure that the
entire production process is in line with our standards and rules. We
not only require our new suppliers to submit all relevant documents
for review, but also conduct rigorous checks to ensure their reliability.
We carry out inspections and assessments regularly to review our
suppliers’ standards and terminate collaboration with unqualified
suppliers.

The Group upholds fair operating practices in its relationship with
subcontractors and suppliers through an efficient procurement
system. We have also adopted systems for competitive tendering and
subcontractors’ performance monitoring and reporting. The Group
conducts regular reviews of terms and conditions of subcontracts
and supply contracts between the Group and our subcontractors and
suppliers which enables the development of effective and strong
partnerships. Such reviews cover the potential enhancement of social,
ethical, environmental and gender equality criteria in subcontracts and
supply contracts.

Product Responsibility

The Group recognises that good customer and after-sales services are
keys to the success and sustainability of the Group. In order to cater
for prompt response in meeting with the needs of our customers, the
Group has, therefore, set up customer service teams for its different
business units to handle customers’ queries efficiently.

The Group respects the privacy of personal data and has developed
policies on the collection and usage of personal data. Review and
revision of the personal data and privacy policy are carried out to
ensure its effectiveness and compliance with relevant laws.

Since the Group is a customer-focused organisation, its environmental
project team commits to make every effort to achieve customer
satisfaction through continual improvement in our quality management
system in accordance with the requirements of ISO 9001:2015.
The project team has a quality policy statement which serves as a
guideline to its team.

For our property management business, the Group discusses issues
with site managers and members of the Safety Committee, and
regularly provides updates to site managers and/or person-in-charge
for maintaining the recognition of ISO 9001, ISO 14001, OHSAS
18001/ISO 45001 or to fulfil statutory requirements. The Group also
reminds site managers to regularly review existing contractors’ terms
and take necessary precaution measures whenever applicable.
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Operating Practices (continued)
Product Responsibility (continued)

Customers’ needs and satisfaction have always been the priorities
of the Group. Our information technology related businesses provide
comprehensive order processing, fulfilment and back office services
to consumers. Our customer service centre provides a wide range of
information and assistance to answer customers’ inquiries and to offer
repair and maintenance services to consumers.

Intellectual properties are our Company’s vital assets, as such, we
have exercised our utmost endeavours to safeguard our intellectual
properties rights and interests. The Group has also in place certain
procedures and safeguards to protect customers’ information from
unauthorised access, usage and leakage and to maintain their data
privacy.

Anti-Corruption

The Group has in place a series of corporate governance policies which
ensure that the Group has a sound corporate governance system.
Anti-corruption, business gifts and entertainment, conflict of interest
and data protection are some of the areas covered. The corporate
governance policies assures the adoption of standard procedures
across the Group and provides guidelines, and the anti-corruption,
business gifts and entertainment policy spells out the Group’s position
in relation to these issues clearly. The Group has a whistle-blower
policy to provide channels for employees to raise concerns and define
a way to handle these concerns. All reports are confidential to protect
employees from retaliation. As part of the Group's orientation training,
new employees receive anti-corruption training handbook and such
policies are also made available to staff members in the course of
their execution of duties. During the year, the Company also arranged
for Independent Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC") to provide
online training materials for staff members taking into consideration
the nature of and the different needs of our various business units. No
cases of corruption were reported within the Group during the year
under review.
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Community
Community Investment

Year 2020 marks the 50th Anniversary of Chevalier Group. Taking
roots in Hong Kong for half a century, Chevalier Group is committed
to corporate social responsibility with a strong belief in “giving back
to society” It strives to serve the community by actively participating
in community services, charitable sponsorships, education programs,
cultural and sports activities, environmental protection initiatives and
corporate volunteer activities.

The Group sponsored a diverse range of charitable events during the
year under review, including the “HKGCC Free Ride Day” organised
by the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce and “Chevalier
Blood Donation Day"” which was co-organised with the Hong Kong
Red Cross. In response to the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group made
a donation to the “Construction Industry Caring Campaign for Fight
against Novel Coronavirus” so as to provide monetary assistance
and caring support to registered construction workers affected by the
pandemic. In recognition of our contribution to the community, the
Group has been conferred the award of “Caring Company Logo” by
the Hong Kong Council of Social Service since 2011.

Education and Culture

To cultivate young talents and unleash their full potential, the Group
has established “Chevalier Culture & Education Foundation” in 1998
with an aim to foster cultural, academic and educational exchanges
amongst Hong Kong and other countries. The Group has long
demonstrated its full support for promoting local arts and culture
development. To further bring classical music closer to the community
and raise public appreciation of opera, the Group was a Platinum
Sponsor of Opera Hong Kong and exclusively sponsored “McDull ¢ my
very very very best” Concert hosted by the Hong Kong Sinfonietta.
In addition, the Group was the Main Sponsor of the 8th “Argentina
Festival Hong Kong” which was organised by the Consulate General
of the Argentine Republic in Hong Kong with the aim to promote
Argentinian culture and traditions in Hong Kong and Macau.

Sports and Environment

The Group has been a long-time patron of the Hong Kong Jockey
Club's “Chevalier Cup Race Day" Moreover, the Group also supported
other sports activities, such as “The Community Chest Corporate
Challenge 2020" and “PokQOi x Old Master Q Hong Kong Charity Run’
to encourage healthy lifestyle, as well as to raise fund for the needy.

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group strives to build a greener
and sustainable community. It gave full support to various green
advocates to promote public awareness of environmental protection.
It has a committed partnership with WWF and is the Silver Member of
WWEF-Hong Kong Corporate Membership Programme for 2019-2020.
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED) (B) & (&)
Community (continued) HE (|
Community Investment (continued) HERE (&)
Volunteering EL&E)
The Group has in place a volunteer team - “Chevalier Cares” since REEA T —FRAKT [BELH
2011. During the year under review, “Chevalier Cares” arranged TIEIK - REEFR [E0RT
various visits with non-profit organisations such as the Hong Kong BINEBEBHRIEFTY EBHEB
Young Women's Christian Association, Evangelical Lutheran Church EEghkBabERHeSIEENERL
of Hong Kong and Hong Kong PHAB Association. It participated in BT ZBERES - EQ%I%/ATT
different volunteer programs and served those in need including the RAMELEY  AERFZEALRE &
elderly, children, disabled and low income families. The volunteer team FRUREERE RF  BEALTME
contributed nearly 500 hours of voluntary work for the aforementioned WARE - RER - ELHE A LMEE
events during the year. BT EM 500/ N TS TIE ©
KPlIs HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
BERERER ERRSZC(RR  HERERBEEIDAE =8 e
A. Environmental
A RIR
Aspect A1 Emissions
[EmE A1 PERY)
General disclosure Information on: Emissions
the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—MRIRER FHBERAER HJJFBSI KRBT - BEREEEE  HRWY
MR EESENBR RETHEITABERTENBREE LA
BIE R} o
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
SR BIEIR AL PER R AR BE R EUE o PER)
KPI'A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where  Emissions
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

R AETIEIZ A1.2 BERBEANE (CAEETE) M (iEA) BE (A BES B b2 3!
HIEREETE) ©
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BREMIER
KPI A1.3

RS EEIE A3

KPIA14

RARAE ISR A4

KPI A1.5
FARERIEIR ALE

KPI'A1.6

R ERIEIZ A6

Aspect A2

JEHE A2

General disclosure
—MH

KPI'A2.1

RABRAEIEIR A2.1

KPI A2.2
RARAABUIRIRA2.2
KPI A2.3

RS SIEIRA2.3

KPIA2.4

RS AE IEIR A2.4

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - g REREE

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BEBRZM(RE HEREARBEESDRE

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
EABEREMHEE (NBEGFE
By - BIHERMEETH) ©

) M (ER) mE (IMABES

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per

facility).

PﬁFiﬁﬁiF%% E(LA WAt E
By - BIEREE

) R (ER) mE(IMABESE

Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results
achieved.

R E R DL 2 BV FE b M TS RCR ©

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.

IR A ENEEERYNITTE
8o

BIKE LB LTS

Use of resources

BREMR

Policies on efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.
BERERER (BIEEER « KREAMRME BEBGR -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

RENESNERER SEEER(WE - [Roh) BFE (AT
BTEETE) REE (WAEESEN - BIEXRHBTE) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of

production volume, per facility).
,,,,, BMFKERTE (WAGESEN - §IERETE)

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

fi i BE TR A R an v &I KPS AR

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.
SR EUE KR LRI B (] R
TR -

AR AR T K s 5t &l K P

Section/Remarks

::kk/{%;z

No hazardous waste was
produced.

Emissions

Z35°¢7)

The Environment and

Natural Resources
RIBERRARER

Emissions; The
Environment and Natural
Resources

BERY) - IRIRRARER

The Environment and
Natural Resources

RIENAAER

Use of Resources

BREM

Use of Resources
EREMA

The Environment and
Natural Resources

RIENAAER

It is not a major issue for
our business.
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KPIs

BREMIER
KPI A2.5

RSB ISR A2.5

Aspect A3

[EHE A3

General disclosure
— R EE

KPI'A3.1

FASHERUIEIR A3

B. Social
B.iE

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BEBRZM(RE HEREARBEESDRE

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

MR REMHNEE (UG E) &k (WER) BEEBL(

=
E-°

The environment and natural resources

RIENKRABR

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

WERBETAHRBERAREREREAFENBRK °

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

M EBESEHIRBE L RARERNERCENERNEEE@Y
L0178 -

Employment and Labour Practices

BRERESTIER

Aspect B1
[ETH B1

General disclosure

—RIRE

KPI B1.1
PR RIETR BT
KPI B1.2

FASAESNIER B1.2

Employment

&=

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

AT RRE  BEREA  IIERE - RE - TSHE %
Tt~ REARBA R E A S RENOBER  METHETARE
AT ENEBERLROINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region.

REMEE - MR R FiRAR SN EEEE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region.

IR FiBRIR R DHEERKRLE -
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Section/Remarks
=4 5

Our operation does not
involve significant use of
packaging material.

B EENIRKREM®
FABEME -

The Environment and

Natural Resources
RIBRARANETR

The Environment and
Natural Resources

RIBENAARER

Employment and Labour
Standards

1E{E K 55 T2ER)

Employment and Labour
Standards
1% & 55 TAR)

Employment and Labour
Standards
1 fR K 55 TR



KPIs

Aspect B2
[E1E B2

General disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B2.1
FASRIRRUIRIR B2.1

KPI B2.2
RASERIEIZ B2.2

KPIB2.3
FARAARUIEIRB2.3

Aspect B3
H B3

General disclosure
—RR IR EE
KPI B3.1

RASAEIEIR B3

KPI'B3.2

FASHARIRIRIR B3.2

Aspect B4
EE B4

General disclosure

—RRIRE

KPI B4.1

FASHERIEIR B4

KPI B4.2

AR ERIEIR B4.2

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - g REREE

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

EBRZA(RE - HEREBRBERIDAE
Health and safety
R 2

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing
a safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
BERARMZ2THERRERREREHEBENLBTNBRKEST
HETABBEARZENEBERE RADIRER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

B TERRTIFL T ) ABUR B 2K o

Lost days due to work injury.

HIBELTIERS -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,
how they are implemented and monitored.

RO FTER MV B R R R 2487 - A RABRIT MEERITA »

Development and training

R S5

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

BRARTHE B ETT TR E MAE M EBEMBUR © WS IEE -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
RURREEEMN(MERERE TREBES) IAHSNZIIE
EANt -

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

wHR REEERIED - BREE KNI -

Labour standards
4 T8

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labour.

BRAP) L5 T sk oa 25
BER LRI ER -

5 THBR MBTHRITABEARZENE

Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.

Rt R IR E BB HE AR R E T RMo8HIS T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

e B IE R BN B B RIS U ERENA 28R -

Section/Remarks

::kk/{%;z

Health and Safety

EERZ®
Health and Safety
EERZE

Health and Safety
EEEZE

Health and Safety

EERZE

Development and Training

R S 359

Development and Training

R MIE

Development and Training

TR S5

Employment and Labour
Standards

e N 85 T#ER

Employment and Labour
Standards
B 1% R 55 TR

Employment and Labour
Standards
{E1E f 45 TER]

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR
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KPIs HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks

BEREREE EBRZA(RE - HEREBRBERIDAE BB

Operating Practices

ZEEN

Aspect B5 Supply chain management

JETH B5 HrEEER

General disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the  Supply Chain
supply chain. Management

—MRIREE EIRMHEENIRE R RIS - HEEER

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Not applicable

BB AE MIETR B5.1 mitnm B D HHEEEE - N3

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number  Supply Chain

of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how  Management
they are implemented and monitored.

RS R NIEIE B5.2 M EREEAHERMED  MEANTEREMMNEERSE - HEREERE
AR BREBHNITRERGE -

Aspect B6 Product responsibility
[ B6 EmEE
General disclosure Information on: Product Responsibility

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

—ARBEE ﬁ%%ﬁﬁéﬁﬂ%%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁi EE BREMMEBEEL EmEE
R AR R B T%ﬁAEEKE%mﬁﬁiéﬁﬁM
B E RS o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls  Not applicable
for safety and health reasons.
RSB IE1R B6.1 PENEEXERAHTAL R EERIEAMARKNE D AN
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and ~ Product Responsibility
how they are dealt with.
RSB IE1R B6.2 BN E M RIRBRIZER BB A R EE )% - EmEE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting  Product Responsibility

intellectual property rights.

RSB 1R B6.3 fi i B e T RS RN B E B RAEV B ) EmEE

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Not applicable

RSB MIEIR B6.4 HLE S8 TERIE R EMEBIYWIET AN

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,  Product Responsibility
how they are implemented and monitored.

RSB IEIR B6.5 fE EEERRERALBBOR - AREERITRERTE - EmEE

5 6 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2020



KPIs

Aspect B7
[E1E B7

General disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B7.1

FASHERIEIR BT

KPI B72
RARAERUEIRBT2

Community

o

Aspect B8
fEEBS

General disclosure

—RRIEE

KPI B8.1

BAsAENIE1R BB

KPI B8.2
FAsAENIE1R BB.2

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HgREARSE

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BEBRZM(RE HEREARBEESDRE

Anti-corruption
RES

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BN LAES R - HEF R ABRBHNBRRETHETARE
AR BHEBERKIROINER

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.

RIEFRBARNEEITANE EEREWEELENE SHFLRGNH
B REFAGR o

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.

fR e it M BB RIE R - A RAERRIT MEER A ©

Community investment
HEIEE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
BREUHEBRZERTRETACEMELETEMEREELEE
HEEEHLRNFHIBOR

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
EIEREE(NHE  BRREE LHIHFR - BF b 8
z=

B)-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EFIREMPMER (MERKEHE) -

Section/Remarks

B R

Anti-Corruption

RES

During the year, no cases
of corruption reported

RER - RS
i o

Anti-Corruption

R&5

Community Investment

HEIE

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment
HEKRE

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

The Board presents to shareholders their annual report together with the
audited financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Group are construction and engineering, property
investment, property development and operations, healthcare investment,
and car dealership. Other ancillary and supporting businesses of principal
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures that are integrated with the
main businesses of the Group are shown on pages 188 to 196.

The Group's revenue and results for the year ended 31 March 2020,
analysed by operating segments, are set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the businesses of the Group during the year, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred subsequent to
the year ended 31 March 2020 (if any), a description of principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and discussion on the Group's prospects
are provided in the Letter to Shareholders on pages 8 to 9, Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 10 to 14, Financial Review on pages
15 to 20 and note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
discussions on the Group's compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group, relationships with its key
stakeholders and environmental policy are provided in the Corporate
Governance Report and Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 29 to 39 and pages 40 to 57 respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 76. The Board now
recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.32 (2019: HK$0.35)
per share payable in cash to shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Members of the Company on Friday, 11 September 2020.
Together with an interim dividend of HK$0.20 (2019: HK$0.15) per
share paid on Friday, 20 December 2019, the total dividends for the year
amounted to HK$0.52 (2019: HK$0.50) per share. Subject to the approval
by shareholders at the AGM, the proposed final dividend will be payable in
cash to shareholders on or about Friday, 18 September 2020.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the Register
of Members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 21 August 2020
to Friday, 28 August 2020, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 20 August 2020.

For determining entitlement to the proposed final dividend (subject to the
passing of an ordinary resolution by the shareholders of the Company at
the AGM), the Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 7 September 2020 to Friday, 11 September 2020, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Standard Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 4 September
2020.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the year are set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are
set out in note 37 and note 49 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company'’s reserves available for distribution to
shareholders amounted to HK$1,552,302,000 (2019: HK$1,533,178,000).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Movements in investment properties of the Group during the year are set
out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year
are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2020
are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY/FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial summary and financial review of the Group are shown on pages
2 to 5 and on pages 15 to 20, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's revenue and purchases for the year attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers were less than 30% respectively.
None of the Directors, their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) or any shareholder (whom to the knowledge of the Directors
owns 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company) as at 31
March 2020 had any interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31 March 2020 are set
out on pages 26 to 28.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group employed approximately 4,000 full-time staff under its
subsidiaries globally as at 31 March 2020. Total staff costs amounted to
HK$1,258 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The remuneration
policies of the Group are reviewed periodically on the basis of the nature
of job, market trend, company performance and individual performance.
Other staff benefits include bonuses awarded on a discretionary basis,
medical schemes and retirement schemes.

The remuneration package of the Directors and the senior management
is based on their contribution to the performance of the Group and is
supervised by the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations of HK$3,137500 to charitable
bodies.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
Laws although there is no restriction against such rights under the laws in
Bermuda where the Company is incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities of the
Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’'s Bye-Laws, every Director shall be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/
she may sustain or incur in the execution of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has taken out insurance against the liability
and costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be
brought against the Directors of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. HO Chung Leung

Mr. MA Chi Wing

Miss Lily CHOW

Non-Executive Directors

Dr. KO Chan Gock, William
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Chuen Liang, Charles
Professor POON Chung Kwong
Mr. Irons SZE

Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws, Messrs Tam Kwok Wing,
Ma Chi Wing, Yang Chuen Liang, Charles and Irons Sze shall retire
from office at the AGM and, being eligible, may offer themselves for re-
election. The Non-Executive Directors are subject to the same retirement
requirements as the Executive Directors. The biographical details of the
Directors of the Company as at the date of this report are set out in the
“Management Profile” section on pages 21 to 25.

DIRECTORS" MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Related Party Transactions” in
note 46 to the consolidated financial statements, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Company's
business to which the Company’s subsidiaries was a party or were parties
and in which a director of the Company or his or her connected entity had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors have an interest in any business
constituting a competing business to the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporation, within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ"),
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the
register to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

EERFTETHAEBZESFER
RZZE-_TF=ZA=+—H EERARH
FETBRAERARARERB AR (EE
RESRPEGRN([FFREEEN]) S
XVER) Z R fn - MR HD RESFTIHEEE
RIEFES MEAEIEHIEXVEE 7 RE8HER
MG ARBRBZT 2 m MR (BIER
ZIRIE _E B S R A E IR B SCE) AR
BB 2 HERER) N AW B RER
AR BRI B M HE & DI 55 352 IR TE A
FTHFcERMACERRER  IRER
ESFAIBME RN G LRz EXNER
NN

Numbers of ordinary shares held

Personal
Name of Directors Capacity interests
E=E8 4 B ARz
KUOK Hoi Sang Beneficial owner 173,460
e BEmEEA
TAM Kwok Wing Beneficial owner 209,583
ELiEEES BEmEEA
HO Chung Leung Beneficial owner 40,000
fa sRAR BEmEEA

As at 31 March 2020, so far as is known to the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company, no other person had interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which he was taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO); or were required, pursuant to Section
3562 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director offering for re-election at the AGM has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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- 40,000 0.01

R-ZBE-ZTF=F=+—H SARRES
MEBITHRABA  EEMALTREAR
A EEMEB AR (TEREFRBPEK
BIEEXVER) 2 B&1n -« BRI REHT S
BAREBENMAEIEFEXVEETRESD
HMeARR MBIz ERRERS (B
EARIE LB 5 R A E IR BIE S 5 AR
BB 2 S RER)  KBREES &
B 1545) 58 352 1648 TE FL 8RR B2 I P i AL il
W ERRE R ARKIZESBNE AR
PNRIMBZ AT 2 R ER o

EERBEY
BEEANBRBEASEREINESE
ARBFAT A E—FANERMEOLE R
ERRSN) T Al FIARL IE 2 RIEE KT -



MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract of significance concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was entered into or subsisted during the year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group has established various retirement benefit schemes for the
benefit of its staff in Hong Kong and overseas.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in both defined contribution
schemes which are registered under the Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Schemes”) and Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes (the “MPF Schemes”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in December 2000. The ORSO
Schemes are funded by monthly contributions from both employees
and the Group at rates ranging from 5% to 7.5% of the employee’s basic
salary, depending on the length of service with the Group. For members of
the MPF Schemes, the Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs
per employee, at a maximum of HK$1,500 per month for the year ended
31 March 2020, to the mandatory contribution of the MPF Schemes.

The Group also participates in the employee pension schemes in countries
or locations where the Group operates. The Group is required to make
defined contributions at rates calculated as a certain percentage or sum of
the monthly payroll.

The Group's total contributions to these schemes charged to the
consolidated income statement during the year amounted to HK$30
million against which no forfeited contributions had been deducted.

Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2020, so far as is known to the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company, the interests and short positions of the persons
or corporations in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
have been disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Substantial shareholders

Capacity
FERR g4

CHOW Yei Ching® (Deceased) Beneficial owner

ATrEpe (Frt) EnlEA
MIYAKAWA Michiko Beneficial owner
BIIEST EnlEA

@  The executrixes of the estate of the late Dr. Chow Yei Ching (“the late Dr. Chow") are Ms.
Miyakawa Michiko, Ms. Chow Wai Wai, Violet and Ms. Chow Vi Vi. Ms. Miyakawa Michiko,
Ms. Chow Wai Wai, Violet and Ms. Chow Vi Vi have each reported that they have interest
in the shares of the late Dr. Chow and in addition, Ms. Chow Wai Wai, Violet has also
reported to have interests in 14,551,162 shares (held as to 104,607 shares as beneficial
owner, and as to 14,446,555 shares through wholly-owned corporations) of the Company.

* Under Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Miyakawa Michiko, the spouse of the late Dr. Chow, is
deemed to be interested in the same parcel of 189,490,248 shares held by the late Dr.
Chow.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, so far as is known to
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company, no other person
had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations which
were required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or,
were directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value
of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of the Company.

ARRANGEMENT FOR ACQUISITION OF SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied
with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2020, with
deviations from code provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1 of the Listing Rules
which have already been stated in the Corporate Governance Report of
the Annual Report. Detailed information on the Company’s corporate
governance practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 29 to 39.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change of Directors'
biographical details since the date of the Company’s Interim Report 2019-
2020 is set out as follows:

Mr. Irons Sze was appointed as an independent non-executive director,
chairman of the nomination committee, and member of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of Jianzhong Construction
Development Limited on 18 February 2020.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change of Directors’
biographical details required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Board, the percentage of the Company’s
share which is in the hands of the public exceeds 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares as at 26 June 2020, the latest practicable
date to ascertain such information prior to the issue of this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who shall retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

KUOK Hoi Sang
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 26 June 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
B A BEN R

TOTHE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Chevalier International Holdings Limited
(the “Company"”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group"”) set out on pages 76 to 196,
which comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of
significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPAs Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

e revenue recognition from construction works;

e valuation of investment properties;

e recoverability of properties under development and properties for sale; and

e impairment assessment of goodwill relating to senior housing business in the
United States of America.

How our audit addressed the
Key audit matter

Key audit matter

Revenue recognition from construction works

Refer to notes 5(g) and 7 to the
consolidated financial statements

Our procedures in relation to management’s
recognition of revenue from construction
works included:

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Group recognised revenue from the °
construction works of HK$2,259 million.

tested the key controls around the
construction cycle;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the
Key audit matter

Revenue recognition from construction works (continued)

The recognition of revenue from the
construction works involves a high
degree of management judgement in
relation to the determination of gross
profit margin of each construction
contract, which is determined based
on the estimated total construction
costs, estimated total construction
contract sum (including variation
orders and claims), as well as the
progress of construction works.
Most of the construction works take
more than one year to complete
during which the project scope
may change from time to time.
Management estimates the contract
revenue and budgeted cost at the
commencement of the contracts
and regularly reassesses these
amounts and the financial impact
with reference to the progress of
construction works.

Due to the existence of significant
management judgement required
to determine the amount and timing
of revenue recognised from the
construction works, we considered
it a key audit matter.

e in our testing of management's
estimation on gross profit margin of
each construction contract, which
is determined based on the total
construction costs, total construction
contract sum and the progress of
construction works at the end of the
reporting period, we selected a number
of construction works on a sample
basis and:

e discussed with management and
the respective project teams on the
progress of the projects;

e assessed management's estimates
in relation to matters that may
impact the estimated contract sum
and contract costs arising from the
variation to the original contracts,
such as claims, disputes, variation
orders and liquidation damages with
reference to the correspondence
between the Group, subcontractors
and suppliers which support
management’s estimate of changes
to construction works;

e tested the contract costs incurred
on construction works during
the reporting period by tracing to
supporting documents including
architect’s certificates issued to
subcontractors and invoices from
subcontractors and suppliers;

e tested the value of work done to
architect’s certificates or other
correspondence as appropriate
and recalculated the progress of
construction works based on the
latest management budget.

We consider management'’s estimates in
determining the budgeted revenue and
costs and the progress of construction
works and revenue recognised to be
supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to notes 5(a) and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements

The Group's investment properties
were carried at HK$3,432 million
as at 31 March 2020 and a fair
value loss of HK$25 million was
recognised in the consolidated
income statement as part of other
losses, net. The Group’s investment
property portfolio comprises of
commercial, residential and industrial
properties in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and overseas.

Management has engaged
independent external valuers,
to estimate the fair value of the
Group's investment properties as at
31 March 2020 based on the income
capitalisation approach and where
appropriate, direct comparison
approach.

The valuation of investment
properties depends on certain key
assumptions that require significant
management judgement, including
capitalisation rates and prevailing
market rents.

Due to the existence of significant
management judgement in
assumptions used in the valuation
of investment properties, we
considered it a key audit matter.

How our audit addressed the
Key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuation of investment properties included:

evaluated the independent valuers’
competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

obtained the valuation reports including
the market comparable data used and
meeting with independent valuers to
discuss the valuation methodologies;

checked the accuracy of input data, on a
sample basis, used by the independent
valuers including rental income and
occupancy rates by agreeing them back
to management’s records, historical
actual information or other supporting
documentation including key terms of
lease agreements and rental income
schedules; and

involved our internal valuation experts to
assess the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions
used in the valuation of sample of
properties by comparing the data used
by the independent valuers against the
published market yields for capitalisation
rates, prevailing market rents of leasing
transactions of comparable properties
and recent market transaction prices of
properties with comparable conditions
and locations, where appropriate.

We consider management’s valuation of
investment properties to be supported by
the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the
Key audit matter

Recoverability of properties under development and properties for sale

Refer to notes 5(e), 25 and 28 to the
consolidated financial statements

The Group had HK$2,324 million and
HK$267 million of properties under
development and properties for sale
respectively as at 31 March 2020.
The Group's development property
portfolio comprises of completed
properties and properties under
development in Hong Kong and
Mainland China.

Management assessed the
recoverability of properties under
development and properties for
sale based on an estimation of
the net realisable value of the
underlying properties which involves
considerable analyses of the
current market price of properties
of similar or comparable standards
and locations (adjusted to reflect
any differences), construction
costs to be incurred to complete
the development and a forecast
of future selling price or reference
to the valuation report from the
independent valuer, if applicable.

If the actual net realisable values of
the underlying stock of properties
are more or less than expected
as a result of changes in market
condition and/or significant variation
in the budgeted development cost,
material reversal of or provision for
impairment losses may result.

Due to the existence of estimation
uncertainty and management
judgement in assessing the
recoverability of properties under
development and properties for sale,
we considered it a key audit matter.

Our procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on the recoverability of
properties under development and
properties for sale included:

e tested the key controls around the
property construction cycle with
particular focus on, but not limited
to, controls over cost budgeting for
estimated costs to completion;

e evaluated the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

e obtained the valuation report and met
with the independent valuer to discuss
the valuation methododlogies for
certain properties; and

e assessed the reasonableness of
key assumptions used/adopted in
management’'s assessment, on
a sample of properties selected,
including:

e expected future sales prices which
we compared to the contracted
sales price of the underlying
properties or current market
prices of properties with similar or
comparable standards and locations
(adjusted to reflect any differences),
where applicable;

® anticipated cost to completion and
committed contracts, for which
we compared total construction
costs to latest approved budgets
and checked those budgets to
supporting documentations such as
signed contracts.

We found that management’s assessment
on recoverability of properties under
development and properties for sale is
supportable in light of available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the
Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill relating to senior housing business in

the United States of America

Refer to notes 5(c) and 40 to the
consolidated financial statements

The Group had HK$571 million
of goodwill as at 31 March 2020
relating to the senior housing
business in the United States of
America.

Management assessed whether
goodwill has suffered any
impairment in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in note
2(c) to the consolidated financial
statements. The recoverable
amounts of cash generating units
("CGU") have been determined
by management with assistance
from an independent professional
valuer (where appropriate) based
on value-in-use calculations. The
value-in-use calculations use cash
flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management
which involve the use of judgement
applied by management such as
determining discount rate and net
operating income.

Due to the existence of estimation
uncertainty and management
judgement in assessing the
potential impairment of goodwill, we
considered it a key audit matter.

The procedures performed to assess the
methodologies and assumptions used by
management in the impairment assessment
of goodwill are summarised below:

e evaluated the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

e tested the key controls surrounding the
impairment assessment process;

e evaluated the valuation methodologies
used in the impairment assessment
prepared by management;

e agreed the input data used by
management to supporting evidence
such as actual results, financial budgets
approved by management and other
supporting documents; and

e assessed the reasonableness of key
assumptions such as discount rate
and net operating income applied by
management, including discussion
with management to understand
and evaluate management'’s basis for
selecting the assumptions, compared
the current year actual results with the
prior year forecast and benchmarked to
available market information to assess
the reasonableness of management
forecasts.

We considered the assumptions used by
management in the impairment assessment
of goodwill to be supported by available
evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

e cevaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

e conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZEMEE

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

e obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report
is Chu Ho Kwan Raphael.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
meElER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE_Z_ZHF=-A=+—HIEFE

2020 2019
—E-EF ZT-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T PSR T
Revenue WA 7 6,381,262 6,892,714
Cost of sales HENA (5,537,293) (6,005,433)
Gross profit EH 843,969 887,281
Other income, net Hapg A - FE8 8 45,867 68,327
Other (losses)/gains, net Hh (B518) WEs - F8 9 (47,985) 182,400
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries T A Rl as 9 279,678 231
Selling and distribution costs SHE MAC SR (148,226) (157438)
Administrative expenses TR H (428,789) (357347)
Operating profit £ A 544,514 623,454
Share of results of associates PTG Bt &N A 2E4E 19 150,965 125,003
Share of results of joint ventures Friaa e nEEE 20 840 171,448
696,319 ¢ 5% 19,7970757
Finance income BRI A 10 60,167 43,216
Finance costs W5 &R 10 (113,345) (123,239)
Finance costs, net MBER - F8 10 (63178) (80,023)
Profit before taxation FR 75 AT g ) 1 643,141 839,882
Taxation I8 12 (75,701) (140,480)
Profit for the year FEHR 567,440 699,402
Attributable to: LR
Shareholders of the Company N ERE R 533,081 654,561
Non-controlling interests PR 2 34,359 44,841
567,440 699,402
Earnings per share FREF
— basic and diluted (HK$ per share) — EAREE (FREK) 13 1.77 2.17

The notes on pages 84 to 196 are integral parts of these consolidated financial FE8ABEE196 B M I EGRAM BT 24A
statements. K& °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEHEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HEZZ-ZF=-A=1+—HLFE

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (expenses)/income
for the year

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange difference attributable to non-controlling
interests on translation of operations
of overseas subsidiaries
Change in fair value of investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income
Fair value gain of properties for own use

Items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss

Exchange difference on translation of operations
of overseas subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures

Fair value adjustments on the derivative
financial instruments designated
as cash flow hedge

Other comprehensive expenses for the year,
net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year
Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Note:

[tems shown within other comprehensive (expenses)/income are disclosed net of tax.

The notes on pages 84 to 196 are integral parts of these consolidated financial

statements.
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2020 2019
—E-EfF —Z-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
567440 699,402
(18,132) -
(13,705) (16,154)
143 1,447
(302,106) (251,026)
(777) 162
(334,577) (265,571)
232,863 433,831
216,636 406,960
16,227 26,871
232,863 433,831

REMEE () MRS 28 B RSB 3
o

L T SR A M RE 2 8

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR

77



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e TR R

As at 31 March 2020
RZEZZTF=A=+—H

Note
B aE

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Investments at amortised cost
Properties under development
Deferred tax assets

Other non-current assets

Current assets
Amounts due from associates
Amounts due from joint ventures

Amounts due from non-controlling interests
Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Investments at amortised cost

Inventories

Properties for sale

Properties under development

Debtors, contract assets,
deposits and prepayments

Derivative financial instruments

Prepaid tax

Bank balances and cash

Assets held-for-sale

Current liabilities

Amounts due to joint ventures

Amount due to a non-controlling interest

Derivative financial instruments

Creditors, bills payable, deposits,
contract liabilities and accruals

Unearned insurance premiums and
unexpired risk reserves

Outstanding insurance claims

Current income tax liabilities

Bank and other borrowings

Lease liabilities

Liabilities directly associated with assets
held-forsale

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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W I A 2R AR R
BRAREFIANEGREIEZIRE
IR AT BRZ A
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FEME
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JEUBRR - RREE -
fribiRe RIANFIA
M TR
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RITHEFRE

FEHEEE

REAE

e & 2 2R

e — SRR 2 AR R
PTAEMIBTA

ENIRR - BERE - FAZS -

BHABNRIARER
EERRE MBI RS

KRR =RIE
EHMEHARE
BRIT R EAE R

HE&EE

BSENEEERRARZBE

RBEEFE

HEERTBAR

15
16, 30
17
18
19
20

22
23
24
25
38
26

19
20
21
23
24
27
28
25

29
31

32

47

20
21
31

33

34

35
30

47

2020
b el 223
HK$'000
BT T

3,431,894 3,769,835

3,034,454 3,161,325

643,979 684,138

36,286 63,621

497,752 474,452

1,033,798 1,258,318

34,317 47,404

465,907 331,013

23,003 30,851

404,528 434,051

45,102 29,916

138,354 107615

______ S 838748 10392439

20,971 18,371

46,694 56

41,250 41,382

287,406 415,261

7778 3,970

275,037 326,865

267,131 366,619

1,919,611 1,779,646

1,352,348 1,375,643

242 397

31,221 23,069

2,824,666 1,833,084

7,074,355 6,184,363

175,489 516,549

______ Y .. 6700912

6,050 6,490

257,900 259,713

399 66

2,530,774 2,623,047

98,158 47,028

209,444 237913

54,980 66,276

885,078 1,109,840

17,159 -

4,059,942 4,250,373

128,350 34

______ ESSey 4250407

______ el .. 2450505

12,850,926 12,842,944




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e

B REARIR R

As at 31 March 2020

R_ZB_FF=A=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF —ET-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T PSR IT
Capital and reserves BRAR i
Share capital &N 36 37741 377411
Reserves e 37 8,694,648 8,644,073
Shareholders’ funds RERE & 9,072,059 9,021,484
Non-controlling interests PR 611,012 620,589
Total equity ks 9,683,071 9,642,073
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Amount due to a non-controlling interest FEA — ISR AR i 2 AR K 21 169,880 118,137
Unearned insurance premiums EEIRER B 128,437 89,600
Bank and other borrowings SRIT R EAMER 35 2,482,989 2,630,370
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 45,664 -
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEA B 38 340,885 362,864
3,167855 . 3 ,72707(2,7877717
Total equity and non-current liabilities BRERRFREBEE 12,850,926 12,842,944

KEFGR - Z-ZF A +REBHE - XA
TIEERREE

Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

KUOK Hoi Sang HO Chung Leung

EE RR
Director Director
EF FF

FB4AE196 B2 M Ht Fhr e MisiE 24
BERD

The notes on pages 84 to 196 are integral parts of these consolidated financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE_Z_ZHF=-A=+—HIEFE

At 1 April 2019

Profit for the year
Change in fair value of investments
at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Fair value gain of properties for own use
Exchange difference on translation
of operations of overseas subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures
Fair value adjustments on the
derivative financial instruments
designated as cash flow hedge

Total comprehensive income for the year

Dividends paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

At 31 March 2020

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

R-B-NFHEA—H

FRE A
BRAREIIARMEEYE
BREZEN AR EES

BRYME 2 A EkE

BREGINNB AR - BERTF)
ReBrEZEBMELZ
SN H M RE

BERRERELHNITE
MBTANAAERE

FEZEWEER

BERRE

BN TR RS

R-ZBZEF=ZH=+—H

Equity
attributable
to shareholders Non-controlling
of the Company interests Total equity
PAUNGIL S
PElhRES FEIERR R BRER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BT
9,021,484 620,589 9,642,073
533,081 34,359 567,440
(13,705) - (13,705)
143 - 143
(302,106) (18,132) (320,238)
(777) - (777)
216,636 16,227 232,863
(166,061) - (166,061)
- (25,804) (25,804)
9,072,059 611,012 9,683,071




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mAEREBR

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

Equity
attributable
to shareholders Non-controlling
of the Company interests Total equity
N RIRER
FE1EHE Ea
HK$'000 HK$'00 HK$'000
PE¥EFIT PE¥EFIT Vot
At 1 April 2018 R=2-N¥F@mA-B 8738737 | 603,005 9,341,742
Profit for the year FIEHF 654,561 44,841 699,402
Change in fair value of investments RARBEIAEMEERE

at fair value through other BEZIRER AR EEE)

comprehensive income (16,154) - (16,154)
Fair value gain of properties for own use BRMEZ AR ERE 1,447 - 1,447
Exchange difference on translation BEGINIB AR BE QT

of operations of overseas subsidiaries, MEEETEBREEZ

associates and joint ventures HNE HIRERR (233,056) (17970) (251,026)
Fair value adjustments on the EERBSREL PHITAE

derivative financial instruments W IEMN AR EFE

designated as cash flow hedge 162 - 162
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FEZE¥=EE 406960 26871 433,831
Dividends paid BERRE 2077 - (120771)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ~ & f ¥ 3Ffz st e. - (8092 (18,092
Change in ownership interests in AR K AT 2 — M B A )

a subsidiary without loss of control REBEEREE o Basy 3442 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary W —mErEse - 3%0 3,360
Capital contributions by TR EAZA

non-controlling interests - 2003 7777777777 2003
At 31 March 2019 R-B-hE=A=+—H 9,021,484 620,589 9,642,073

The notes on pages 84 to 196 are integral parts of these consolidated financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n _\éiﬁﬁsﬁii

82

2020 2019
—E-EF ZT-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T PSR T
Operating activities REER
Cash generated from operations KEEEZRE 39(a) 538,234 603,918
Interest paid on bank overdrafts and bank and RITEX RIRITR
other borrowings HinfER 2 B 87 B (110,577) (123,239)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEABZEHHFE (2,860) -
Profits tax paid BEAFISEH (96,917) (109,553)
Profits tax refunded MISBUR 3,024 2,688
Net cash from operating activities REREEKR RS FE 330,904 373,814
Investing activities REER
Interest received B UWF 8 60,167 43,216
Dividends received from associates B A E 2 R E 111,608 109,896
Dividends received from joint ventures BREETEZRE 32,785 19,191
Purchase of investment properties BEREME (470) -
Proceeds from disposal of HEREYE 2 FER0E
an investment property 291 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME - BEREE (177,652) (94,736)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE  BEMEEZ
plant and equipment FriS 578 29,775 8,588
Purchase of intangible assets BERLEE (20) (118)
Net cash outflows from acquisitions of WEETFIIEE 2R EmE F8E
— Star Trading — Star Trading (2,872) -
— senior housing properties — REREME 39(b)(i) - (509,600)
— other subsidiaries — HifiE A - (694)
Net cash inflows from disposals of HETYIEE 2B RAFE
— Moon Colour Group — Moon Colour &8 39(b)(ii) 537,275 -
— New Rise — 39(b)(iii) 184,699 -
— Jumbo Rainbow Group — Jumbo Rainbow £ 39(b)(iv) 276,606 -
Capital contributions by non-controlling RS E AR A
interests - 2,003
Advances to associates MEE R BIFTEZ B (1,961) (3,407)
Repayments from associates REBERE ZEERE - 891
Proceeds from disposal of an associate & — AR B 2 FTSRUE 203 49
Advances to joint ventures AEEDEMECER - (13,979)
Repayments from joint ventures REEEREZEBENIE 118,780 9,018
Payments for investments &2 (618) (42,287)
Proceeds from disposals of investments HERE 2SR - 16,571
Decrease in unpledged bank deposits =B RA%EE 2 R
maturing after three months RITIFFOR D - 56,066
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities X H, (AR) REXB>HETE 1,168,596 (399,332)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

2020 2019
—E-EF —ET-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T PSR IT
Financing activities RE R
Dividends paid BRRE (166,061) (120,771)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B T IR E R 2 IS (25,804) (18,092)
Drawn down of bank and other borrowings FEEURTT M BB fE R 2,131,900 8,130,395
Repayments of bank and other borrowings BEIRIT A ETK (2,362,218) (7,766,434)
Payment of lease liabilities HEaBENR (13,940) -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits BIEIRIRTTE R, (35 0) 5,165 (550)
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (FR) "REBEXE RS FHE (430,958) 224,548
Increase in cash and cash equivalents HEeRBELE/WIEM 1,068,542 199,030
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHIZEERRESEEY
of the year 1,778,171 1,613,023
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates SNEERS B HE (71,795) (33,882)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FERZBEERESEEY
of the year 2,774,918 1,778,171
Analysis of balances of cash and BeRESEBN2EEZIW
cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash BITHEFRES 32 2,824,666 1,833,084
Less: Pledged bank deposits A EEIRITER (49,748) (54,913)
2,774,918 1,778,171
The notes on pages 84 to 196 are integral parts of these consolidated financial FE8ABEF 19BN EGRA BT 24A
statements. RED °
HtEBREEERAR

—TTEFR



84

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE_Z_ZHF=-A=+—HIEFE

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Chevalier International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public listed
company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company are Victoria
Place, bth Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and 22nd Floor,
Chevalier Commercial Centre, 8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong
respectively. The Company has its shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding while the activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 50 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar,
which is the same as the functional currency of the Company. The consolidated
financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on
26 June 2020.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). These financial
statements also complied with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) and the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of investment properties, staff quarters (and related right-of-use
assets), investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI"”) and financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative
financial instruments) at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL’).

The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19") since January 2020,
followed by declaration by the World Health Organisation as a “Global
Pandemic” on the 11 March 2020, to a certain extent, brought challenges
to the Group's business performance during the year and ahead. The
Group's businesses are diversified which enabled the Group to have a
strong resilience to the impact of economic downturns. The Directors have
considered the existing and potential impact arising from the outbreak of
COVID-19 in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. The
Directors will remain cautious on the ongoing development of COVID-19
that may cause further volatility and uncertainty in the global financial
market and economy, and will take necessary measures to address the
impact arising therefrom.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5
to the consolidated financial statements.

(i) New standard, amendments, interpretation and improvements to
existing standards that are effective for the Group’s financial year
beginning on 1 April 2019

The HKICPA has issued the following new standard which is effective
for accounting period beginning on 1 April 2019:

e HKFRS 16, “Leases” ("HKFRS 16")

The impact of the adoption of this standard and the new accounting
policies are disclosed in note 3 below.

The following amendments, interpretation and improvements to
existing standards, that are relevant to the Group's operation, are also
mandatory for the financial year of the Group beginning on 1 April 2019:

e HKAS 19 (amendment), “Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement”

e HKAS 28 (amendment), “Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures”

e HKFRS 9 (amendment), “Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation”

e HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments”

e Annual Improvements Project — Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015 - 2017 Cycle

The adoption of these amendments, interpretation and improvements
to existing standards neither have significant impact on the Group's
consolidated results and financial position nor any substantial changes
in the Group's accounting policies and the presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii) New standard and amendments to existing standards that have
been issued but not yet effective and have not been early adopted
by the Group

The following new standard and amendments to existing standards,
that are relevant to the Group’s operation, have been issued but not yet
effective for the financial year of the Group beginning on 1 April 2019
and have not been early adopted:

e HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 (amendment), “Definition of Material"’

e HKFRS 3 (amendment), “Definition of a Business"’

e HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 (amendments), “Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform™’

e HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (amendment), “Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture"?

e HKFRS 16 (amendment), “Leases, Related Rent Concessions”’
e HKFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”?

e Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 — “Revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting”!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

¢ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EREFERME (&)

(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) mBREZE ()

(ii) New standard and amendments to existing standards that have
been issued but not yet effective and have not been early adopted
by the Group (continued)

HKFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” ("HKFRS 17”)

HKFRS 17 will replace the current HKFRS 4, “Insurance Contracts”
HKFRS 17 includes some fundamental differences to current accounting
in both insurance contract measurement and profit recognition. The
general model is based on a discounted cash flow model with a risk
adjustment and deferral of unearned profits. A separate approach
applies to insurance contracts that are linked to returns on underlying
items and meet certain requirements. Additionally, HKFRS 17 requires
more granular information and a new presentation format for the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as well as extensive
disclosures. The Group is yet to undertake a detailed assessment of the
new standard. The standard is mandatorily effective for financial periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

Other than the above, the Group anticipates that the application of
amendments to existing standards that have been issued but are not
yet effective may have no material impact on the results of operations
and financial position.

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 March.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share in the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to
fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-
measurement are recognised in the profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value
of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9 with the corresponding gain or loss
recognised in the profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions — that is, as transactions
with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity.
Gains or losses on disposal to non-controlling interests are also recorded in
equity.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity
is re-measured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in the profit or loss. The fair value
is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in the other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in the other comprehensive income are
reclassified to the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EREFERME (&)

(CONTINUED)

(c) Goodwill/discount on acquisitions

(c) KBELZEME &

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary, an associate or a joint
venture, representing the excess of the consideration transferred over the
Group's interest in net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquire at the date of acquisition. The Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, either at the fair value or at the non-controlling interest's
proportional share of the recognised amount of acquiree’'s net identifiable
assets. If the Group recognises non-controlling interest in the acquiree at
fair value, goodwill includes the portion attributable to the non-controlling
interest.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is presented separately
in the consolidated statement of financial position. Goodwill arising on an
acquisition of an associate or a joint venture is included in the cost of the
investment of the relevant associate or joint venture.

Separately recognised goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if there is indication that goodwill might be impaired. Goodwill
on acquisitions of associates and joint ventures is included in investments
in respective associates and joint ventures and is tested for impairment
as part of the overall balance. For the purposes of impairment testing,
separately recognised goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated to
each of the relevant cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs,
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A CGU to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the CGU to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the profit
or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an associate or a joint venture, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary, an
associate or a joint venture represents the excess of the share of net fair
value of an acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of the business combination and is recognised immediately in
the profit or loss.

Contingent liabilities of an acquiree are recognised at the date of the
acquisition if the fair value of the contingent liabilities can be measured
reliably. Contingent liabilities are initially measured at fair value at the date
of acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(d) Interests in associates

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, interests in associates are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group's share of the profit or loss and of changes
in the other comprehensive income of the associates, less any identified
impairment loss. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in an
associate, any difference between the cost of the associate and the Group's
share of the net fair value of the associate's identifiable assets and liabilities
is accounted for as goodwill. When the Group's share of loss of an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
An additional share of loss is provided for and a liability is recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the relevant associate.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

(e) Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have
joint control and over which none of the participating parties has unilateral
control.

Under HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangement’, investments in joint arrangements
are classified either as joint operations or joint ventures, depending on the
contractual rights and obligations of each investor.

Joint operations

Joint operations arise where the investors have rights to the assets
and obligations for the liabilities of an arrangement. Investments in joint
operations are accounted for such that each joint operator recognises its
assets (including its share of any assets jointly held), its liabilities (including
its share of any liabilities incurred jointly), its revenue (including its share of
revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation) and its expenses
(including its share of any expenses incurred jointly). Each joint operator
accounts for the assets and liabilities, as well as revenue and expenses,
relating to its interest in the joint operation in accordance with the applicable
accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Joint arrangements (continued)

(f)

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have rights
to the net assets of the arrangement.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements in the other
comprehensive income. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in
a joint venture, any difference between the cost of the joint venture and
the Group's share of the net fair value of the joint venture's identifiable
assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. When the Group's share
of losses of a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the joint venture), the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint venture.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the relevant joint
venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of the joint ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at
FVPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVPL are recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received or receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised directly in equity is recognised in the profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, is cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid or payable is recognised in the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement
categories:

e those be measured subsequently at FVOCI,

e those to be measured subsequently at FVPL; or
e those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be
recorded in the other comprehensive income or the profit or loss. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at
the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investments at
FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in the
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group can classify its debt instruments:

— Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets, impairment losses,
foreign exchange gains and losses, and gain or loss arising on
derecognition are recognised directly in the profit or loss.

— FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through the other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment losses or reversals, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised
in the profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to, and
recognised in the profit or loss.

— FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present
fair value gains or losses on equity investments in the other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to the profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in the profit or loss when the Group's
rights to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised
in the profit or loss. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

2 ERSEBRBE (&)

() #BTA (&)
MBEE ()

FE(E)

(i)

B LTA

B TAZ REFBIARAEEE
BEEZEBEARZEEEZRS
MEBRH - AEEBEBEBTANE
R=EEEER

REHARRSIRR ¢ W AERA K
RenEMBsEzEENRER
EBERARERNEZMNHR - A
SZEBERBHRAGE - %%
MBEEZNBEA  RERS
18 SNE R No BT IR DA B AR LT
REENRSZIBEEENER
TR -

BAnEIAEMEEKE A
WBREHNHRESREBRHENHE
EREBNMBENEE(EHE
EZRERBARRASRHE
ZNF) A DR EFALMEE
Weas st & o BRHERROR (B 18 B
B~ 8 YA B IME s 1 K B 18
MBI AR - REEZEH
BBEMmEmW RS - BMG
BEKILHERE - AR EME
E R ARz Rt s E
RSN EERRT N AR

2l
s ©

BRaRBEIIAERR : ATERE
HRATIRIIR D R EHAEM
HEKENER 2 EETRR AR
BIIABRTE - RREARE
JIABGZ BERRE 2 RBRE
ELHRAERRNER -

RATHR

AEFBERRAREFERER
ARE - MAKEERFEER
HtzmbmA EmRERE 2
ARERE  AHZTERKLL
BRRERB A ERE R
EHDBEER - BEAEEIKE
Nz NEER  BRREZ
B SAETIRERTER -

BARBEIABEZHEEEZ
RAERBINMERER - BN
BEIAEMEER R EZRA
BEZRERE (KR E R E R
EDATEEARBEMESHDFH
2 e
HtEBEEARLT
—EoREEy

93



94

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with debtors, contract assets, deposits, amounts
due from associates, joint ventures and non-controlling interests, debt
investments measured at amortised cost and bank balances and cash.
The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade debtors and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the trade debtors and
contract assets.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost other than
trade debtors and contract assets is measured as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a debtor has
occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the debtors are
not settled in accordance with the terms stipulated in the agreements,
management considers these debtors as underperforming or non-
performing and impairment is measured as lifetime credit loss.

When management considers that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery, the financial assets measured at amortised cost will be
written off.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
Group's financial liabilities are classified into financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and other financial liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted in respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments
are set out below:

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EREFERME (&)

(CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments (continued)

() #BTA (&)
(i) ¥BEERRATE ()

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
Group's financial liabilities are classified into financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and other financial liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted in respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments
are set out below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at FVPL are financial liabilities held for trading on
initial recognition. At the end of each reporting period subsequent to
initial recognition, financial liabilities at FVPL are re-measured at fair
value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in the profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including amounts due to joint ventures and
non-controlling interests, creditors and payables, lease liabilities, bank
and other borrowings and amounts due to subsidiaries of the Company
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The accounting for
subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item
being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

e fair value hedges, which are hedges of the fair value of recognised
assets or liabilities or a firm commitment; or

e cash flow hedges which are hedges of a particular risk associated
with the cash flows of recognised assets and liabilities and highly
probable forecast transactions.

At the inception of hedging, the Group documents the economic
relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, including
whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging instruments are
expected to offset changes in the cash flows of hedged items. The
Group documents its risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking its hedge transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EREFERME (&)

(CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments (continued) (f) B TH &)
(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities (continued) (iii) $TE T AR HES ()

The fair values of various derivative financial instruments designated in
hedge relationship are disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements. Movements in the hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity
are shown in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. The full
fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset
or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more
than 12 months; it is classified as a current asset or liability when the
remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading
derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.

() Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in
the hedging reserve within equity. The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

When option contracts are used to hedge forecast transactions,
the Group designates only the intrinsic value of the options as the
hedging instruments.

Gains or losses relating to the effective portion of the change in
intrinsic value of the options are recognised in the hedging reserve
within equity. The changes in the time value of the options that
relate to the hedged item (“aligned time value”) are recognised
within the other comprehensive income in the costs of hedging
reserve within equity.

When forward contracts are used to hedge forecast transactions,
the Group generally designates only the change in fair value of the
forward contract related to the spot component as the hedging
instrument. Gains or losses relating to the effective portion of
the change in the spot component of the forward contracts are
recognised in the hedging reserve within equity. The change in
the forward element of the contract that relates to the hedged
item ("aligned time value”) is recognised within the other
comprehensive income in the costs of hedging reserve within
equity. In some cases, the entity may designate the full change in
fair value of the forward contract (including forward points) as the
hedging instrument. In such cases, the gains or losses relating to
the effective portion of the change in fair value of the entire forward
contract are recognised in the hedging reserve within equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities (continued)

(1)

()

Cash flow hedge (continued)

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in the periods when
the hedged item affects the profit or loss, as follows:

—  Where the hedged item subsequently results in the recognition
of a non-financial asset (such as inventory), both the deferred
hedging gains and losses and the deferred time value of the
option contracts or deferred forward points, if any, are included
within the initial cost of the asset. The deferred amounts are
ultimately recognised in the profit or loss as the hedged item
affects the profit or loss (for example through cost of sales).

— The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of the interest
rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is recognised in
the profit or loss within finance cost at the same time as the
interest expense on the hedged borrowings.

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or terminated, or
when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
any cumulative deferred gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging
in equity at that time remains in equity until the forecast transaction
occurs, resulting in the recognition of a non-financial asset such as
inventory. When the forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the cumulative gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging
that were reported in equity are immediately reclassified to the
profit or loss.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting.
Changes in the fair value of these derivative financial instrument are
recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

(iv) Offsetting financial instrument

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported
in the statement of financial position where the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The Group has also entered into arrangements
that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow for the related
amounts to be set off in certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy or
the termination of a contract.

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

2 ERSEBRBE (&)

() #BTA (&)
(iii) PTAE T AR EHES (F)

(1)

(1)

BEnBE (E)

PSRN SRELTERY
BESHMEBETITXAAENRS

1

- fHEPEREREHALHE
ERFMBEE(WEE)
IS RE 34 e Wi % 5 98 B
AR SIRTE R B B 2 (0
B) QIR B EESF A
BEMBRA - B E IR
BREBRa(MERHENK
) BRESERENEBEE

=71
o ©

- HEFRm HERF B R RE
EMARESy AR RS
BE - REREEELENER
7R 32 B[R B 7 B A5 B AN R 1R

BRI TARE - HEXK

1k SRS FEREPE T

% AIEREETERRTET

Yo 5 2T 18 R AR S A AR AN 71

RiEs AERERARS SR

SEMRIFMBEE(WFE) -

ETBREREENRS  RE

s BRI REHRE R s 18

B FRAENENDEE

Bm -

THEE P EIE 2 STAET A

ETETEARTEE T&tE
B ENAEMBIAZARE
HE AR R AR o

(iv) EEMHTA

EARKEREA ARG NITER
HIHD R UABRFREE
EHRRRZREENBEAER
M EERBEEREE  WEMN
IR R EWMEFE - NAEEITRGR]
A EEEREEDA I ERRIEA
EETER N EENZ S - (IR E
HEKRIL -

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR

97



98

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(g) Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation
or both, and that is not occupied by the Group, is classified as investment
property.

Investment property comprises land and buildings held under leases. Land
held under lease is classified and accounted for as investment property
when the rest of the definition of investment property is met.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related
transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment property is carried at
fair value. Fair value is determined by professional valuation conducted as at
the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are recognised in the
profit or loss.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the carrying amount of the asset
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the profit
or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Changes in fair values are recognised in the profit or loss as part of the
other gains, net.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified
as property, plant and equipment, and its fair value at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes. If an item of
property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because
its use has changed, any difference resulting between the carrying amount
and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer is recognised in
equity as a revaluation of property, plant and equipment under HKAS 16.
Any resulting increase in the carrying amount of the property, plant and
equipment is recognised in the profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a
previous impairment loss, with any remaining increase recognised directly
to revaluation surplus within equity. Any resulting decrease in the carrying
amount of the property, plant and equipment is charged to the profit or
loss. Upon the subsequent disposal of investment property, any revaluation
reserve balance of the property, plant and equipment is transferred to
retained profits and is shown as a movement in equity.

When an investment property undergoes a change in use, evidenced
by commencement of development with a view to sale, the property is
transferred to properties for sales at its fair value at the date of change in
use.

For a transfer from properties for sale to investment properties that will be
carried at fair value, any difference between the fair value of the property at
that date and its previous carrying amount shall be recognised in the profit
orloss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EREFERME (&)

(CONTINUED)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (h) W% - BERRE

As explained in note 3 below, the Group has changed its accounting policy
for leases where the Group is the lessee. The new policy is described below
and the impact of the change is detailed in notes 3, 16 and 30.

From 1 April 2019, leases are recognised as right-of-use assets initially
measured on a present value basis at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group. These are presented within “Property, plant
and equipment” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses except for staff
quarters (and related right-of-use assets).

Staff quarters (and related right-of-use assets) are measured at fair value
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses recognised at the
date of revaluation. Revaluation are performed with sufficient frequency
to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the fair
value of a revalued asset at the end of the reporting period.

Changes in fair value are recognised in the other comprehensive income.
However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same
asset previously recognised in the profit or loss, the increase is recognised
in the profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in the profit or loss,
except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset
recognised in equity.

An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to the retained profits
is made for the difference between depreciation based on the revalued
carrying amount of the asset and original cost. Additionally, accumulated
depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued
amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the
particular asset being sold is transferred to retained profits.

Leasehold land commences depreciation from the time when the land
interest becomes available for its intended use. Depreciation on leasehold
land classified as finance lease and other assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their costs or fair values less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives at the following rates per annum:

Annual charge

Building Over the shorter of 20 to 50 years
or the remaining lease term

Leasehold land Over the remaining lease term
Leasehold improvements Over the remaining lease term
Right-of-use assets Over the remaining lease term
Machinery 10%
Furniture, fixtures, office 10% - 33"3%

equipment and motor vehicles
Others 10% - 20%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(i)

(i)

(k

-

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 16, assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their expected useful
lives on the same basis as owned assets.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

The gain or loss arising from disposal or retirement of an asset is
determined as the difference between the net sale proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the profit or loss.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Other intangible assets

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired separately and from
business combinations are recognised at cost and at fair value respectively.
After initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses.

Gain or loss arising from derecognition of an intangible asset is measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceed and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in the profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Development cost of properties comprise prepaid lease
payments, development expenditure and borrowing costs capitalised.

The net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less selling expenses and costs to completion.

Impairment of investments in associates and joint ventures

Management regularly reviews whether there are any indications of
impairment of the Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
primarily based on value-in-use calculations.

In determining the value in use, management assesses the present value
of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from their businesses.
Estimates and judgements are applied in determining these future cash
flows and discount rate. Management estimates the future cash flows
based on certain assumptions, such as revenue growth.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

2 ERSEBRBE (&)

(h) ¥13%% - BERRE (&)

(i)

(i)

RABEBMBHREENF 1651 LE
BHERAZEEVREHEER A AEF
HIm A 2 BsE E TR E - HEMEEE
BEEMRR -

HEEZ REEGREMG AIREESER
SRR KA E 2 BREERUR = AT m
e

HE SR A E 2 W S Tyt H & P
SRR REARENER 2 ZHET X
FEIREE AR ©

RERERR - BEZRHREERAEA
FHETEM - LT AR (NER) -

Hith B EE

VIATERES - B W R RAEHAZ
BVAETIDERAER AR EHR
MiaHERE - ERAMERFRz BILEE
TR AER 25 M 2FUREBEA
B - BRAIEREMZ BIVEE Z &)
NE AR E A AT A F BT - ER
AERENZ BV EEARZRANER R
IREBEAR -

R R A E P E A s B R
EMFFURFREEEREER 2 Z8E
B ORNRIEREERTIRENER -

BRPUIE

B[R R )2 THIRBK AR B R] B3R A R E ]
REEZY - MEREXNABBANEE
A - REERRIEEMBEIE Z ERAK
K o

AERFEE A B EBBRETHEEE X
HIAR e A AR B AT (B -

(k) REEE R A RAEEEZRERE

EIREE AR EAEESE AR RS
ERFSRBETAEERBE AR REZD
FZRECKRME -

REEEFEREER - BEEMGIEETE
EZEFARKBRESRENRE - BWEARK
BenB8MBREXNBIRPEIEHTAFMN
HI - IR EERN—ERR (Bl A
ER)EEARRZRESRE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(I) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the first-in-first-out or weighted average method. Net
realisable value is determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds in
the ordinary course of business less applicable selling expenses.

(m)Properties for sale

Properties for sale, which comprise prepaid lease payments and buildings
held for resale, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
costs of properties for sale comprise cost of acquisition of properties and
related development costs.

(n) Contract assets and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains rights
to receive consideration from the customer and assumes performance
obligations to transfer goods or provide services to the customer.

The combination of those rights and performance obligations gives rise to
a net contract asset or a net contract liability depending on the relationship
between the remaining rights and the performance obligations. An item of
assets is recognised as contract assets if a contract’s cumulative revenue
recognised in the profit or loss exceeds cumulative payments made by
customers. Conversely, an item of liabilities is recognised as contract
liabilities if a contract’s cumulative payments made by customers exceeds
the revenue recognised in the profit or loss.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the same approach
adopted for impairment assessment of trade debtors. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group transfers the goods or services to
the customers and therefore satisfied its performance obligation.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer are
capitalised and presented as contract related assets, if the Group expects
to recover those costs, and are subsequently amortised on a systematic
basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customers of the goods or
services to which the assets relate. The Group recognises an impairment
loss in the profit or loss to the extent that carrying amount of the contract
related assets recognised exceeds the remaining amounts of consideration
that the Group expects to receive less the costs that relate directly to
providing those goods or services that have not been recognised as
expenses.

(o) Assets held-for-sale

Non-current assets are classified as assets held-forsale when their carrying
amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transition and a sale is
considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use,
except for investment properties that are carried at fair value.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts.

Pledged bank deposits are not included in cash and cash equivalents.

(q) Trade creditors

(r)

Trade creditors are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses. Where the Group expects a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events
and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as
a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group.

A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is
probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r) Provisions and contingencies (continued)

(s

(t

-

-

The Group regards its financial guarantee contracts in respect of mortgage
facilities provided by banks to certain property buyers, and credit facilities
provided by financial institutions to its subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures as insurance contracts.

Unearned insurance premiums and unexpired risk reserves

Unearned insurance premiums represent the estimated portions of the
premiums written which relate to periods of insurance subsequent to the
end of the reporting period and are deferred to subsequent accounting
periods. Unearned premiums are computed on the basis of net premiums
written for all classes of insurance. Net premium written represents gross
premiums received or receivable after deducting reinsurance premiums.

Provision is made for unexpired risks arising from the expected value of
claims and expenses attributable to the unexpired periods of policies in
force which, at the end of the reporting period, exceeds the unearned
premiums provision in relation to such policies.

Insurance claims

Claims paid and outstanding comprise claims paid, claims reported but
not yet paid and an estimate of claims incurred but not reported (“IBNR")
as at the end of the reporting period which is calculated with reference to
foreseeable events, past experiences and trends.

Insurance claims are recognised when they are incurred and reported.
Incurred claims include the losses, related costs and expenses paid during
the year and the change in the reserve for outstanding claims during the
year. Reserves for outstanding claims are reported on an undiscounted
basis which include reserves for reported claims and reserves for IBNR
claims.

Every notified claim is assessed on a case-by-case basis. The reserve of a
reported claim is made by the claims handler based on his experience and
based on the information, documents and the claim amount submitted by
the claimant and is checked by the officer before updating the information
into the claims system. The reserve is reviewed and revised regularly to
reflect the development of the claim and the change of the market practice.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group performs a liability adequacy
test to ensure the adequacy of the insurance claim liabilities. In performing
these tests, current best estimates of all future contractual cash flows are
made. Any deficiency is immediately charged to the profit or loss.

(u) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(v) Revenue and income recognition

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining when
to recognise revenue and how much revenue to recognise through a 5-step
approach: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify separate
performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price;
(iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations; and (v)
recognise revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied. The core
principle is that a company should recognise revenue when control of a
good or service transfers to a customer.

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the goods or service is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may be
transferred over time or at a point in time.

Control of the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group's
performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by
the customer;

e creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If control of the goods or service transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the
goods or service.

Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract, if recoverable, are
capitalised as contract assets and subsequently amortised when the related
revenue is recognised.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation
of a construction contract is measured based on one of the following
methods that best depict the Group's performance in satisfying the
performance obligation:

e direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group to the
customer; or

e the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation relative to the total expected efforts or inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EREFERME (&)

(CONTINUED)

(v) Revenue and income recognition (continued)

(v) AR YR ()

Income from sale of properties is recognised when the legal assignment is
completed or the property is accepted by the customer, which is the point
in time when the customer has the ability to direct the use of the property
and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of the property.

Income from sale of goods such as information technology equipment,
motor vehicles and food and beverage are recognised when goods are
delivered and title to the goods has passed to the customers. Revenue is
arrived at after deduction of any sales return, discount and value-added tax.

Income from rendering of services such as provision of maintenance and
property management, warehouse and logistics services and hotel and
senior housing operations are recognised over time when services are
rendered. Receipt in advance of provision of services are accounted for as
contract liabilities.

Premiums for direct insurance business and reinsurance are recognised as
income when an insurance policy is accepted and the relevant debit note is
issued.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, with
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to its net
carrying amount.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group’s rights
to receive payment have been established.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the terms of the respective leases.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period
between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the customer
and payment by the customer exceeds one year, except for retention
receivables which may not be fully settled within 12 months after the end of
the reporting period. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of
the transaction prices for the time value of money.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(w)Leases

(i) Accounting policy applied since 1 April 2019

The Group as lessor

The accounting treatment of leases held by the Group as lessor is same
as the accounting policies applied prior to 1 April 2019.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at
inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in
which it is the lessee at the date which the leased asset is available for
use by the Group, short-term leases and low value leases, except for
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less) and leases of low value assets (defined as leases with a lease
asset of US$5,000 or below, equivalent to approximately HK$39,000).
For short-term leases and low value leases, the Group recognises
the lease payments as an operating expense on a straightline basis
over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments. The lease payments are
discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate
cannot be determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate;
e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise that option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options
are also included in the measurement of the liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(w)Leases (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Accounting policy applied since 1 April 2019 (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective
interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The
finance cost is changed to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost comprising the
following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received,;

e any initial direct costs; and
e restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. They are depreciated
over the remaining lease term on a straightline basis. The depreciation
starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “Property, plant and
equipment”’

Accounting policy applied until 31 March 2019

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as
receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the leases.
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's net investment
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant leases. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an
expense on a straightline basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(w)Leases (continued)

(ii)

Accounting policy applied until 31 March 2019 (continued)

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases were recognised as assets of the
Group at their fair values at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at
the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding
liability to the lessor was included in the consolidated statement of
financial position as an obligation under finance lease. Lease payments
were apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance charges were charged directly to the
profit or loss, unless they were directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, in which case they were
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing
costs as stated in note 2(y) to the consolidated financial statements.

Rental payables under operating leases were charged to the profit
or loss on a straight line basis over the terms of the relevant leases.
Benefits received and receivables as incentives to enter into operating
leases were recognised as a reduction of rental expenses over the
lease terms on a straightline basis.

(x) Employee benefits

ly

~—

(i

(ii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

Provision for bonus plans is recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

(iii) Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans including the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes are charged as an expense as they
fall due, net of forfeited contributions.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the profit or loss or capitalised over the
period of the borrowings using effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the end of the reporting year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(y) Borrowings and borrowing costs (continued)

(z

-

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Taxation

Taxation represent the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable
profit differs from profit as reported in the profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes the profit or loss items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using
the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, and interests in associates and joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient future taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised.
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(z) Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the
deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax
assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment
properties located in Hong Kong and Singapore are determined based on
the presumption that the carrying amount of such investment properties
will be recovered through sale with the corresponding tax rate applied.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which
the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the
lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition and over the lease terms due to application of the initial
recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in the other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in the
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(aa) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value has determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on
the translation of monetary items, are recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences arising on
a monetary item that forms part of the Group's net investment in a foreign
operation, which are recognised in equity in the consolidated financial
statements. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in the profit or loss for the
period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity,
in which cases, the exchange components of that gain or loss are also
recognised directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EREFERME (&)

(CONTINUED)

(aa) Foreign currencies (continued)

(aa) 7N (48)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in the other comprehensive income as a
separate component of equity, the exchange fluctuation reserve. Such
exchange differences are recognised in the profit or loss in the period in
which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising
on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period. Exchange differences so arising are
recognised in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

(ab) Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill,
are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset'’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGU). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(ac) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the chief
operating decision-makers that make strategic decisions.

Segment assets mainly consist of non-current assets and current assets as
disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position except prepaid
tax, unallocated bank balances and cash, deferred tax assets and other
unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-current
liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position
except current income tax liabilities, bank and other borrowings, deferred
tax liabilities and other unallocated liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

3 CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 BERGFEKREE
The impacts of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group's consolidated financial HNEBTBEHRE LA F 165 HAEELR
statements are detailed below and it also discloses the new accounting policies EUBRECHEFRAT  WREA T
that have been applied from 1 April 2019, where they are different to those —hEMA—-BREERMERTNEMERE
applied in prior periods. NRZFETGETBEE »
(a) Impact on the consolidated financial statements (a) BREHHBRERZTE

As explained in note 3(b) below, the Group has adopted HKFRS 16
retrospectively from 1 April 2019, but has not restated comparative
information for the prior reporting period, as permitted under the specific
transitional provisions in the standard. The reclassifications and adjustments
arising from the new leasing rules are therefore not reflected in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, but are
recognised in the opening consolidated statement of financial position as at
1 April 2019.

(b) HKFRS 16 — Impact of adoption

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation
to leases which had previously been classified as “operating leases”
under the principles of HKAS 17 “Leases” ("HKAS 17"). These liabilities
were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the lessee'’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 April 2019.
The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rates applied to the
lease liabilities on 1 April 2019 was 4.1%. While for right-of-use assets, the
Group has elected to measure the right-of-use assets at an amount equal to
the lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments.

For leases previously classified as finance leases, the Group recognised the
carrying amount of the lease assets and lease liabilities immediately before
transition as the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets and the lease
liabilities at the date of initial application.
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2
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HK$'000
BT T
Operating lease commitments at 31 March 2019 RZBE—NF=-A=-t+—HZEEHEFH 89,381
Add: Finance lease liabilities at 31 March 2019 mR-_ZE-NAE=ZA=+—BZREHEAE 277
Less: D
Short-term leases to be recognised on a BRESIERAAT 2 GHHEE
straightline basis as expense (1,222)
Discounted using the lessee's incremental RE R ER B HE AEE A S S E R R IERLR
borrowing rates at the date of initial application (12,470)
Total lease liabilities at 1 April 2019 R-E-hFHNA—RAzHEaEHEE 75,966
Of which are: He
Current lease liabilities mEHERE 13,401
Non-current lease liabilities FEmBpHERRE 62,565
75,966

1 1 2 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) HKFRS 16 - Impact of adoption (continued)

(c

—

The change in accounting policies affected the following items in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 April 2019:

e Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) — increase
by HK$76,388,216

e Debtors, contract assets, deposits and prepayments — decrease by
HK$698,582

e Bank and other borrowings — decrease by HK$276,831
e |ease liabilities — increase by HK$75,966,465

There were no impact on retained profits on 1 April 2019.

Practical expedients applied

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used the following
practical expedients permitted by the standard:

® not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the date
of initial application. Instead, for contracts entered into before the
transition date, the Group relied on its assessment made applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease”;

e the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably
similar characteristics;

e reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous by
applying HKAS 37 "“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets” as an alternative to performing an impairment review;

e the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less
than 12 months as at 1 April 2019 as short-term leases; and

e the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use
asset at the date of initial application.

mEMBRRME
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(b) BERMBHRELRE 165 - RAZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020

BE-_T-_TF=

RA=+—BIFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include investments at FVPL and
FVOCI, investments at amortised cost, derivative financial instruments,
debtors and receivables, creditors and payables, amounts due from/to related
companies and non-controlling interests, bank balances and bank and other
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes to the consolidated financial statements. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

4.1 Financial risk factors

(a) Market risk

(i)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from bills payable, amount due
from a joint venture, floating rates bank and other borrowings and
floating rates bank deposits. Majority of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings carry interests at floating rates and expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. The management monitors interest rate
exposure and hedges significant interest rate exposure by using
financial instruments such as interest rate swap contracts. Certain
instruments are qualified for hedge accounting.

As at 31 March 2020, if interest rates had been increased/
decreased by one percentage point and all other variables were held
constant, the post-tax profit of the Group, would decrease/increase
by HK$18,034,000 (2019: HK$22,061,000), resulting mainly from
the change in the borrowing costs of bank and other borrowings
and interest income of bank deposits.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from various currency exposures. Foreign
currency risk arises when the Group's recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in currencies that are not the entities’
functional currency.

The Group's financial assets that are exposed to foreign currency
risk mainly comprise of investments in debt and equity securities,
accounts receivable balances arising from sales to overseas
customers, bank balances and cash and amounts due from related
companies and group companies (on entity level). The Group's
financial liabilities that are exposed to foreign currency risk mainly
comprised of accounts payable balances arising from purchases
from overseas suppliers and amounts due to group companies
(on entity level). It is the Group’s policies to ensure that the net
exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign
currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-term
imbalances. The management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and hedges significant foreign currency exposure by using financial
instruments such as foreign currency forward contracts. Certain
instruments are qualified for hedge accounting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 4 BBEREEBRERBCK (&)
(CONTINUED)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

4.1 B EREE ()
(a) WiEREM (&)
(i) SNE [ Bz (4E)

T RRINE R B 2 SNE BT S T A (f
PREAEENEZDEEY) X
BLURIE - IIERTT - BUE -8
k. HE - BPIE - AR
m#ET s EZx(Ex)) REEE
BB NEBAINE BB Z
WHEERMBBERFRZE
HENT :

(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)

Financial instruments under foreign currencies (other than the
functional currencies of the Group's entities) that are exposed to
foreign exchange risk are mainly denominated in Australian dollar,
Canadian dollar, Euro, Hong Kong dollar, Japanese Yen, Macau
Pataca, Renminbi, Singapore dollar, United States dollar ("US
dollar”) and Vietnam Dong. The carrying amounts of the Group's
foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities
at the end of the year are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
BE =R
2020 2019 2020 2019
—FNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
AETR  BETR

—BoRE —ThF ZBCRE

HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT MR

Australian dollar SBIT 43,611 13,256 (29,528) -
Canadian dollar mEXT 195,449 187,209 - -
Euro BLZE 28,998 26,446 - (453)
Hong Kong dollar B 125,613 36,970 (38,265) (17370)
Japanese Yen H 20,169 2,105 (618) (3,248)
Macau Pataca SEP M 3 - (487,597) (668,976)
Renminbi AR 241,320 188,504 (9,643) (12,275)
Singapore dollar o 75,884 89,691 - (2,355)
US dollar ETT 1,613,387 1,493,555 (1,414) (4,603)
Vietnam Dong WA 35,939 48,452 - -
Others Hitb 9,924 13,895 (1) (120)

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to every
percentage point increase and decrease in the functional currency
of corresponding group entity against the above foreign currency.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
end of reporting period for every percentage point increase in
foreign currency rates. Positive numbers below indicate an increase
in profit/investment revaluation reserve where the above foreign
currency strengthens every percentage point against the functional
currency of corresponding group entity.

I

Increase in profit

A EMREEE

Increase in investment revaluation
reserve

T%ﬁ@$%§2ﬁ%%§ﬁ¥
Thee BB A LN 2 &80
ERL—EHED B BRE -

FRESMABENREHR

TANEBEMN Z M AEEE

MIEE IE#@X&E?

GEN—FEES2BE T

FHE o LLTNIESBBERU LN

HBMEEEBECEZTEES

BAE—EEHZBERTE

wA B B REEA RGN

2020 2019
—g-gF  —TAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT
17,637 13,444
337 472
HIEBREEERATF

—TTEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-_ZEF=A=+—HIFE
4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 4 BRRABEEEERBE(E)
(CONTINUED)
4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

4.1 BREBREE (&)
(a) TiZEER ()

(a) Market risk (continued)

116

(ifi) Price risk
The Group is exposed to listed debt and equity securities price
risk because investments held by the Group are classified on the

consolidated statement of financial position either as investments
at FVOCI or investments at FVPL.

If the prices of the respective quoted debt and equity instruments
of the Group had been increased/decreased by one percentage
point and all other variables held constant:

— the post-tax profit and investment revaluation reserve
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 would
increase/decrease by HK$1,888,000 and HK$337,000 (2019:
HK$2,118,000 and HK$393,000) as a result of the changes in
fair values of investments at FVPL and investments at FVOCI
respectively.

(b) Credit risk

Principal financial assets consist of investments at FVOCI, investments
at FVPL, derivative financial instruments, debtors, contract assets
and other receivables, amounts due from related companies and non-
controlling interests and bank balances. The Group's maximum exposure
to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their
obligations at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Debtors of the Group may be affected by the unfavorable economic
conditions and the lower liquidity situation which could in turn impact
their ability to repay the amounts owed. Deteriorating operating
conditions for debtors may also have an impact on management'’s cash
flow forecasts and assessment of the impairment of receivables. To the
extent that information is available, management has properly reflected
revised estimates of expected future cash flows in their impairment
assessments.

The Group has established different credit policies for customers in
each of its core businesses. The average credit period granted to trade
debtors is 60 days, except for insurance business where credit period
granted to certain debtors is over 60 days.

The Group has three types of financial assets that are subject to the
expected credit loss model, including trade debtors and contract assets,
other debtors and amounts due from associates, joint ventures and
non-controlling interests, and debt investments carried at amortised
cost. While bank balances and cash are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 4 BREREEEERBKX(E)

(CONTINUED)
4.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 4.1 B EREE ()
(b) EERK (%)

B S ERBEARAEE

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade debtors and contract assets (i)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade debtors and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade debtors and
contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The Group used expected
loss rates based on the aging for classes with different credit risk

RESEEEALANEEM
o OARBREAEEV B RS E
RIS Z LRI ITE » f£/H
EHEMEREBRRETERM
EEER -

¥al EJr%i‘EHHF%Eﬂ% B SR

BERREHNEEERBRAREE
J‘LI‘ACF#%&QHHE%(“*E IS S
EfE Az BB EEREAS

characteristics and exposures. The expected credit loss rates are TREERBSE KRR EESE
estimated based on the historical credit losses experienced over the M2 EER 2 BRER TR E - TEHAE

expected life of the debtors and are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2020 and
31 March 2019 was determined as follows for trade debtors based
on the days past due:

Up to 60
days
60 XA

HK$'000
BT T

31 March 2020 —E-EHF=A=+—H

BEEEERIREEWRR 2 T8
HRAN BT EEEBER MG
T WAEH uﬂ%l«xfiﬂ% CERP
B W GRIERE T 2 R ER
%Zﬁﬁv&ﬁﬁﬁu et 2 &HL -

RIFZEE - L8 5B ER N
EORE-ZEF=A=+—H
RZZE-AF=A=+—ARE
ﬁﬂ FNEZ HRBREETEN

_|

61-90
days
61-90 X
HK$'000
BT T

Gross carrying amount BREE4E 552,902 11,293 47,108 611,303
Loss allowance E R (355) (27,881) (28,962)
Expected loss rate TEAAEIE R 0.13% 3.14% 59.18%

Up to 60

60 XA
HK$'000

S i
B

31 March 2019 ZE-hFZA=t+—H

Over 90
days
HBiE 90K
HK$'000

HK$'000
BT T BT T

Gross carrying amount BREEREE 461,537 34,254 57867 553,658
Loss allowance B R (198) (30,468) (30,865)
Expected loss rate TEEIE IR R 0.04% 0.58% 52.65%

Trade debtors are written off when there is no reasonable

ER B A IETR IR Y B RIAR

expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable EFHE HEKER - RBEERE
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a TEHA e RIB 2 EERE(E
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure FEE) BB AREEERR L
to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 90 days BT E - AR KL EEEER
past due. 90 KA LIFTFR -
HtEBREEERAR 1 17

—TTEFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-_ZEF=A=+—HIFE
4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 4 BRRABEEEERBE(E)
(CONTINUED)
4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

4.1 BBEREE (&)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERK (%)

118

(i) Other debtors and amounts due from associates, joint ventures and
non-controlling interests

The loss allowance for other debtors and amounts due from
associates, joint ventures and non-controlling interests as a result
of applying the expected credit risk model was immaterial as they
have a low risk of default.

(ii) Debt investments carried at amortised cost

All of the Group's debt investments at amortised cost are
considered to have low credit risk, and the loss allowance
recognised during the year was therefore limited to 12 months
expected losses. Management consider “low credit risk” for debt
investments when they have a low risk of default and the issuers
have strong capability to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term.

The Group has assessed the credit risk arising from guarantees
given to financial institutions for credit facilities granted to certain
property buyers and associates taking into consideration the
realisable value of the underlying projects/assets. The Group does
not expect any significant credit risk arising from these guarantees.

The Group does not have any significant exposure to any individual
debtors or counterparties.

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain prudent liquidity risk management and
flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient cash and cash equivalents,
readily realisable marketable securities and to have committed short
term and medium term credit lines available.

The Directors believe that the Group has obtained sufficient committed
and uncommitted general credit facilities from banks for working capital
purposes.

The Group's liquidity position and compliance with loan covenants are
monitored closely by the management of the Company. The following
table details the Group’s contractual maturity for its financial liabilities at
the end of the reporting period. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

*

2020

Amounts due to joint ventures
Amounts due to non-controlling

interests
Creditors and payables

Derivative financial instruments
(gross settled) - outflow
Bank and other borrowings

Lease liabilities
Financial guarantees in
contingent liabilities

2019

Amounts due to joint ventures

Amounts due to

non-controlling interests

Creditors and payables

Derivative financial instruments

(gross settled)
- outflow
- inflow

Bank and other borrowings

Financial guarantees in
contingent liabilities

HK$214 million and HK$313 million disclosed under 1-2 years and 2-5 years of
the contractual maturity respectively are classified as current liability as at 31

—E0%f
ERRECERN
R ERERR

JERTER A R IE RT3
miﬁﬁlﬁ
(BEEE)- il
FAREMER
HERE

AREENHBER

B0
ERRELEEN
FEfFERERR,

FEATHR BB 3
1/T/$Eﬁ%l,ﬂc

(BgE)

- il

- A
RITRAEMBER

FRBENHBER

March 2019 (see note 35).

Less than
1 year

PR-F
HK$'000
BRI

1-2 years
-BZF
HK$'000
BT
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HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

4 BHEABEEEERBER(E)

4.1 B EBREE (8)
(c) ﬁﬁ/mﬁﬁwﬁ (?E)

Total
undiscounted
cash flows
AEERS
ZBRIf BBRE Viid £t REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT

More than
2-5 years 5 years

Carrying
amounts

6,050 = - = 6,050 6,050
257900 169,880 - - 427,780 421,780
704,255 115,384 - - 819,639 819,639

45 248 68 - 731 31
861,890 890,502 1,481,405 688,112 3,921,909 3,368,067
19,813 17291 16,259 18,483 71,846 62,823
84,611 133,808 331,709 - 550,128 550,128

6,490 - - - 6,490 6,490
259,713 118,137 - - 377850 377880
548,878 167273 - - 706,151 706,151

7061 - - - 7061 7061

(6,976) - - - (6,976) (6,976)
718,316 728,203* 2,074,975* 937072 4,458,666 3,740,210
164,168 302,468 56,722 - 523,358 523,358

* R—EZFR-ZFAFEHIHET
WEDRIELE 2148 T MBE313(E
TR-_E-NE=A=+—BnE4
mEVAE (RMIFES5)

HIEBREEERATF
—T_TEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 4 MBEREEEERBEX(E)
(CONTINUED)

4.2 Capital risk management 42 EXEBER

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern while maximising the returns to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances.

The Group regularly and closely reviews and manages its capital structure
to provide cost efficient funding to the Group and its companies and
make adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes of economic
conditions or corporate needs.

The Group monitors the capital on the basis of net debt to equity ratio,
which is expressed as a percentage of net debt (comprises total debt less
bank balances and cash) over total equity. Total debt represents bank and
other borrowings.

The net debt to equity ratio of the Group is as follows:

REEERER 2 BRRREREERE
ma 2z RERREER MR
LE B AR BER S SR ER A [E1 -

AEBERE TR RERLEARLE
B ARASEREET SEARREN
ERAR @2 ESR - WEEMR RSB
FRZBCE EREBIELFE -

REERHER S R 7 BAERE
K ZEERFER (RBEERRRT
BERAD) HERER AN - BE
FRIRIT R EMBAER o

REE 2 FER SRR m LR

&R (HI5E35)
RITHEFRRE (HTFE32)

Total debt (note 35)
Bank balances and cash (note 32)

Net debt FETE
Total equity warEss
Net debt to equity ratio SFER AR

The Group received significant amount of proceeds from the disposal of
subsidiaries during the year, part of which were used for the repayment of
bank borrowings. This caused a decrease in the Group's net debt and hence
the Group's net debt to equity ratio accordingly.

Pursuant to Chapter 41 of The Hong Kong Insurance Companies Ordinance,
all authorised insurance companies are required to maintain an excess of
assets over liabilities of not less than a required solvency margin. For the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group's relevant subsidiaries
complied with the solvency margin requirements as set out by the relevant
authorities in Hong Kong.

4.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial instruments carried at fair
values by level of inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair values.
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as
follows:

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (level 1).

2020 2019

e e
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT
3,368,067 3,740,210
(2,824,666) (1,833,084)
543,401 1,907,126
9,683,071 9,642,073
5.6% 19.8%

REERFEARER B HEIB QRS
ZRERFIE  BEo D AEEERITE
Ko IWEHAEBEFER ML - REA
SE 2 FER R RAREM T o

BREFBBRBARIGHENZE  REE
BERERRAREARSEERHBEZR
ERPRREZ BN ERE - BHE-F
ZERZT-NF=ZA=+—HILFE -
REERRMN B L RE T BB HRKER
2 BN ERHEHRE -

DAL

TREARAEAAEZEETEM RS
ABEBNER - HMAKERAAETINR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

® Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2).

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market
data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair values as at 31 March 2020 and 2019:

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

BHEAREEERRBEE(E)

4.3 A EMSE (8)

s ARBEEEBZHABEIEER
F—RAZHRE - T EE (AMER)
sfE i (B B BRI ) BiE (8 =
) -

o EHEERNBEZBABIRILIFKRE
ABRzTSEE(TABERZEA
2R (B=4R)

TRV -_ZF-_ZTFR_FT-NF=A
=t —RRARENEZAREVBEE
NEBAE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—1 -t E=R ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BYETT BYETT BT T
2020 —ECEF
Assets ﬁE
Financial assets at FVPL RAREIANEREE
ZEISEE
- debt securities — ERES 165,578 42,411 489,098 697,087
- equity securities — BRARES 41,282 - 14,944 56,226
Derivative financial instruments PTEMBTE = 242 = 242
Financial assets at FVOCI RARBEIAEMEE
WHEIE 7 MISEE
— equity securities — BRAES 25,731 - 8,586 34,317
232,591 42,653 512,628 7817872
Liability a1E
Derivative financial instruments PTHEBMBTA - (399) - (399)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F—1 s E=M
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
2019 —E-hE
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL RARBEIIANBREE
2B ERE
— debt securities — ERES 206,309 112,233 363,335 681,877
— equity securities — RAES 30,812 - 33,585 64,397
Derivative financial instruments PTHEBMBTA - 397 - 397
Financial assets at FVOCI BARBEIARMEE
W IR 2 TS B E
— equity securities — PRARRES 39,320 - 8,084 47404
276,441 112,630 405,004 794,075
Liability e
Derivative financial instruments PTEMFTA - (66) - (66)
HIEBREEBRAT

—T_TEER
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The Group uses quoted market prices for financial assets included in level 1.
The quoted price which is used, is the price within the bid-ask spread that is

most representative of the fair value.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, overthe-counter derivatives) are determined by using

valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market
data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments;

The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is calculated as the
present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable
yield curves;

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined
using forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period with
the resulting value discounted back to present value;

For unlisted securities or financial assets without an active market,
the Group establishes the fair value by using valuation techniques
including the use of recent arm'’s length transactions, reference to other
instruments that are substantially the same, reference to net asset
value of investee and discounted cash flow analysis, making maximum
use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific
inputs; and

Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to
determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

Debt securities classified as financial assets at FVPL comprised a
debt instrument with fair value of approximately HK$343 million. The
debt instrument relates to the financing of the development project
of a church and a senior housing facility in Hong Kong. Management
assessed the fair value based on discounted cash flow method with
assistance from independent external valuer. The estimated cash flows
used in the assessment are based on assumptions, such as estimated
cash proceeds generated from the senior housing facility, estimated
development cost and discount rate. The assumptions used in the fair
value assessment determination involves estimates and judgements,
any deviation from the estimates may result in increase or decrease
in fair value. For example, any increase in the discount rate or any
decrease in the estimated cash proceeds with other variables remain
constant, if adopted, would result in a lower fair value.

There were no transfers of financial instruments between levels in the
hierarchy for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 fair value hierarchy of

financial instruments for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019:

At 1 April 2019
Additions
Receipt for capital returns
Fair value loss recognised in
other comprehensive income
Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss

Disposals
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2020

At 1 April 2018
Reclassify from other debtors

Restated at 1 April 2018

Additions

Receipt for capital returns

Fair value loss recognised in other
comprehensive income

Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in
profit or loss

Disposals

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2019

mﬁﬁ%E%mﬁﬁz
ArERBE
REZERZ ARE

R-Z-_ZTF=A=+—H

E/Q\—=
L R ER TR E T 5 1R

—N\FMA—H

R-F—N\FHA—B&EE
//J N

W Bl & A

REAM P EREERZ
RREBE

MR ERZ AR (E
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4.3 R afEME (8

TREVNE=R AR ELRBENIHETEE
BT -TFER-F-NF=ZA=1+—H

IFFE 228 :
Debt Equity

securities securities Total
BERES IR % zm
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BET T BT T BET T
363,335 41,669 405,004
141,739 635 142,374
(4.892) - (4,892)
- (116) (116)
(4,093) (2,969) (7,062)
(3,352) (15,398) (18,750)
(3,639) (291) (3,930)
489,098 23,530 512,628

Debt Equity

securities securities Total
(EVrEeks RSB H k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
216,119 54,847 270,966
24,354 - 24,354
240,473 54,847 295,320
138,806 - 138,806
(16,571) - (16,571)
- (16) (16)

2,688 (248) 2,440
(44) (12,914) (12,958)
(2,017) - (2,017)
363,335 41,669 405,004
HtEBREEERAR

—T_TEER
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal to the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:

(a) Fair values of investment properties and staff quarters (and related

right-of-use assets)

The valuations of investment properties and staff quarters (and related
right-of-use assets) held directly by the Group are made on the basis of the
“Market Value” adopted by the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors (“"HKIS").
They are performed in accordance with the HKIS Valuation Standards on
Properties published by HKIS. The valuations are reviewed annually by
qualified valuers by considering the information from a variety of sources
including (i) current prices in an active market for properties of different
nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect those differences; (i) recent
prices of similar properties in less active market, with adjustments to reflect
any changes in economic conditions since the date of the transactions
that occurred at those prices; and (iii) rental income derived from existing
tenancies with due provision for reversionary income potential based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

These methodologies are based upon estimates of future results and a set
of assumptions specific to each property to reflect its tenancy and cashflow
profile. The fair value of each investment property reflects, among other
things, rental income from current leases and assumptions about rental
income from future leases in light of current market conditions including
open market rents, appropriate capitalisation rates and reversionary income
potential. For the year ended 31 March 2020, discount rate in the range
of 2% to 6% (2019: 2% to 6%) were used in the discounted cash flow
analysis. The fair value also reflects on a similar basis, any cash outflows
that could be expected in respect of the property.

As at 31 March 2020, if the market values of investment properties and
staff quarters (and related right-of-use assets) had been 10% (2019: 10%)
higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the carrying values of
the Group's investment properties and staff quarters would have been
HK$343,189,000 and HK$541,000 (2019: HK$376,984,000 and HK$546,000)
higher/lower respectively.

The valuations of investment properties were based on the economic,
market and other conditions as they exist on, and information available to
management as of 31 March 2020. Given the outbreak of COVID-19 has
caused significant disruption to economic activities around the world, this
disruption has increased the uncertainty of the assumptions used in the
valuations being achieved and materialised. Consequently, the ongoing
development of COVID-19 may cause unexpected volatility in the future fair
value of the investment properties subsequent to 31 March 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment

(c

-

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts of property, plant and
equipment have been determined based on the higher of their fair values
less costs to sell and value in use, taking into account the latest market
information and past experience.

Impairment assessment for goodwill and other intangible assets

The Group tests whether goodwill and other intangible assets have suffered
any impairment in accordance with accounting policies stated in note 2(ab)
to the consolidated financial statements. The recoverable amounts of CGUs
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations or their fair values
less cost to sell, whichever are higher, and both bases require the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from CGUs and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
The Group expects that any reasonable change in the key assumptions on
which the recoverable amounts are based would not cause the carrying
amounts of goodwill and other intangible assets to exceed their recoverable
amounts. Please refer to notes 17 18 and 40 to the consolidated financial
statements for details.

(d) Fair values of unlisted investments at FVOCI and FVPL and

(e

—

derivative financial instruments

The fair values of unlisted investments at FVOCI and FVPL and derivative
financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined
by using valuation techniques as detailed in note 4.3. The Group uses its
judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period, including the purchase price paid by the Group, the investees’
financial position and results, risk profile, prospects, including trend and
other factors. Any change in any of the key assumptions used would result
in increase or decrease in fair values.

Net realisable values of properties under development and
properties for sale

The Group writes down properties under development and properties for
sale to net realisable value based on assessment of the realisability of
properties under development and properties for sale which takes into
account cost to completion based on past experience and net sales value
based on prevailing market conditions. If there is an increase in cost to
completion or a decrease in net sales value, the net realisable value will
decrease which may result in writing down properties under development
and properties for sale to net realisable value. Write-downs are recorded
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be realised. The identification of write-downs requires the use
of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, the carrying value of properties under development
and properties for sale is adjusted in the period in which such estimate is
changed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(f) Determination of insurance liabilities

The Group's insurance liabilities mainly comprise provision for outstanding
claims. The Group determines these estimates on the basis of historical
information, actuarial analysis, financing modeling and other analytical
technigues. The estimated insurance liabilities are affected by assessed net
loss ratio. As at 31 March 2020, assessed net loss ratio was 16% (2019:
39%). Differences resulting from reassessment of insurance liabilities are
recognised in subsequent consolidated financial statements. The Group
continually reviews the estimates and makes adjustments as necessary, but
actual results could differ from what is envisioned when these estimates
are made.

(g) Construction contract

Revenue from construction works is recognised over time, and is dependent
on management'’s estimation of the total outcome of the construction
contract, as well as the work done to date. The Group reviews and revises
the estimates of contract sum, contract costs, variation orders and contract
claims prepared for each construction contract as the contract progresses.
Revenue from construction works is measured in accordance with progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligations. Budgeted
construction costs are prepared by the management on the basis of
correspondence between the Group and its major contractors, suppliers or
vendors involved and the experience of the management. In order to keep
the budget accurate and up-to-date, the management conducts periodic
reviews of the management budgets by comparing the budgeted amounts
to the actual amounts incurred. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in estimating the contract sum, contract costs, variation works and
contract claims which may have an impact in terms of progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligations and recognition of
profit.

(h) Income taxes

As at 31 March 2020, deferred tax asset of HK$63,488,000 (2019:
HK$44,091,000) in relation to unused tax losses had been recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The realisability of the deferred
tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future taxable profits
or taxable temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual taxable profits generated are more or less than expected,
additional deferred tax assets or reversal of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in the profit or loss for the period in which such
an addition or a reversal takes place.

Also, the Group, including associates and joint ventures, is subject to
income taxes in several jurisdictions, mainly in Hong Kong, Mainland China
and overseas. Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(i) Control over investees accounted for as subsidiaries

(i

(k

=

Certain investees are considered to be subsidiaries of the Company despite
the equity interest therein are not more than 50% of the relevant investees.
Based on the contractual power pursuant to the relevant shareholders’
agreement between the Group and the other shareholder, the Group
has the majority voting power in the board of directors in the respective
investees, by which the relevant activities that significantly affect the
return of the investees are determined, and hence has control over these
investees. Accordingly, those investees are accounted for as subsidiaries of
the Company.

Consolidation of senior housing business in the United States of
America (“the US”)

The Group's senior housing business in the US is operated by different
professional senior housing operators. Significant judgement is required
in determining whether Group is a principal and similarly, whether the
operator is an agent in this business. Management considered the Group
has exposure to the risks and return associated with rendering of services
and therefore regarded the Group as the principal. Accordingly, the financial
results and operations of this business is consolidated in the Group's
financial statements.

Determination of lease term and discount rate for lease liabilities

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension
option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods
after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

In determining the lease term, the following factors are normally the most
relevant:

e if there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the Group
is typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate);

e if any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant
remaining value, the Group is typically reasonably certain to extend (or
not terminate);

e otherwise, the Group considers other factors including historical lease
durations and the costs and business disruption required to replace the
leased asset.

In determining the discount rate, the Group is required to exercise
considerable judgement in relation to determining the discount rate taking
into account the nature and location of the underlying assets, and the terms
and conditions of the leases at the commencement date.
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports
reviewed by the Directors, the chief operating decision-maker, that are used to
make strategic decisions. The Directors consider the business from a product/
service perspective.

Principal activities of the segments are as follows:

Construction and engineering: Construction and engineering work for aluminium
window and curtain walls, building construction, building supplies, electrical
and mechanical and environmental engineering, lift and escalator and pipe
technology.

Property investment: Properties rental business.

Property development and operations: Property development and management,
cold storage and logistics and hotel operations.

Healthcare investment: Senior housing business and medical office building
investment.

Car dealership: Retailing, trading and servicing of motor vehicles.

Others: Sale and servicing of information technology equipment and business
machines, food trading, general insurance business (except aircraft, aircraft
liabilities and credit insurance), investment in securities and restaurant and bar.

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated income statement, except that it also includes the Group's share
of revenue of associates and joint ventures on a proportionate consolidated
basis. The sales from associates and joint ventures to the Group and sales
between individual associates and joint ventures are not eliminated.

The Directors assess the performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of segment results. This measurement includes the Group's share of
results of associates and joint ventures on a proportionate consolidated basis.
Unallocated corporate expenses, finance income and costs and taxation are not
included in segment results.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current assets as
disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position except prepaid tax,
unallocated bank balances and cash, deferred tax assets and other unallocated
assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-current liabilities
as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position except current
income tax liabilities, bank and other borrowings, deferred tax liabilities and
other unallocated liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 DEEHR(HF)
(a) Revenue and results (a) MARFEE

Construction Property
and Property  development Healthcare Car
engineering investment  and operations investment dealership Others Total

BER ES T e

BHIR E S kg8 #ERE RERE Aft L
HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AN AR ik R BRI BRI BRI BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2020 Hz-%-%F

ZA=T-BLFE

REVENUE WA
Total revenue B 2431222 142,463 587,136 844,970 1,833,846 621,591 6,461,228
Intersegment revenue PELEMA - - (44,545) = S (35.421) (79,966)
Group revenue SBHA 2431222 142,463 542,501 844,970 1,833,846 586,170 6,381,262
Share of revenue of associates FEBERAR

and joint ventures RELERA 1,758,262 - 156,545 119,360 469,090 107,246 2,610,503
Proportionate revenue from BHERE-HaehE

ajoint venture eliminated ZELBIA (84,791) = = S S = (84,791)
Segment revenue 2ERA 4,104,693 142,463 699,136 964,330 2,302,936 693,416 8,906,974
Revenue from contracts with customers:  ZEA4IZHA -
- recognised at a point in time - EX-HEER 20,802 = 21,451 s 1,816,448 368,543 2417244
- recognised over ime - E-REEER 2,410,385 - 326,994 844,970 - 36,198 3,618,547
Revenue from other sources EWRFELZWA 35 142,463 4,146 S 17398 181,429 345,471
Group revenue SEIA 2431222 142,463 542,591 844,970 1,833,846 586,170 6,381,262
RESULTS #
Segment profit/(loss) 2EEN/ (BB 317997 219,306 314,826 (104,599) 3431 (4.871) 746,590

Included in segment profitfloss)are: ~ AEEER|/ (B1E) Bl -

Share of results of associates il =N 169,732 - (15) = - (18,752) 150,965
Share of results of joint ventures fitaetEss 949 - (2,997) (4,069) 6,957 5 840
Decrease in fair value of investment FENE DR ERD

properties - (24,937) - - - - (24,937)
Depreciation and amortisation, TEREY AREAL

net of capitalisation (10,860) (564) (57907) (83,692) (26,607) mm) (190,741)
Impairment loss on properties forsale ~ SENZZFERE - - (10,304) - - - (10,304)
Impairment loss on goodwill BELREER - - - (4381) 5 5 (4,381)
Unrealised gain on derivative financial {74 E1H T B2 /BN

instruments - - - - - 242 242
Unrealised loss on investments atfar AR EFINERREZ

value through profitor loss FANAERER - - - - (4,220) (24,936) (29,156)
Provision [recognised)jwritten backfor ~ (EH3) /BEFERRE

inventories to net realisable value, net  EUEEFE - FE 4 - - - 1,106 (3,744) (2,642)
Provision recognised on trade ERAEHRAM

and other debtors, net ElES BE 58 (311) (40) (87) (5:832) - (2,885) 9,155)

HEEBEEARAT
Ce-sery 129
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BHE_T-_TF=RA=1+—HIEFE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 DEEHR(HF)
(a) Revenue and results (continued) (a) WA R (])

Construction Property
and Property development Healthcare Car
enginegring investment  and operations investment dealership Others

e

L ;i SRR 5t 0 4
HK$'000 HK$'000

A%T

|
HK$'000
AT

For the year ended 31 March 2019~ HZ=%-AE

ZA=T-BLFE

REVENUE WA
Total revenue BPA 2,678,957 140,579 719,428 43,018 2127864 556,724 6,966,570
Intersegment revenue PELEMA - - (44,765) - - 29,091) (73,856)
(Group revenue £EIA 2,678,957 140,579 674,663 3018 2127864 527633 6,892,714
Share of revenue of associates FrEBEnd

and joint ventures RAELEMA 1,657039 - 346,529 122,669 467672 151,083 2,744,962
Proportionate revenue from BHERE-HaehE

ajoint venture eliminated ZELBIA (14,387) - - - - - (14,387)
Segment revenue AERA 4,261,609 140,579 1,021,192 865,687 2,595,536 678,686 9,563,289
Revenue from contracts with customers:  ZEA4IZHA -
- recognised at a point in time - EX-HEER 34,33 - 366,104 - 2113721 349,072 2,863,232
- recognised over ime - E-REEER 2,644,587 - 301535 43,018 - 28966 3718,106
Revenue from other sources EWRFELZWA 3% 140579 7024 - 14,143 149,595 311376
Group revenue SEIA 2,678,957 140,579 674,663 43018 2127864 527633 6,892,714
RESULTS #
Segment profitloss| YEER/ (B8 293763 29219 217798 144,109 19610 16817 962,09
Included in segment profitfloss)are: ~ AEEER|/ (B1E) Bl -
Share of resuls of associates B 12745 - 873 - - (3322) 125,003
Share of results of joint ventures fitaetEss 48 - 17361 150,487 3172 - 171,448
Increase in fair value of investment FEMEZ AR BEN

properties - 166,406 - - - - 166,406
Depreciation and amortisation, TEREY AREAL

net of capitalisation (8.254) (457) (55,555) 66,491) (20921) (2,59) (154273)
Unrealised loss on derivative financial ~ §T£EIHRTEZ A EEER

instruments (129) - - - - - (129)
Unrealised loss on investments at fair -~ RAREIIABEREZ

value through profit or loss RENRERER - - - - - (12 (12)
Provision writen back/recognised) for ~ &E/ (R EZ ) FEEE

inventories to net realisable value, net  EUEEHE - 28 - - - 1,182) ) (1,205)
Provision written back/recognised)on B/ (BB 2SR

trade and other debtors, net NS 2B 58 1497 - - 6,187) - 309 (4,999)

Inter-segment revenue is charged at prices determined by management EHERRAZBIRAEEEXKETS
with reference to market prices. BIRETE o
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6
(a) Revenue and results (continued)

Total segment revenue are reconciled to the Group’s revenue in the
consolidated income statement as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

2REN (H)
(a) WA R 34 (40

Eafal A BEAEERGE RETRAZ I
AR -

2020 2019
—EC-EF —E-NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT
Total segment revenue B A 8,906,974 9,563,289
Add: Proportionate revenue from nEEERE —HEeEREZ
a joint venture eliminated IR B A 84,791 74,387
Less: Share of revenue of associates and joint  Ja : FT{ & A Rl R & & EUA
ventures
Construction and installation contracts BERTESHN 1,149,497 1,086,836
Sales of motor vehicles and others VU R EAM 2 S 469,090 467672
Maintenance and other services RE R EHAM RS 608,765 570,673
Food and beverage B 107,246 151,053
Hotel operations I &8 28,273 36,518
Sales and leasing of properties YEHEREE 247,632 432,310
2,610,503 2,744,962
Total revenue in the consolidated income e a2z B (FEE7)
statement (note 7) 6,381,262 6,892,714

Reconciliation of segment profit to profit before taxation is provided as

7 $R 0 M B R A5 A

Mz EBRIOT

follows:

2020 2019

et Sl 323 ZZT—hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Segment profit bak bl 746,590 962,096

Unallocated corporate expenses RoMEL W (50,271) (42,191)

Finance income iR T ON 60,167 43,216

Finance costs M%EER (113,345) (123,239)

Profit before taxation PR AT 643,141 839,882
HIEBREEBRAT

—T_TEER
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_T-_TF=RA=1+—HIEFE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 DEEHR(HF)
(b) Assets and liabilities (b) EEREE
Property
Construction development
and Property and Healthcare Car
engineering investment operations investment dealership Others Total
BERANIR NERE NELRREE  REEERE RERE it g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT AT BETL BETT BETT BT
At 31 March 2020 R-E-EE=f=1-A
ASSETS EE
Segment assets 2EEE 1,570,790 3,758,183 4,952,662 2,687,648 987132 1,554,749 15,511,164
Included in segment assets re: HEEERE:
Interests in associates Benn iR 475,744 - - - - 22,008 497752
Interests in joint ventures RELEZER 13,455 - 334,801 608,849 76,693 = 1,033,798
Amounts due from associates YR NARER 19,584 - - 5 5 1,387 20,971
Amount due from ajoint venture Rt £ER - - 46,694 - - - 46,694
Additions to non-current assets (note)  REFEREEE (M) 4,939 769 47564 43,681 128,759 2,851 228,563
LIABILITIES &f
Segment liabilities 2886 1,714,398 37594 420,305 405,145 419,563 545,206 354221
Included in segment liabiltes are: HEEERE:
Amounts due to joint ventures ERAELERR - - 5,869 - 181 - 6,050
At 31 March 2019 RZE-nE=R=1-A
ASSETS EE
Segment assets PEEE 1,584,159 4,29,19% 5,521,114 2,806,904 1,015,704 1,456,845 16,679,920
Included in segment assets are: NEEENE:
Interests in associates Bandz ks 431,656 - 1,381 - - 41415 47,45
Interests in joint ventures REbEER 12,506 - 516,578 651,060 78,114 - 1,258,318
Amounts due from associates JENEE DB 17684 - - - - 687 18,371
Amounts due from joint ventures FERAELEER 50 - 6 - - - 56
Additions to non-current assets (note)  AEFREAE (i) 13,885 1077 522,450 551,615 21475 9929 1,120,431
LIABILITIES g
Segment liabilities PEER 1,615,001 68,067 462,093 223,650 403534 460,688 3,233,033
Included in segment labilties are: PEABEE:
Amounts due to joint ventures EAECEER - - 6,299 - 191 - 6,490
Note: BRRE -
In this analysis, the non-current assets exclude financial instruments (including RSN - IERBEETREVBIA (B
interests in associates and joint ventures) and deferred tax assets. FribBtE Rr RAERE ) REEHIEE
&= o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 DEEHR(HF)
(b) Assets and liabilities (continued) (b) EEREE (])

Note: (continued)

Reconciliation of segment assets and liabilities to total assets and liabilities is provided
as follows:

Segment assets NEEE
Prepaid tax SEINE 5

ADERITEFER S

Unallocated bank balances and cash

Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E
Other unallocated assets Hih R BLEE
Total assets BwEE
Segment liabilities NEBE
Current income tax liabilities EHMEHRAE
Bank and other borrowings IRIT R EABIE R
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE
Other unallocated liabilities HEHtARDEEE
Total liabilities ®warm

(c) Geographical information

The Group's operations in construction and engineering businesses are
mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Macau and Australia.
Property investment businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong,
Mainland China, Canada and Singapore. Property development and
operations businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland China
and Canada. Healthcare investment businesses are carried out in Hong
Kong and the US. Car dealership businesses are carried out in Mainland
China and Canada. Other businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong,
the US and Thailand.

The associates’ and joint ventures’ operations in construction and
engineering business are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland China,
Singapore and Macau. Property development and operations businesses are
mainly carried out in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Healthcare investment
businesses are carried out in the US. Car dealership businesses are carried
out in Mainland China. Other businesses are mainly carried out in Hong
Kong, Macau and Australia.

M ()

DREENRBEEGEERBEZHRNT

2020 2019
—EBC-EF —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT 5 BT
15,511,164 16,679,920
31,221 23,069
1,442,401 351,116
45,102 29,916
9,330 9,330
17,039,218 17,093,351
3,542,211 3,233,033
54,980 66,276
3,368,067 3,740,210
340,885 362,864
50,004 48,895
7,356,147 7451,278

(c) HHEEHR

REFFERBMITIZEBTEECEE
hBIA  RFISORIMNENR - MEREX
BEEETE - PEAM - IR RN
BEE - MEBRRIEEXBIEESR
B hEAEINEREE - RIEEERR
BEBERENEBEEE - AEREER
R BN R NEAGERF o EtEBRE
BHEEE  EHREEEE -

BENRRAE R BERKMTIZE
BEXEEDE - PEAM - Fons kR
B MEERLEEXBIBZCRENR
PERMEE - RIZERRERGHEXE
EE o AERIEEBETEAMEE - B
MEBATEEEE RFIRMELE -

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR
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r e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-_TF=-A=1+—HILLFE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c) Geographical information (continued)

6 2EEHR (H)
(c) HEEH ()

Segment revenue by geographical areas

Hong Kong B
Mainland China R EIAH,
The US £
Macau B
Canada mex
Singapore g
Australia B
Thailand ZH
Others o

BHEEHAZABHA
Company  Associates Company Associates
and and joint 2020 and and joint
subsidiaries ventures Total subsidiaries res
AAAR BELTR It 12 &
HEAR RELE ag i AE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BETTL BT
2,370,541 673,503 3,044,044 34 2,809,371 905,084' 3,714,455 39
1,678,613 1,330,830 3,009,443 34 2,115,216 1,284,521 3,399,737 36
1,089,123 119,360 1,208,483 14 981,846 122,669 1,104,515 n
746,771 13,628 760,399 8 418,897 34,261 453,158 5
386,442 - 386,442 4 390,443 - 390,443 4
12,370 342,341 354,711 4 12,101 295,666 307767 3
40,11 25914 66,025 1 110,968 27938 138,906 1
57291 - 57291 1 53,872 - 53,872 1
- 20,136 20,136 - - 436 436 -
6,381,262 2,525,712 8,906,974 100 6,892,714 2,670,575 9,563,289 100

' The proportionate revenue from a joint venture is eliminated.

The Group maintains a healthy and balanced portfolio of customers. No
customer is accounted for 10% or more of the total revenue of the Group

for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The following is an analysis of the carrying amounts of non-current assets
other than financial instruments (including interests in associates and joint
ventures) and deferred tax assets analysed by geographical areas:

Hong Kong
Mainland China
The US
Singapore
Canada

Macau
Thailand
Others

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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oo

AT AERMETA(BREMAEEE AR R
BEMEZER) MRERIAEEUIME

e E D 2 IERENE ERREE DT
Non-current assets
FRBEE

2020 2019
ft g 23 —ZE-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
3,191,789 3,462,181
2,065,937 1,988,859
1,743,642 2,021,488
424,834 475,082
207,085 215,542
48,067 48,814
8,019 8,171
122 348
7,689,495 8,220,485




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 DEEHR(HF)
(d) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers (d) BRFEHNEBNEERARE
The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities related to AEBEBRAUTHESENBERANEER
contracts with customers: afE
31 March 31 March
2020
et el 223
=H=+—8~ up
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Contract assets BHEE
— construction and engineering — BRI TR 79,635 61,702
Contract liabilities AHatE
— construction and engineering — BRI TE 33,310 5,075
— property development and operations — MEERREE 156,351 43,809
— healthcare investment — (RIEERINE 5,699 5,700
— car dealership — AENE 26,040 24,804
- others — HAfth 11,994 18,043
233,394 97431
Contract assets have increased as the Group has performed more BHEERNRRARAEBREL R 5
construction and engineering works ahead of the certified progress by B EER M REEE R I TR EE R
customers and/or their consultants. IAE °
Contract liabilities from property development and operations have REMEREREEZAHABEIEMNES
increased due to more pre-sale of residential properties in Changchun. REENEEMERERS -
(e) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (e) MEHNEBBZERIAWA
The following table shows the amount of the revenue recognised in the TREFFIRARE BB R A B E )
current reporting period relates to contract liability balance at the beginning EHBERBERAENSEREN BT ERE
of the year and the amount relates to performance obligations that were BITHRBRARMEENSE

satisfied in previous period:

2020 2019
—g-%x e N

HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BT

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract 5t AFHIE LB E#4EE 2 ERERUA
liability balance at the beginning of the year

— construction and engineering — BERMMIRE 4,063 6,015
— property development and operations — MEERNEE 36,479 67413
— healthcare investment — RIEFEREZE 5,012 4,166
— car dealership — RERE 24,804 24,008
- others — Htth 17,318 10,732

87,676 112,334

Revenue recognised from performance obligations RARNBEBRREETT S BITHEL
satisfied/partially satisfied in previous period B2 BERWA
— construction and engineering — BEREMRIRE 175,346 57140

HEEBEEARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-Z-RF=A=t+—HILFE
6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Unsatisfied performance obligations

The following table shows the amount unsatisfied performance obligations
resulting from construction and engineering for contracts with an original
expected duration of one year or more:

BN —FRER
TEHIA —F 1R R

Expected to be recognised within one year
Expected to be recognised after one year

For all other contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less
or are billed based on time incurred, as permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

(g) Assets recognised from costs to fulfill a contract

As at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, there is no asset recognised from
costs to fulfill a contract.

7 REVENUE

Revenue represents amounts received and WASERBUATEIEZ
receivable from: B R EWGRIA

Construction and installation contracts BRERELZEEL

Sale of information technology equipment, BARHERRE - RE REAM
motor vehicles and others ZIHE

Senior housing operations LEREEE

Sales and leasing of properties MEHEREE

Warehouse and logistics services B E R RS

Maintenance and property management services  {R& K% E 2 RS

Hotel operations I A E

Insurance premium R %

Interest income from investments RERE ZFEWA

Dividend income from investments REKE ZIREWA

Leasing of vehicles and equipment AEREBEEE

Total revenue (note 6) A (FizEe)

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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6

7

2 EEN (&)

(f) MARBEITHENEE

TEREYIRBHMR S —FHMIA LS
B REREM TREENHRETRL

LGRS
2020 2019
e e
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT
3,540,139 3,348,254
915,221 2,536,307
4,455,360 5,884,561

[RIEHER A —FHS —F AR E
il & KISAR IR B AL RS R AT AR BV BR0E - 1R
BEERBHBMELREGHR  DEEZ
SRR A HIHI R 5 (B A MMEEE -

(9) ARRENMERFEAZEE

RZBZZF=A=+—BRZZ—IF
ZA=1+—B  XERTRANMERAR

WERZEE -

A

2020
—2-%F

HK$°000
BT T

2019
—ZE-hEF
HK$'000
BT IT

2,258,602 2,605,795
1,970,771 2,233,628
844,970 743,018
284,748 437519
377,819 372,176
401,017 392,207
50,485 50,146
159,535 133,413
16,633 13,040
4,720 2,655
11,962 9,217
6,381,262 6,892,714




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8 OTHER INCOME, NET

(Loss)/gain on investments at fair value through
profit or loss

Gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments

Sales and marketing services income from an
associate (note 46)

Management fee income from an associate and
joint ventures (note 46)

Other investment gain

Others

9 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

(Decrease)/increase in fair value of investment
properties (note 15)
Remeasurement gain on transfer from properties
for sale to investment properties (note 15)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Loss on disposal of investment property
Provision recognised on trade and other debtors
Loss on disposal of an associate
Impairment loss on properties for sale
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 17)
Exchange gain/(loss)

Gain on disposals of subsidiaries

Gain on disposals of
— Moon Colour Group (note 39(b)(ii)
— New Rise (note 39(b)(iii))
—Jumbo Rainbow Group (note 39(b)(iv))
— other subsidiaries

8 HfblgA -

BAREYABRREZIERN
(B1]) e

PTHEPBT A2 WS/ (E18)

KE—RBE AT ZHE RS
HERBUA (HFE46)

RN R ALY
ERBEIWA (FiFE46)

HAbiE W

Hith

9 Htb(Fi8) Wi

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

R

zozo 2019
—ECEF —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(32,357) 887
224 (590)
33,922 31,901
21,308 22,936

= 2,263

22,770 10,930
45,867 68,327

R

zozo 2019
—EBCEH —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
BEMEZ DARBECRD) /1B
(Mf7E15) (24,937) 166,406
MESENMEBRIREMEY
BIETE e (MiEE15) - 25,838
HENE  BEEEEZ (BB) kS
(6,654) 105
HEREYEZEE (320) -
BHERE S R EM IR B (9,155) (4,999)
HE e A E 2 &8 (1,119) -
HFEMENRERE (10,304) -
R 2 REEE (Wi 17) (4,381) -
0 5 as (E518) 8,885 (4,950)
(47,985) 182,400
HEMHB QWS
zozo 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
HETHIREZ WS
— Moon Colour & & (Fff &£ 39(b)(ii)) 166,747 -
— 7 (B 5E 39(b) i) 38,680 -
— Jumbo Rainbow & & (FftF 39(b)(iv)) 74,251 -
— BB AR = 231
279,678 231
HIEBREEBRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e R AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-_TF=-A=1+—HILLFE

10 FINANCE COSTS, NET 10 &R FH
2020 2019
—ECEF —ZNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Interest expenses on lease liabilities, bank HEaE  RITBEXRETK
overdrafts and bank and other borrowings EAbfERMF B T 153,900 142,500
Less: Amounts capitalised to properties under A BERERPYE L &8 ()
development (note) (40,555) (19,261)
113,345 123,239
Less: Interest income from bank deposits, A AELER B E QT
a joint venture and an associate IE RITIF BT A (60,167) (43,216)
53,178 80,023
Note: BsE -
The capitalisation rate applied to funds borrowed and used for the development of FERARRERERIEAIEMEEREZESNERNE
properties was between 2.58% and 3.72% per annum (2019: between 1.6% and 3.0% per FERNF258% E3.72% (—TE—NF: FRNTF
annum). 1.6% Z3.0%) °
11 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 1 BRFLANEF
2020 2019
— ? — q:‘
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit before taxation has been arrived at after BREANEFEI0R(GTA) TFER -
charging/(crediting) the following:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W  BMEMREZITE
(note 16) (MH5E16) 166,869 137,290
Less: Amounts capitalised to contract work W BIEERNIRR S (3,026) (2,002)
163,843 135,288
Staff costs (note a) ST (fzta) 1,258,343 1,148,752
Less: Amounts capitalised to contract work B BIEERNIRRC 2 (206,070) (186,154)
1,052,273 962,598
Short term lease payments in respect of leasing of TAE A NEE 22 HHEHKIE
— premises (note b) — EF(MEb) 7,010 15,108
- equipment — B 2,354 2,832
9,364 17940
Auditors’ remuneration ZEENEN S
— audit services — ZER 15,384 14,115
— non-audit services — JEZEURT 2,617 4,314
— under-provision in prior years — BAFERETR 728 470
18,729 18,899
Amortisation of other intangible assets (note 18)  EMERE ARG (FiFE18) 26,898 18,985
Provision for inventories to net realisable value, net TF &&= a] #I3F(H - jF58 2,642 1,225
Provision recognised on trade and other debtors, net DR E 5 K b EIERR 2 B - 55 9,155 4,999
Gross rental income of HK$155,448,000 YIS BB S 155,448,000 7T
(2019: HK$156,322,000) from properties (ZZE—N4F : 8% 156,322,0007T)
less direct operating expenses (note c) BB E T (aEc) (130,854) (134,479)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a) Details of Directors’ emoluments included in staff costs are disclosed in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Included in staff costs are amounts of HK$836,000 (2019: HK$1,244,000) in respect
of termination benefits made to staff and HK$29,671,000 (2019: HK$35,509,000) in
respect of contributions to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes, net of
forfeited contributions.

(b) For the year ended 31 March 2020, no contingent rental is included in operating lease
payments in respect of leasing of premises.

(¢) Included in rental income is an amount of HK$6,249,000 (2019: HK$6,802,000) less
outgoings of HK$967,000 (2019: HK$895,000) from a joint operation. Included in
rental income is a gross amount of HK$147710,000 (2019: HK$147924,000) derived
from investment properties less direct operating expenses of HK$24,349,000 (2019:
HK$21,638,000).

12 TAXATION

Current tax REERIR

Hong Kong B

Mainland China AR A

Overseas SN

Over provision in prior years BAFEREEE
Deferred tax RAERIR

Origination and reversal of temporary differences M= & 7 E A4 K [0]#

(note 38) (KizE38)

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profits. Taxation on Mainland China and overseas profits
has been calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year at the
rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Details of deferred taxation are disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

11 BRBLATER ()

MRE -

() EFHECBREERIRXAN  HF#FESS
BITS SRR M T 41 TR -

BIMYEERE TIEL 2 EAKILER B
836,000 T ( = F — JL4F : A% 1,244,0007T)
R BB B8 W3R 2 FE H FOR KR Fl &t
BT B 29,671,00070 (=T — NG - B
35,509,0007T) °

b) BE-ZT-_ZTF=A=+—HILFE  HEE
FrEENEERTREAAES -

() AR ABER—HeEEERmMzAeB
#6,249,000 7T ( = F — L F : A %6,802,000
7L ) 2 B #967000 T ( —E— L E B
#895,0007T) c HE WA BIEREIREY
Z B e WA B E147710,000( ZF — 1
F ¢ B#5147924,000 7T ) L E B A & S A
23,349,00070 ( = F — AL 4F : ¥ 21,638,000

JL) °
12 $iE
2020 2019
—s-3H —ThE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
49,885 52,652
25,205 20,046
23,342 25,926
(1,129) (8,366)
97,303 90,158
(21,602) 50,322
75,701 140,480

BEBENER B A ERT G AR H X
16.5% (ZZF—LF : 16.56%) 5t & - FE QK
o N 8 SN g B ER R T 1R F e 5T HE SR B s
KA EESEEEATERR 2 RITHEE -

IEIETEIA 2 FH BRI TS RR M RE 38 N HK

= o

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR

139



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

12 TAXATION (CONTINUED)

12 B8 (4§)

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per

consolidated income statement as follows:

fRAUER AR AR R EAFEHIA 2 H
SHEAT

2020 2019
—s-%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Profit before taxation BR A BT v ) 643,141 839,882
Adjusted for: PE
Share of results of associates FrihEs & AR ZEE (150,965) (125,003)
Share of results of joint ventures Frih&EhEEE (840) (171,448)
491,336 543,431
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% B AT E 16.5%
(2019: 16.5%) (ZZE—NF 1 1656%) T EZHE 81,070 89,666
Effect of different tax rates on subsidiaries TEMBEERELSE ZWEAR]
operating in other jurisdictions AFEATRARE 8 (13,218) (1,876)
Changes in applicable tax rates MR R E (1,003) 345
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR 2 B E 7154 12,798
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBRBAZ HIETE (54,530) (24,994)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RTHERBIEE B 2 HIBTE 34,834 40,609
Tax effect of deductible temporary difference RTPERTINHLHEER
not recognised ZIIERE 19,865 27515
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses and deductible EhF@A K FHERZ BEEE L
temporary difference not previously recognised AR EREERE 2 RIAFE (8,876) (12,610)
Overprovision in prior years BEFE B (1,082) (8,366)
Others Hit 11,487 17.393
Taxation for the year FEMIEA 75,701 140,480

13 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to
shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year ended 31 March 2020.

13 SREF
B YIREA A ABREE R PR AR
E-ToE=A={-BILEEMDRT
B TR

)

2020 2019
—B-%F

—ET—hF
HK$'000
ST IT

HK$°000
BT T

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company 7N &A% B FEA5 % ] 533,081 654,561

BEEITE BB T

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in

issue ('000 shares)

Basic and diluted earnings per share (HK$)

(TR0

BRERREEERT (B)

There were no potential diluted ordinary shares in existence for the years ended

31 March 2020 and 2019.

301,928

301,928

1.77

2.17

I FEREEEESER

B2 -_ZFR-_FT—NF=-A=+—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020

14 DIVIDENDS

Interim dividend of HK$0.20 (2019: HK$0.15)
per share paid

Final dividend of HK$0.32 (2019: HK$0.35)
per share proposed

Bk R B EREK0.20T

Final dividend of HK$0.32 per share totaling HK$96,617,000 has been
proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The amount will be reflected as an
appropriation of retained profits for the year ending 31 March 2021.

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

HE-_Z-_TF=-A=+—HILFE

14 R

2020
—Z= $

HK$°000
BT T

2019
—hE
HK$'000
BT

(ZB—h%F : B¥0157T) 60,386 45,289
BORAREARR B FRE ¥ 0.32 7T
(ZZ—N4F : B¥0.357T) 96,617 105,675
157,003 150,964
FEERMEAERESREL032TT AEB
#96,6170007T + HEFAIH B 2 KRR B

FRE LERERMEE - FAEE - 288
REE-_ZE-—F=ZA=1+—HIFEIE

R DK ©

15 REYHE

2020 2019

—E-TF —T—hF

HK$°000 HK$'OOO

BT BT

At beginning of the year F1) 3,769,835 3,791,245

Exchange realignment BE 2 (107,863) (90,127)

Disposal of a subsidiary & E AR (205,000) -

Disposal & (611) -

Addition NE 470 -

Transfer from properties for sale HEAFEmE - 21,037

Transfer from property, plant and equipment HEBYE - KEREE - 1,436

Transfer to assets held-forsale (note 47) BEREERBELEEE (M:147) - (146,000)

(Decrease)/increase in fair value (note 9) DARAECHD), /180 (K3E9) (24,937) 166,406
Remeasurement gain on transfer from properties ~ HFEYEE AREWE L

for sale to investment properties (note 9) |HrEE (HE9) = 25,838

At end of the year FR 3,431,894 3,769,835

The Group’s investment properties at their carrying values are analysed as
follows:

Hong Kong

On long-term leases (over 50 years)

On medium-term leases (10 to 50 years)
Mainland China and overseas

Freehold

On long-term leases (over 50 years)

On medium-term leases (10 to 50 years)

AEE 2 REYEIZRREZDTNAT

zozo 2019
- ? - $
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
BB
REAA (A+F U L) - 205,000
FEIRRA (tERTF) 1,864,476 1,864,477
B A D K2 AN
KA FERE 505,747 562,329
RHES(A+FEAL) 969,337 1,038,918
FEIRN (tERTF) 92,334 99,111
3,431,894 3,769,835
HIEBREEBRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_T-_TF=RA=1+—HIEFE

N e (g
15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15 REWE (&)

Notes: Bf5E

(a) The fair value of the Group'’s investment properties in Hong Kong, Mainland China and (a) ANEBMNRES - FERMEEINZIEEE
overseas as at 31 March 2020 had been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out RZE_ZEF=ZA=+—HZARENRES
on that date by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Limited, which is an independent firm EHHATABERAR (LABLE ERTHE
of qualified valuers having appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation 1 UREBEEFETYEGEZABRE
of properties in the relevant locations. The valuation, which conforms to the HKIS BRER) RZRET 2 HEREEMSE - Z
Valuation Standards on Properties published by HKIS, was arrived at with reference HEDETESIEMBSHBRHGIEERE
to market evidence of transaction prices of similar properties or calculated on the net MEeyEHELEATE2BmS EEUME
income allowing for reversionary potential. For all investment properties, their current ZRBEBE - FIRBAFEE - Wt Rk
use equates to the highest and best use. BEN - ShrBIREMENS HBAARSE

RESSMEERR -

(b) Investment properties in Hong Kong with a total carrying value of HK$67,667,000 (2019: (b) MBS ZIEYH 2 REAEEE67667000

HK$67,667,000) represented the Group's share of interest in a joint operation. TL(ZZT— NG : B#676670007T) BAREE
Fiih—faEEeE 2l -

(c) Charges were created on the investment properties with a total carrying value of (c) BRMI#A{EE%1,293,680,000L(=F—hF :
HK$1,293,580,000 (2019: HK$1,521,169,000) for the purpose of securing banking 7 1,621,169,000 70 ) 2 B W) K E AR -
facilities granted to the Group. ERBRTARERITEEZER -

(d) Valuation of investment properties d ®EWMFEZEE
The following table presents the changes in level 3 fair value hierarchy of investment TREFNE=ZRANERBENRENMERE
properties for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019: ToRER T -NFEZA=FTHILFEZ

28 ;

Commercial properties Residential properties Industrial properties
BRNE TENE IXNE
Mainland Mainland
Hong Kong China Overseas  Hong Kong China  Hong Kong Overseas
S HER B 1 HERE 2 b2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BRI ARTT RYTT ART T BRI ARTT BT

At 1 April 2019 RZZ-NENA-R 463,117 71,861 36,455 244,315 1,028,242 1,362,046 563,799 3,769,835
Exchange realignment ER A% - (4,913) (2,294) - (70,307) - (30,349) (107863)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-RHHBAE - - - - - (205,000) - (205,000)
Disposal hE - - - - - - (611) (611)
Addition HE = - - - - - 470 470
Decrease in fair value [note 9) RAERD (i) - - - - - - (24,937) (24,937)
At 31 March 2020 RZE-55=f=1-H 463,117 66,948 34,161 244,315 957935 1,157,046 508,372 3,431,894

Residential properties Industrial properties
Ix
Mainland
Overseas China Hong Kong Overseas
i3] 7 eI i 8
HK$'00 K$' HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BRI T AETT AT
At 1 April 2018 RZ5-N\FMA-A 453,127 28,250 34290 232,270 1,060,887 1,439,685 542,736 3,791,245
Exchange realignment EH A% - (4,808) (1,178) - (67897) - 16,244) 90,127)
Transfer from properties for sale BReGENZ - 21,037 - - - - - 21,037
Transfer from property, plant BRENE  BERRE
and equipment - - - - - 1,436 - 1,436
Transfer to assets held-orsale BRERELEEE
(note 47) (Hisk47) - - - - - (146,000 - (146,000)
Increase in fair value note 9) DR EEM(FEE) 9,990 1,544 3,343 12,045 35,252 66,925 37307 166,406
Remeasurement gain on transfer AEENEEARAE
from properties for sale to ZERiT R (i)
investment properties (note 9) - 25,838 - - - - - 25,838
At 31 March 2019 RZF-NE=A=t-H 463117 71,861 36,455 244,315 1,028,242 1,362,046 563,799 3,769,835
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(d)

(continued)

The Group includes a team that reviews the valuations performed by the independent
valuer for financial reporting purposes and reports directly to the senior management.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the senior
management and valuers at least once every six months, in line with the Group's
interim and annual reporting dates.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group:

e verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report;

e assesses property valuation movements when compared to the prior year
valuation reports; and

e holds discussions with the independent valuers.

Fair values of commercial, residential and industrial properties in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and overseas are generally derived using the direct comparison method and
wherever appropriate, by the income capitalisation method. Direct comparison method
is based on comparing the property to be valued directly with other comparable
properties, which have recently transacted. However, given the heterogeneous nature
of real estate properties, appropriate adjustments are usually required to allow for any
qualitative differences that may affect the price likely to be achieved by the property
under consideration. Income capitalisation method is based on the capitalisation of the
net income and reversionary income potential by adopting appropriate capitalisation
rates, which are derived from analysis of sale transactions and valuers’ interpretation of
prevailing investor requirements or expectations. The prevailing market rents adopted
in the valuation have reference to recent lettings, within the subject properties and
other comparable properties.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.
Significant unobservable inputs used to determine fair values

Prevailing market rents are estimated based on recent lettings for investment
properties, within the subject properties and other comparable properties. The lower
the rents, the lower the fair values.

Prevailing market rents used in the income capitalisation method:

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

15 REYE (&)

st - ()

(d)

(#)

FEEBEHEM BB LT HMRERERER D
FrEfaEZ B - BZEBRERRRSRERA
BRE - aREBAEELENER (BAEE
PEIRFEERE BB SRR EET R
EBRERAER®

RERESHR - ALE

e REUBUMERSHAAEEARBAL
%

o FHEMEMEEE LEEEERSE LR
28 &

o SEBTIERPETH S -

&t FEPREINEA  EERIENE
2 Aa E—RIRAEE L EOE - RANER R
Y BAMLI AR BB « BB LBURTIER
W (18 2 R BB 52 5 2 HA A BAL
WRIEEELE - AT - EREHRENEZS
BICIEE  BRAREATEYSEBETH
W 2 Bk E FE RN EEBE - K
EAMOEDENBBRAEE 2 ENMCE -
A FERIRAEREN T AR - A
AMEE TIRBE HE R 52 S AFEDLE
BRAEZ ERAMBNBEMGL - EfHE
hIRA 2 WIS S RBHEMER A
AR 2B RERTET -

HETTERFRIL
EERANBEEZEXRT A BEHALE

RS HEEDERBREYE  NEIHEN
MEREMAHEBMERNZ ROHEABR
flist o MEHIE - BIR A EBIE -

RRAWEEMETENRITTSHES

e
— REE (S AGEIK [FIKD)

Residential properties
— Mainland China (per square meter (“sg. m.”)
per month)

[ElEEES

Commercial properties
— Overseas (per square feet (“sq. ft.") per month)

Capitalisation rates are estimated by valuers based on the risk profile of the investment
properties being valued. The higher the rates, the lower the fair values.

Capitalisation rates used in the income capitalisation method:

—BINEBRAEFIRIFIRD

HK$148 to HK$154 to
HK$872 HK$911
BH148 T B4 TTE
EBH8I2 T B9 I
N/A HK$33

TEA ¥ 33T

AR R AFEMERAHEZRENEZ
BRI AR o LRS- AR EBIE -

RAWGEEARMEIENEAER -

Residential properties EEWHE

— Mainland China — HERAM
Commercial properties [EhikIES

— Overseas R EL

Comparing price per sq. ft. or per sq. m. with other recently transacted comparable
properties formed the inputs under direct comparison method, which is in average of
approximately amounted to HK$10,100 per sq. ft., HK$18,800 per sg. m., HK$15,000
per sq. ft. and HK$6,100 per sq. ft. (2019: HK$10,100 per sq. ft., HK$18,800 per sq.
m., HK$15,000 per sq. ft. and HK$6,100 per sq. ft.) for commercial properties in Hong
Kong and Mainland China, residential properties in Hong Kong and industrial properties
in Hong Kong respectively as at 31 March 2020.

2.0% to 6.0% 2.0% t0 6.0%
N/A 6%
A

M AT LR ENEF ARG F 5 KA
MR PEREREELEBETHHASE - R
—E-TE- A=+ —-AEFERTENER
M- BBEEMERBEETIENEZEBET
HEH B AFFHREE 10,100 - FFH
K% 18,8007t ~ BT WHE 15,000 T K&
FHREEE,100TT (ZE—NEF  FFAHRE
#10,1007C « FF 5 KE# 18,8007 ~ BFH
IR 15,000 7T R & F 5 RE# 6,100 7T) ©

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_T-_TF=RA=1+—HIEFE

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost or valuation HARGEE
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\F=A=+-H
Exchange realignment 3
Acquisition of senior housing properties  WEZ R ENE
note 39(b)i) (F5 39(b)1h)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAR
Additions AE
Disposals e
Reclassifications EXiprs]
Change in fair value DREE
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=R=1-H
Impact on initial adoption of HKFRS16 & RFMEREH
REEZ 165
ga
Restated at 1 April 2019 RZZ-NENA-REE
Exchange realignment ERRE
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—-EHEAR
Additions E
Disposals e
Reclassffications BE
Transfer to assets held-orsale (note 47)  BEEH{EHEBE (HzE47)
Change in fair value DRES
At 31 March 2020 RZBZZF=F=1-H

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

Cold storage
warehouse

€A

REER
HK$'000

BRI

Hotel
properties

VIES
HKS 000

ET7

16 ¥ - BERRA
Fumiture,
fixtures,
Plant, office
machinery  equipment
Other Staff and  andmotor Right-of-use
properties quarters  equipment vehicles assets
i 3-
BE #E HBOERB
% BIES SEL] RRE  KREEE a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRI 7 L BRI BT AR
(note c)
(RizEc)

239,038 147932 2,693,280 5,300 123023 387983 - 3,596,556
- 4,257) 26,204) - (3613) (4,340) - (38414)

- - 445,351 - - 13,289 - 458,640

- - 4 - - - - 4

- 116 14,306 - 19,720 60,594 - 94,736

- - 75) - 26,878) (12,342) - (39,295)

- - (1,515) - - (31) - (1,546)

- - 1,287 160 - - - 1447
239,038 143,791 3,126,474 5,460 112,252 445,153 - 4,072,168
(176,889) (7927)  (1,425,910) (5,460) (243) (2717) 1,679,025 59,879
62,149 135,864 1,700,564 - 112,009 442,436 1,679,025 4,132,047
= (7884) (30,390) = (7781) (3,250) (23,585) (72,890)

- - - - - (54) - (54)

= = = = 1,322 - - 1322

= 7 15,883 - 13,361 91578 56,758 177,652

= = (26,462) = (19,190) (29,873) - (75,525)

= = - = (10,267) 10,267 = =

= - (135485) = 77 (37,740) - (1713,148)

- - - - - - (50) (50)
62,149 128,052 1,524,110 - 89,531 473364 1,712,148 3,989,354



Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
At 31 March 2018
Exchange realignment
Charged for the year (note 11)
Disposals
Reclassifications
Change in fair value

At 31 March 2019
Impact on initial adoption
of HKFRS16

Restated at 1 April 2019
Exchange realignment
Charged for the year (note 11)
Disposal of subsidiaries
Disposals

Transfer to assets held-forsale (note 47)

Reclassifications
Change in fair value

At 31 March 2020

Carrying value
At 31 March 2020

At 31 March 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EHERAE

R-Z-\E=F=1-H
ExHAE

ERIE (M)

e

L]

MERD

R-Z-NE=F=1-H
ERRIEBHE
HEERE 6%
a7 |

A-E-NFRA-REE
Exae

FEFE (1)
HEHELA

e

BRERAERE (M)
858

MhERY

iy

REE
W-Z2-FF=/=+-A

R-F-NE=R=1-H

Cold storage
warehouse

€A

REER
HK$'000

BRI

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Hotel
properties

VIES
HKS 000

ET7

Other
properties

EULES
HKS000

S

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE-T-ZF=-A=+—HLFE

16 Y3 - BERRE (&)

Staff
quarters

SIFE
HK$ 000

(note ¢)
(FirzEc)

Plant,
machinery
and
equipment

HE - #3
BB
HKS'000

Furniture,
fixtures,
office
equipment
and motor
vehicles
Gl 2B
BAERE
RAE
HK$'000
BB

Right-of-use
assets

fERRLE
HK$'000

5
HK$'000

99,020 66,522 288,906 - 69,788 288,582 - 811,818

- (1,608) (2,009) - (954) (2593) - (7164)

6,125 1,884 86,084 181 15,214 21802 - 137290

- - (75) - (22,394) (8,343 - (30,812)

- - (79) - - (29) - (108)

- - - (181) - - - (181)

105,145 65,798 312,821 - 61,654 305,419 - 910,843

(77807) (7564)  (183,988) = (191) (1,030) 254,072 (16,508)

21338 58,234 188,839 - 61,463 304,389 254,072 894,335

= (3,356) (4,267) - (4,845) (6,170) (2,567) (21,205)

3,238 1,796 49,134 - 10,005 40,726 61,970 166,369

= = = = = (8 = (8

- - (996) - (10,414) (24,332) - (35,742)

- - (22,138) - - (27018) - (49,156)

- - - - (6,010) 6,010 - -

- - - - - - (193) (193)

30,576 56,674 210,572 = 50,199 293,597 313,282 954,900

31,573 318 1313538 - 39,332 179,767 1,398,866 3,034,454

133,893 77993 2,753,647 5,460 50,598 139,734 - 3,161,325
HtEBREERRAR

—T_TEER
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_T-_TF=RA=1+—HIEFE

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@) The carrying value of properties comprise:

16 Y3 - BB RRE (&)

o
@) 2 EEEDE -

2020
—EBCEHF

=—=

HK$'000
BETT

KAEELIWRERE E 28T
HELHRERE F 2T

Freehold land and buildings thereon
Leasehold land and buildings thereon

(b) Charges were created on the properties, plant and equipment with a total carrying
value of HK$1,319,599,000 (2019: HK$1,336,947,000) for the purpose of securing
banking facilities granted to the Group.

(c) Revaluation of staff quarters (and related right-of-use assets)

The Group had measured the staff quarters (and related right-of-use assets) under the
revaluation model. The fair value of staff quarters (and related right-of-use assets) as at
31 March 2020 had been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out on that date by
CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Limited, which is an independent firm of qualified valuers
having appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties in the
relevant locations. The valuation, which conforms to the HKIS Valuation Standards on
Properties published by HKIS, was arrived at with reference to market evidence of
transaction prices of similar properties.

Fair value of staff quarters (and related right-of-use assets) are generally derived using
the direct comparison method. Direct comparison method is based on comparing the
property to be valued directly with other comparable properties, which have recently
transacted. However, given the heterogeneous nature of real estate properties,
appropriate adjustments are usually required to allow for any qualitative differences
that may affect the price likely to be achieved by the property under consideration.

If the staff quarters (and related right-of-use assets) were measured under the cost
model, the carrying value would be as follows:

Cost B A
Accumulated depreciation REtITE
Carrying value SRE(E

17 GOODWILL

At beginning of the year F1)

Exchange realignment FE 5 F 8
Acquisition of a subsidiary g —FME QA
Impairment loss (note 9) REETE (I 9)

HEEHFELEEE (M7

Transfer to assets held-for-sale (note 47)

At end of the year FR

Details of the impairment assessment of goodwill are disclosed in note 40 to

the consolidated financial statements.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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1,164,135
1,651,220

1,356,114
1,614,879

2,815,355 2,970,993

(b) BEMAE{EHHE1,319,699,000 T (= F — L4 -
75 #51,336,9470007T) 2 W% - BERBHEDE
VR - (EARTASERITEE ZER -

(0 EfFETIE=(RAEREMBEEE)

AEECREGHEAGFERTHES (RAREA
REE) - BIESR (RAAMEREEE) N %
—EEZ A=t —RZARETREET L

FHEBR AR (WAL A EARRT AT - W
ERREGETHELELABERRER)
REZRET 2 EEMSH - ZHEEDETES
BIEMBEMRMmZEBABMBESYEMLE
R B LRTIG ERUME 2 ZHESE -

BIEE (RABERREE) 2 ARE—RKE
RERLBETESH - ERLEORDAERNE
BHEZMEARAGR S EMb ] HLRY
EEEBRLLE - R - ERFEHENEZ SR
EME  BREAREMIEZEERETOY
EFmEZBRMEREREHEERE

fEARAEAGBR THEE (RAREREER
&) AIfREENT :

2020 2019
e il —FNE
HK$°000 HK$'000
HMEF T BT T
165 165
(154) (143)
1 22

17 &8
2020 2019
—B=%F —T-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
684,138 681,839
(7,766) -
1,427 2,299
(4,381) -
(29,439) -
643,979 684,138

AR 7 BEF B EBERGRE BRI
540 °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

18 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 HithBFEE
Cold storage
Roads, and public
drainage and bonded
waterworks warehouse Lease-in-
license licenses place
EE R RERE
Rk RAR
IEMR REEEER BEHE Hity k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BB BT BEFT
Cost B
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-N\FZA=1-H 26,534 3,000 34,805 16,113 80,452
Exchange realignment B H A - - 64 (283) (219)
Acquisition of senior housing properties WL EREE
(note 39(b)(i)) (FEE39(b))) - - 50,960 - 50,960
Additions NE - - - 18 118
Disposal HE - - - (208) (208)
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-NE=A=+-A 26,534 3,000 85,829 15,740 131,103
Exchange realignment B H A - - (1,093) (257) (1,350)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-RREAR - - - 123 123
Additions NE - - - 20 20
At 31 March 2020 RIZZZE=A=1—H 26,534 3,000 84,736 15,626 129,896

Accumulated amortisation and impairment  RiH## R {E

At 31 March 2018 RZZ-\E=A=+-A 26,534 3,000 13,056 6,510 49,100
Exchange realignment B H A - - 24 (321) (297)
Charged for the year (note 11) FEMEEN) - - 18,883 102 18,985
Disposal HE - - - (206) (206)
At 31 March 2019 R-E-AFZA=1—H 26,534 3,000 31,963 6,085 67582
Exchange realignment R AR - - (612) (246) (858)
Charged for the year (note 11) FEHEFIEN) - - 26,732 166 26,898
Disposal HE - - (12) - (12)
At 31 March 2020 WZZEZZ2F=A=1—H 26,534 3,000 58,071 6,005 93,610
Carrying value FHEE
At 31 March 2020 R-E-TFZF=1—H - - 26,665 9,621 36,286
At 31 March 2019 R-E-AFZA=1—H - - 53,866 9,655 63521

HEEBEEARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e R AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2020

EE

TERCRFE=A=+-HIEFE

18 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Other intangible assets (other than roads, drainage and waterworks license
("License")) are amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of following
estimated useful lives or license period:

Cold storage and public bonded warehouse licenses 10 years
Lease-in-place 3 years

The Directors are of the opinion that the upkeep of this License is at minimal
cost and the Group would renew this License continuously. This License is
considered by the management of the Group as having an indefinite useful life
and will not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite upon
reassessment of its useful life annually by the management of the Group. The
amount was fully provided in prior year.

The lease-in-place of senior housing business was purchased as part of
business combination. The lease-in-place is considered by the management of

18 H B EE (&)

Hib B EE (FRESK - R MoKE T2 R
(Mhe8R 1) S0 ThABE ORI T AT AT R 4

HASK MR PR EARN B P 2 B B T Y
REREMARRTERR +F
RERE =%

EERA BREUERBRERAERE  #A
%@W@%%%KT%E% REBEEIEE
RAUERAFERATEBFLS S TE
W BEEEARETEEREAERSF
HEgFEMTMmE  BEETERFHER
Rl eREERBEFEREG R -

REGEEB 2 RERETEREBAH —
MOMBA - AEBEEEERRAFHEHEZ

the Group as having finite lives of 3 years. The lease-in-place will be tested for
impairment whenever there is an indication that is may be impaired particulars
of impairment testing are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial

statements.

19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Non-current: JEmED

Interests in associates, including goodwill /NG

Amount due from an associate (note b) i3 edinlik
Current: nE

Amounts due from associates (note b) JE Ui B N R BR 3K

The movements in the Group’s interests in associates during the year are
analysed as follows:

At beginning of the year F7)
Exchange realignment BE 2
Disposals e
Share of results Fih 45
Dividends 85\
At end of the year FR

1 4 8 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

BRAMERFHR=F-
KA AL LI E R ETRERR -

BEHE/RRED

B

BIAFHEER R A M A HTRE 40 ©

19 BE QT 2 ER

2020
== ﬂ:_

HK$°000
BT T

2019
—hE
HK$'000
BETT

495,671 471,732

2,081 2,720

497,752 474,452

20,971 18,371
REBRFERFREHE AT ZEZESH 2D

Wanr -

zozo 2019

—ECEF — e

HK$'000 HK$’OOO

BETT BT T

471,732 468,725

(14,096) (12,051)

(1,322) (49)

150,965 125,003

(111,608) (109,896)

495,671 471,732




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

(c)

Particulars regarding the principal associates as at 31 March 2020 were set out in note
51 to the consolidated financial statements.

Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand,
except for the balance of HK$3,469,000 (2019: HK$3,407,000) which bears interest at
8% per annum.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from associates under current assets
approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from associates are denominated in Hong Kong
dollar.

Chevalier (HK) Limited and its subsidiaries (together, “CHK Group”), Toshiba Elevator
(China) Co., Ltd. (“TCE") and Toshiba Elevator (Shenyang) Co., Ltd. (“STE") which have
a similar risk profile, are engaged in similar business activities and related to each other
which, in the opinion of the Directors, are material to the Group. Set out below is the
summarised financial information for CHK Group, TCE and STE. CHK Group, TCE and
STE are engaged in the manufacturing, marketing, installation, repair and maintenance
of the lift and escalator business and are accounted for using equity method.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

Non-current assets FERBEE
Current TE
Assets AE
Liabilities Bf&
Net current assets MEEEFE
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Net assets EEFE

Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

19 BE QR 2R ()

MRE -

a)

(c)

RoBoBE=A=+—AREEWELAL
AR EMAGA BRI 51 -

R HE & R R IR AR - 2B RAKRENR
B8 - B 3,469,000 7T (ZE—h4F : B
3,4070007C) Z RIEBRIN + ZRIBIR T F 8%
FTE e

MBEEIR T U A BB BRE(E A
RAEHEE °

FEUEE & R RIBRRZ REE T AB B ETHE -

HEL (FB)ARABRAMBLR (5 [EL+
TERE])  RZER(RBR)ARAR(RZ
BE(RE) ) RRZELCEG) ARAB (TR
SERORE) D) AEUREMR - (EEBEIZ
BWEBRFELHBERE  E5R5  HA
SEMEBEEN - UTHNELEEER R
SEB(PE) RRZEH OFB) 25 E T
EoHIAEBEE RZEB(FE)RRZE
BOBS) (BT R ERBRE - 2 &
B BERREES  AEREAR

HEMBRREBE

2020 2019

—B-ZF —TNF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T ST I

227,964 246,760

3,493,756 3,480,002

(2,582,569) (2,729,299)

911,187 750,703

(4,745) (1,129)

1,134,406 996,334
FEEERBERYE

H

Revenue WA

Profit before taxation FR A5 A& A
Taxation i

Profit for the year FEHF

Other comprehensive expenses for the year FEHMEBEZ
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZEWHAEHE
Dividends received from associates B NG [N

5,791,780 5,470,759
444,399 246,197
(37,936) (49,559)
406,463 196,638
(20,996) (14,083)
385,467 182,555
111,608 109,896
HtERERERAT

—TTEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e R AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-_ZEF=A=+—HIFE

19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

19 BPE QR 2

(&)

Notes: (continued) BT (48)
(c) (continued) © (8&)
Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income (continued) FEXEREREE (H)
The information above reflects the aggregated amounts as presented in the il E R R R A RIAR A BT IS IR RN 2R
consolidated financial statements of the associates, adjusted for differences in waEE - JhpL AN B BB E N RS BER R
accounting policies between the Group and the associates. The information above is EHFE o BiERTYR A BIFEEHAT 2 58 -
the amount before intercompany eliminations.
Reconciliation of summarised financial information PRERSEZHER
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying 25| ER B RmEE AR 2 ERRAE
amount of the interests in associates is provided as follows: ZEBRIIAT
2020
Z-EF
HK$ 000
BYTT
Net assets at beginning of the year, as previously FHZEERE W HEHN2R
reported 996,334 1,061,652
Impact of change in accounting policy BITHREEHTE - 640
Net assets at beginning of the year, restated FHzEEFE  KES| 996,334 1,062,292
Exchange realignment HE 3 A # (19,623) (24,235)
Profit attributable to shareholders PCER A8 ) 406,463 196,638
Other comprehensive expenses attributable IREEIEE A2
to shareholders (20,996) (14,083)
Dividends iEes8 (227,772) (224,278)
Net assets at end of the year FRZEEFE 1,134,406 996,334
Interests in associates* sk NSI - 3 461,050 416,513
Goodwill, net of impairment loss AE - MBIREERE 14,694 14,694
At end of the year FR 475,744 431,207
#  As at 31 March 2020, the interests held by the Group in CHK Group, TCE and STE t O RZITEZTF=A=+—8 KxEEH I
as associates were 49%, 20% and 20% respectively (2019: 49%, 20% and 20% BEETEEER BEEH(TE) LR
respectively). CEBOER) (HRBERR) 249% -
20% M20% (ZF —NEF: HREFAE
49% ~ 20% K% 20% ) Az ©
(d) The aggregate summarised financial information of Group's associates that are not d ERITERZAEEEE QBT EETE

individually material is set out below: R

HK$ (0]0]0]

e ﬁ—; :FT[

The Group's share of total comprehensive expenses  ZNE@E (L2 M 7 H 425 (18,768) (3,711)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests  ZNEEEI AL 1t F B & A F)fER

in these associates LIREE 19,927 40,525

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Non-current: ERE
Interests in joint ventures, including goodwill aEbE T ER
Amounts due from joint ventures (note b)

it

Current:
Amounts due from joint ventures (note b)

Amounts due to joint ventures (note b)

The movements in the Group's interests in joint ventures during the year
are analysed as follows:

At beginning of the year F1)
Exchange realignment b 5 SR
Share of results Frib%4&
Dividends 85\
At end of the year FR

Notes:

(a) Particulars regarding the principal joint ventures as at 31 March 2020 were set out in
note 52 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Amounts due from joint ventures under non-current assets of HK$264,091,000 (2019:
HK$264,078,000) are considered equity in nature and HK$165,429,000 in 2019 were
not repayable within one year.

Amounts due from joint ventures under current assets are unsecured, repayable on
demand or expected to be recovered within a year and bear interest at rates mutually
agreed between relevant parties except for the balance of HK$50,000 in 2019 which
was interest-free.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) joint ventures under current assets/
(liabilities) approximate their fair values.

BEHE
JEU & 22 BRR (MR D)

U A BB ZEARR (D)

FEft & BB ERRR (D)

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

20 G EER

2020 2019
SE —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BHTT
769,707 828,811
264,091 429,507
1,033,798 1,258,318
46,694 56
6,050 6,490

AEEBRFRAMEAATEZEZESH IS
Wanr -

2020 2019
—ECRFE —ZNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
828,811 695,935
(27,159) (19,381)
840 171,448
(32,785) (19,191)
769,707 828,811

Wi

@ R-Z-_THE=FA=1+—RAEIBAELEZ
EHERNGAPTEMKMGES2 ©

() RZZ—NEF FRBHEEE N ZRKEED
IR B 264,091,000 (=T — AF B
#£264,078,000 7T ) # AR A B MEE KB
165,429,000 TTHZER — FHIR AEE ©

R-Z—NE RBEERTZERAEDE
RARAEEN  RELEERAHHN —FR
YB3 A BT KR E WA RS - MR
¥ 50,000 TARE °

RBEE/(8E)HETZREE (BN aE
ERRZEEERLDAERE

HIEBREEERATF
—T_TEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_T-_TF=RA=1+—HIEFE

20 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(b) (continued)

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) joint ventures are denominated in the
following currencies:

20

AELE o ER (F)

st - ()

(b)

(#)

FEW, (B & & IR Z RMEE YA T 51
BB

Hong Kong dollar pitics
Renminbi AREE

(c) Seavest Core Fund I, LLC and its subsidiaries (together, “Seavest Group”), the three
medical office buildings in the US which, in the opinion of the Directors, are material
to the Group. Set out below is the summarised financial information for Seavest Group
and accounted for using equity method.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

2020 2019
—E-%F —FNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
310,785 429,563
(6.050) (6,490)

EERE MREBN-REBERAZTKIE
(Seavest Core Fund |, LLC R E B F (4
[Seavest&[@ ) HIAKBEMEBEKN « AT
&7 Seavest £ B 7 IS A KR E - WL A
#F=EMNR ©

Non-current assets FREBEE
Current TRE
Assets BE
Liabilities af&
Net current assets MBEEFE
Non-current liabilities SERBEE
Net assets BEFE

Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Revenue A

(Loss)/profit before taxation BFAT (E1R) 5

Taxation g

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive FE (BB SRR ERER
(expenses)/income for the year (), Meassms

Dividends received from a joint venture Bl —MEeErEIRE

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the consolidated financial
statements of a joint venture, adjusted for differences in accounting policies between
the Group and the joint venture. The information above is the amount before inter
company eliminations.

1 52 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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FEVBERRRBE

2020

=t Sk 23

HK$'000

BETT
1,603,999 1,670,385
32,498 29,730
(9,756) (6,823)
22,742 22,907
(980,807) (895,037)
645,934 698,255

FEEZEBRBRRPE

2019
—E-EF —T-N&F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BYETT 7RI
125,642 129,126
(11,830) 216,231
(238) (44,911)
(12,068) 171,320
29,878 16,071

N EBEHRR—HAECEFAMTREANZ
FIMEE - IR AEEES S EGIBET
R ELH R - Ll BRI A B ME#HAT
eE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

20 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 20 SEPECELS (E)
Notes: (continued) BT - (48)
(c) (continued) (c) (%)
Reconciliation of summarised financial information HHENBEZHER
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying FEYHBERBIZEREErE Y ERREE
amount of the interests in joint ventures is provided as follows: ZHEREINWAT -
2020 2019
ot Yt Y- —ZT—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BYETT BT
Net assets at beginning of the year FNZ2EETE 698,255 543,633
Exchange realignment & A% (8,802) 219
(Loss)/profit attributable to shareholders REER RS (B518) A (12,068) 171,320
Dividends [;L8=) (31,451) (16,917)
Net assets at end of the year FRZEETFE 645,934 698,255
Interest in a joint venture* —HEEhE s ER 608,849 651,060
At end of the year FER 608,849 651,060
#  As at 31 March 2020, the interest held by the Group in Seavest Group as joint # ﬁé:%:;ﬁizﬂ =t— E'/'\ KEERE
ventures was 95% (2019: 95%). P2 Seavest EEFTFRIER B95% (ZF
—NE 1 95%) °
(d) The aggregate summarised financial information of Group's joint ventures that are not (d) ERTERZAEERLLERGHBERRE
individually material is set out below: LN

BETT

The Group's share of total comprehensive income AEEMEEEKEERE 4,897 20,966

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests ~ ANEBFALEAEDEER Y

in these joint ventures BEREE 160,858 177,751
21 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 21 BB (FEAT) FEEERBER AR
Amounts due from non-controlling interests under current assets are TMENE FE Z EUGEE Rt s IR 5K A K -
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. G B RBRERER -
Amounts due to non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2020 under current RZTZZZTF=A=1+—RIArBEEZ
liabilities is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. ERFFIERERRERAEER 28 RAR

Amount due to a non-controlling interest as at 31 March 2020 under non-current RZEZZTEF=A=+—RIAFRBEE

liabilities is unsecured which bears fixed interest rate at 10% per annum and ZEN—FEEERERRERAEERRT - KE

not repayable within one year from the end of reporting period. TEEFMEN0%TE + WHARRS BRBE
—FREE -

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) non-controlling interests FEUL(FER) FEER R 2 REESEE AR

appropriate their fair values. BHE -

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR 1 53



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_T-_TF=RA=1+—HIEFE

22 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Listed investment, at fair value: EHRE - mARE

— equity securities listed overseas (note a)

FELETIRE - ARE:
- A FE#

Unlisted investments, at fair values:
— equity securities

The carrying values of investments at FVOCI are denominated in the following
currencies:

US dollar ETT

Vietnam Dong MEE

Others Efth
Notes:

(a) The fair value of the listed investment of the Group is determined based on the quoted
market bid prices available on the relevant exchange.

23 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed investments: FHEE
— debt securities - (B FES
- equity securities listed in Hong Kong - BB LM RAFES
— equity securities listed overseas - BN T2 RAE S
Unlisted investments: JELETIRE -
— debt securities - (B ES
— equity securities - BARFES
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MMERBINAE -
Non-current assets IERBEE
Current assets MENVE E

1 54 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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- BN LT 2 B ARE S (5t a)

2 BRAaEINAHMBEERGSEE
ZRE

2020 2019
g5 —T-AF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT
25731 39,320
8586 8,084
34,317 47404

BRAREINARLMEE SRR ZRE 28R
E{ETIA TGRS RS -

2020 2019

fmt et 223
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
7,750 7,850
25,731 39,320
836 234
34,317 47404

GEX

@) AKRBELWEREZARBNEEBISMAAH
ZHBEANEEE

23 BAABEIANEBERE 2RE

2020 2019
—g-g%% —EhE
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT
165,578 206,309
24,800 17270
16,482 13,542
206,860 237121
531,509 475,568
14,944 33,585
546453 | 509,153
753,313 746,274
465,907 331,013
287,406 415,261
753,313 746,274




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

The fair values of the listed investments of the Group are determined based
on the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant exchanges and the
unlisted investments of the Group are determined based on financial models or
with reference to quoted prices from relevant financial institutions.

The carrying amounts of investments at FVPL are denominated in the following
currencies:

Euro BT
Hong Kong dollar ks
Japanese Yen =
Renminbi AR
Swiss Franc It ARR
US dollar =
Vietnam Dong MEE

24 INVESTMENTS AT AMORTISED COST

Listed corporate bonds: EWARES -
Non-current ERBNEE
Current MENVE E

The carrying amounts of investments at amortised cost are denominated in US
dollar.

Note:

The fair values below are determined by reference to the published price quotations in an
active market.

EHRBES

Listed corporate bonds

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

BEAABEIAETEEZRE

(%)
AEEZ EHIRE 2 RRBETREBR M
iz s B AEMET  MAREZEE
TRAZ AR BEHRMHHARE - 2%
RE BRI B2 RE -

BAnBEIABGREEZRE ZREETIIA
TINEEREL

2020 2019
—g=%F  —T aF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETFT
25,347 25,684
367,378 261,727
1,150 1,420
39,574 93,991
5,855 5,707
307,058 351,129
6,951 6,716
753,313 746,274

24 IZBER AT IR 2 IRE

2020 2019
—g-es —F-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
23,003 30,851
7778 3,970
30,781 34,821

REER AR 2 B ZBRHENAR T RE

fiL °

MIRE -

AT RAET2RiERT S ARRERE

s

2020
—g-%s =z
HK$°000 HK$
BT BEF T
31,866 34,782
HtEBREERRAR

—T_TEER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

25 HEAPYE

25 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

At beginning of the year F1)
Exchange realignment b S EE
Additions NE

Transfer to assets held-for-sale (note 47)

At end of the year FR

Analysed for reporting purposes as: RMERBEINA
Non-current assets IERBNEE
Current assets MENVAE

As at 31 March 2020, the balances are related to property development projects
in Changchun, Mainland China and Hong Kong.

The borrowing costs capitalised to properties under development is disclosed in
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless the
construction period of the relevant project is expected to complete beyond
normal operating cycle. The amount of properties under development classified
as current assets expected to be recovered after one year is HK$1,919,611,000
(2019: HK$1,779,646,000). The remaining balance is expected to be recovered
within one year.

Charges were created on the properties under development with total carrying

value of HK$1,209,959,000 (2019: HK$1,082,664,000) for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

26 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Deposits paid for a property development project Bt —BYX¥EREEE 2%e
(note a) (M7t a)

Deposits paid for acquisition of a land (note b)
Others Hith

Charges were created on the other non-current assets with total carrying value
of HK$21,834,000 (2019: HK$22,114,000) for the purpose of securing banking
facilities granted to the Group.

Note a: The balance represents deposits paid for a property development project in
Changchun, Mainland China.

Note b: The balance represents deposits paid for land acquisition in Chengdu, Mainland
China.

BEEFKELEEE (MF47)

BB —tE Lz Ze (FHEEb)

2020 2019
SE —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BHTT
2,213,697 2,128,294
(44,523) (38,344
154,965 491,245
- (367,498)
2,324,139 2,213,697
404,528 434,051
1,919,611 1,779,646
2,324,139 2,213,697

MRIE-ZF=ZA=1+—H ZEHE}EH
M RENMEBNYEERIERAH

BRBYEE N 2 BERERARERE IS H
RHIEE 10 EE -

BRPVMEHSEARDEE  RIEEHE
B2 ERIE SR EREEEBTK -
BREAVESEARDEERHN —FRIK
Oz &% A#%%1,919,611,000t(—=— A
& H151,779,646,0007T) o FAEATEEAA —
FRUE -

BRI 48 {E;8 %5 1,209,959,000 70 ( — T — AL 4 -
75 #51,082,664,0007T) 2 R P WED EIR
o EARTAEERBITEEZER -

HivERBEE
2020 2019
—g-—%¥5 —T-AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT
30,237 28,946
50,421 -
57,696 78,669
138,354 107,615

BR [ 42 (B 75 1521,834,000 T ( — & — hL 4 :
122,114,000 7T) 2 EMLIERBI B E B /EIR
o EARTAEERTEEZER -

Mita: Z&HATERNMEEDT —ANEEREA
BzEfZRs -

Mizib : ZAEBRARPEAMKETLIBKEZE
NRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 INVENTORIES

Raw materials B
Finished goods IRk
Consumables FEARE

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales
amounted to HK$1,792,000,000 (2019: HK$2,051,000,000).

Charges were created on the inventories with total carrying value of
HK$30,307,000 (2019: HK$90,956,000) for the purpose of securing banking
facilities granted to the Group.

28 PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Unamortised prepaid land leases REEEMA LA E
- Hong Kong - BB
— Mainland China - PEAH
Development costs TR

Properties for sale included the Group's share of a joint operation with an
aggregate book value of HK$18,129,000 (2019: HK$18,129,000).

The cost of properties sold and included in cost of sales amounted to
HK$61,559,000 (2019: HK$204,792,000).

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

21 78
2020 2019
—B-®F —T-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T ST 5T
10,537 12,193
263,000 313,290
1,500 1,382
275,037 326,865

ERRAIHIINABERNEZTERAE
7 #1,792,000,000 L ( =T — fL4E : B
2,051,000,0007T) °

BRTE A2 (E 815 30,307000 L (—E—LEF : 8
#90,956,0007T) 2 FEE/EEM - tEAET

REBRITEEZER -
28 SEYE
2020 2019
—EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T 5T ST 5T
15,882 15,882
65,178 84,525
186,071 266,212
267,131 366,619

FEYMERIERMARE BB 18,129,000 7T
—T— N B#18,129,0007T) 2 AL E
FHE—fAa &K -

EEAUINAEERRNZMERARBE
61,559,000 7T(=ZF — /1.5 : &% 204,792,000
o) 0

HIEBREEERATF
—T_TEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

r e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-_TF=-A=1+—HILLFE

29 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

29 FEURBREX

BHNEE  FHRE

Trade debtors
Less: Provision for impairment

Trade debtors, net

Retention receivables
Less: Provision for impairment

Retention receivables, net
Contract assets

Other debtors, deposits and prepayments

HFEWER R
R ERE

I EYSRR - FER

AR ER IR
B OBE R

FEUIREE IR - B
BREE

HARUIRR - 7 RS RIAN KA

The Group has established different credit policies for customers in each of its
core businesses. The average credit period granted to trade debtors is 60 days,
except for insurance business where credit period granted to certain debtors is

over 60 days.

The ageing analysis of trade debtors, net of impairment provision, is presented

based on the invoice date as follows:

0 - 60 days
61 - 90 days
Over 90 days

0-60K
-90K
90K

KA FIER
2020
-2 $
HK$'000
BETT
611,303 553,658
(28,962) (30,865)
582,341 522,793
221,142 297,254
(9,186) (9,186)
211,956 288,068
79635 ¢ 61,702
478416 503,080
1,352,348 1,375,643

AEEHZHEZOLEBREPERIARZE
EHE - Bie TRREBZETEBANG

EH#BB60K AT
HBB0K °

EHEBAZFHEE

B HRAR - MERBERE  REZAH

Edld- Foriin (I

2020 2019

—_ ? —_ $ 7%&
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
485,432 360,692
40,774 74,611
56,135 87490
582,341 522,793

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected credit loss allowance for trade
debtors. The movement in the provision for impairment for trade debtors during
the year is as follows:

AEERNEBUBIREERNE IRNELT

At beginning of the year F1)

Exchange realignment B 3 F 2
Impairment loss recognised BRI ERE
Provision written back [RAEIEE g
Uncollectable amounts written off WEE AR 2 £ 58
Transferred to assets held-forsale EREERBENELE
At end of the year FR

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

FEHEEHEESE REBEZREWERER
é%@%ﬁﬁfﬂﬁﬁiﬂéﬁéﬁ - RERNE Z KR
R BERE s EESnT
2020
—_— ? — EE
HK$’000
BT T
30,865 33,644
(307) (17)
6,336 4,608
(611) (1,983)
(1,712) (5,387)
(5,609) -
28,962 30,865




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade debtors are denominated in the
following currencies:

Australian dollar SBIT
Hong Kong dollar ok
Macau Pataca SR
Renminbi AR
US dollar v
Others HAh

The carrying amounts of retention receivables, contract assets and other
debtors as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollar and Renminbi.

The carrying amounts of debtors and receivables as at 31 March 2020 and 2019
approximated their fair values.

Retention receivables amounted to HK$34,992,000 (2019: HK$57576,000) are
expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting year.

Included in debtors, contract assets, deposits and prepayments was the
Group's share of receivables of HK$3,519,000 (2019: HK$2,882,000) in relation
to joint operations.

Charges were created on the debtors, contract assets, deposits and
prepayments with total carrying value of HK$83,096,000 (2019: HK$55,237.000)
for the purpose of securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

m@%ﬁa

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

BHEE  FHRS
&%E'ﬁ' (nﬁ)

AEEEFRUBEHZEEEATIIESE
REAL

2020 2019
—E-EfF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
4,896 8,773
409,063 375,712
43,374 19,497
47,057 60,600
50,651 47649
27,300 10,562
582,341 522,793

R-ZF_ZBER_FT-AF=ZA=1t—H8"
EWREB IR - BHEEMEMERERZ
REEXIZNBERARBREN -

EEH&ZEETA&FEH% IEZEE@@EE/H\
=,

+—8"
APRI=RiE

FEUREE 008 A 7815 34,992,000 7T (—F—
F : ¥ 57576,000 70) BHR 2RFERE
12EARNGEE -

EUWER  ANEE  THiRS RBENRE
BRASEREBHEECEME 2 EBKER
o ABE3,519,0007T (2 — N 4F B
2,882,0007C) ©

ARE 4R (A 83,096,000 T (=T —NEF : B
¥ 55,2370007C) ZFEM IR - AREE - 77
Hize RENFBEFERR  EARTAE
BERITEEZHER -

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-_TF=-A=1+—HILLFE

30 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(a) Right-of-use assets

Leasehold land HELH
Buildings gF
Equipments By

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 March 2020
amounted to HK$56,758,000, due to new leases of buildings and
equipments.

(b) Lease liabilities

Non-current FERED
Current RE

(c) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement

EREEEZITERY
B BRI TIEZ &R

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets
Less: Amounts capitalised to contract work

HEEJEON S
B BIERNTIIEZ 2R

Interest expense on lease liabilities
Less: Amounts capitalised to contract work

EREHEEN

Expense relating to short-term leases

The total cash outflow for lease liabilities during the year ended 31 March
2020 amounted to HK$16,800,000.

(d) The Group's leasing activities

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, retail stores, equipment and
vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 2 years to
10 years.

1 6 O CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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N FHEEERHEESRE

(a) EREEE

As at As at
31 March 1 April
2020 2019
»n i

—% _gf‘i
=HA=t—H MmA—AH
HK$°000 HK$'000
BYTT BT
1,338,587 1,348,326
59,015 75,726
1,264 901
1,398,866 1,424,953

HRHHERTRRE  BE-T-TF
ZA=t+—BULFEZFEEREEER
715 56,758,000 7T, °©

(b) HESE
As at As at
31 March 1 April
2020 2019
=A _'I' B MmA—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
45,664 62,565
17,159 13,401
62,823 75,966

(c) RFERBRER 2EHE

2020
—v—vq—:

HK$’000
BETT

61,970
(1,862)
60,108
2,860
(92)
2,768
9,364

RBE-_ZT_ZF=A=+—HL#HF
E HERGBEZRERHERA/EE
16,800,000 7T °

(d) AEEZHEED

AEBEHREZERRE BRE - TF
8 RIEMAE - %ﬁhm H—MR—=
FZREEMRATL

&
+



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

31 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS N TEMBIA
2020 2019
—EDEF —E-NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial (liabilities)/assets in respect of PTEMBITAZH(AE) EE
derivative financial instruments
— foreign currency forward contracts (note a) - REASMNES L (FI5Ea) 242 (47)
— cross currency swap - RN E# 45 8 (399) 378
(157) 331
Analysed for reporting purposes as: RMERBEINA
Current assets MENVEE 242 397
Current liabilities mEBE (399) (66)
(157) 331
The derivatives are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. TTETERSREHR I ALEZ - T4
Their fair values are determined with reference to fair values of comparable TEAZAARENRENHEETEZHHBA
instruments in the market or quoted prices from counterparties. The net REXEHFREMAE - TETEZEETF
carrying amounts of derivatives are denominated in the following currencies: BT TS S AR -
2020 2019
—ECEH —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Euro (¢ - (66)
US dollar EViv (399) 378
Others HAh 242 19
(157) 331
Note: BisE
Foreign currency forward contracts of the Group with a total notional amount up to AEBABTRINEE B AEMRI N EEMET LR
HK$19,000,000 (2019: HK$9,107,000) were entered to swap various foreign currencies to HSNEA K - HBeEE ST AB19,000,0007T(=
other cross currencies. These contracts matured on 17 April 2020 (2019: within the period T—NF - B%9,10700070) ° EAHER=Z
from 1 April 2019 to 14 May 2019). ZEFNA+HEA(ZE—NF c RZE-NFINA
—BEZT-AFRA+HBHEA) B -
32 BANK BALANCES AND CASH 2 R/RITEBERBRE
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held, short-term bank deposits with RITHEGLRRESBEMFERS - RE5HEH
an original maturity period over three months, short-term bank deposits with RiEEB =R 2 EHIRTFR - RE IS
an original maturity of three months or less and cash placed with financial RA=E A AR S ERITFRREFEALY
institutions. The carrying amounts of these assets approximate their fair values. BHEsRE WEEECHRABEEEAR
BIE% -

HEEBEEARAT
“e-gzeeg 101



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

32 BANK BALANCES AND CASH (CONTINUED)

Bank balances and cash
Pledged bank deposits

The carrying amounts of bank balances and cash
following currencies:

RITHEFELRE
EHEMIRITEK

are denominated in the

N2 R/RITEERBES (E)

2020 2019

—_ ? —_ EE 7j—|u£’£
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T BT
2,774,918 1,778,171
49,748 54,913
2,824,666 1,833,084

RITEFRRASZEEENATIEE RE

fiz

2020 2019
—ECEH —NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT
Australian dollar SR 62,505 73,156
Canadian dollar MEXTT 44,706 38,529
Euro BRZE 3,651 862
Hong Kong dollar pitecd 1,735,992 620,238
Macau Pataca SERPTHE 29,795 9,090
Renminbi AR 533,744 809,913
Singapore dollar g 3,298 5,312
US dollar e 350,446 226,495
Others HAh 60,529 49,489
2,824,666 1,833,084

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's bank balances of HK$49,748,000 (2019: EA* E-TBFE=ZA=+—H ~AEEZET

HK$54,913,000) were pledged to banks for the purpose of securing banking
facilities granted to the Group.

7 A 49,748,0000 (= — N F « Bl
5491300075)E%JW%§E EARTAE

ERTTEEZER -
As at 31 March 2020, the effective interest rates on short-term bank deposits N-ZE-EF=A=+—H AEFEZEH
of the Group were 2.8% (2019: 1.8%) per annum; and these deposits had an RITERZERFENERE28% (ZE—NF :
average maturity of 40 days (2019: 33 days). 18%) * WEGFHRZFHEEABIOKR(ZE
— N 1 33K) °
As at 31 March 2020, bank balances and cash of HK$518,694,000 (2019: RZZEZZTF=A=1+—H HHERFTERA
HK$846,264,000) were held in Mainland China and are subject to local exchange tﬁgZﬁEﬁ,\\nf&LﬁbﬁﬁéM518,694,00075(_
control regulations, under which the balances could not be exported freely out T — N4 ¢ #1846,264,000 7T ) BB EE i
of Mainland China. The repatriation of funds out of Mainland China is possibly INEBHIFRT - Bt WEEFEISaHE
conducted by way of dividends or other means as complied to the regulations. HAREA - B4 riEEKRE s HmmBETR
E2 AN AR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 CREDITORS, BILLS PAYABLE, DEPOSITS, CONTRACT
LIABILITIES AND ACCRUALS

P ENRR RN R

Trade creditors and bills payable

Retention payables FEIHMRB 3B
Deposits received BHIFAES
Contract liabilities aratE

Accrued contract costs ARG LI

Hit RN FaRE R

Other creditors and accruals

The ageing analysis of trade creditors and bills payable is as follows:

0 — 60 days 0-60XK
61 - 90 days 61-90K
Over 90 days #190K

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade creditors and bills payable are
denominated in the following currencies:

Hong Kong dollar ks
Macau Pataca JRFHE
Renminbi AREE
US dollar e
Others Efth

The carrying amounts of retention payables, contract liabilities and other
creditors as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 were denominated in Hong Kong dollar,
US dollar, Macau Pataca and Renminbi.

The carrying amounts of creditors and payables as at 31 March 2020 and 2019
approximated their fair values.

Retention payables amounted to HK$26,747,000 (2019: HK$51,158,000) are
expected to be settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting year.

Included in creditors, bills payable, deposits, contract liabilities and accruals
are the Group's share of payables of HK$53,077000 (2019: HK$14,960,000) in
relation to joint operations.

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

BEMNER BEARE  FAR
T ANEENRARERN

2020

N

HK$'000

BT
292,561 287318
166,542 208,431
44,216 177441
233,394 97431
1,309,658 1,246,367
484,403 506,059
2,530,774 2,623,047

BHRNER BN REZ BB -

2020
—g-%E
HK$'000
BT T
257,043 265,795
7,878 6,261
27,640 15,262
292,561 287318

AEEESRMNERMENERZEEETS
IATFIEHREN -

2020 2019
—ECRFE —ZNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
197,973 147354
9,113 7325
54,712 94,915
22,890 29,099
7873 8,625
292,561 287318

RZZBE_ZFER-_ZF-—NF=A=+—H"
EBNREBHIE  cHAaBEREMEMNERZ
BREENEE 5  BPIERARBAE

fiL °

R-B-BFR-F-NEF=A=1-R"
A BR 30 R A 9008 2 SR SR A 2 LR

et

Eo

JEHR B FIR R ¥ 26,747,000 T (ZE— 1
F 1 JB# 51,158,000 7T ) FEHIN 2 F L R1Z
128 AREE -

NER  BNRE  FARES  6HAE
LIARRERANCBRASENLE 2EEME
ZTEN BR B #53,077000 L ( —F — 1
¢ #114,960,0007T) °

HIEBREEERATF
—T_TEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

34 OUTSTANDING INSURANCE CLAIMS 3 RRRBERE
Insurance claims of the following business classes are not usually settled within THEBERNZRERE—BTIE—FAL
one year: B
— Employee compensation - EERE
— Motor third party liability - REE=EHEML
— Public liability - RNTBEMR
The claims development, net of reinsurance, are disclosed as follows: BEEERE (NRERR) HEAT -

2010 and before 212 W3 204 05 016 2017 2018 2019 A0 Total
SR-RERA 2% ZR-CF C§-ZF CR-PBE CR-BF CR0F CR-tEF CR0\F CR-N0F C90%F fE

HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
; ; AETT BT ARt A Tn BT A%t BRI EETI

Estimate of cumulative claims k3t 251 [E

At end of accident year ENEERER 57615 87099 131582 155800 175730 161549 140112 122198 86471 90284 82,062

One year later & 57145 54009 105091 122921 139,004 109443 109,851 84,489 78493 74,845 -

Two years later i 52207 67192 113384 137083 152,912 114523 114990 79651 68713 - -

Three years later Ef 46,556 63,648 91456 120451 122,227 96,156 89,178 53,025 - - -

Four years later W&k 43,356 62,724 87170 112573 113887 90,229 77251 - - - -

Five years later fikizh 42,636 60,170 86,145 1M.218 111,349 85,399 - - - - -

Six years later NEfR 42,5% 60,086 85231 110,058 111,935 - - - - - -

Seven years later iR 43119 5988 85,231 109,064 - - - - - - -

Eight years later J\ER 4726 59888 85231 - - - - - - - -

Nine years later NER 4276 59,888 - - - - - - - - -

Ten years later TEK 43115 - - - - - - - - - -

Cumulative claims 252k 43115 59,888 85231 109,064 111,935 85,399 71251 53,025 68,713 74,845 82,062 850,528

Less: Cumulative payments B BHEARE 42,726 59,888 85231 108549 109,369 80,221 67171 32,435 29470 15,931 9487 641,084

Claims outstanding at [ e—:d

31 March 2020 Zh=+-H
LRRRR 389 - - 515 2,566 51712 9,480 20,590 39,243 58914 72575 209,444
Claims outstanding at RIF-NE
31 March 2019 ZA=t-H
LRRZEER 484 - - - 2,381 2132 14,075 276% 51,697 58855 80,591 237913

The risk under an insurance contract is the risk that an insured event will occur REEHET2RARTDEADERREHEZR
including the uncertainty of the amount and timing of any resulting claim. The b BESEITIEEREEZREMBILES
principal risk the Group faces under such contracts is that the actual claims and ZRERNHE - AEBBRBRLEANERE
benefit payments exceed the carrying amount of insurance liabilities. This is ZEERATRREAENSHEBARRAR
influenced by the frequency of claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid BREME WHRBREREE  RERER
which are greater than originally estimated and subsequent development of B BERBNBEREGTRERBERE
long tail claims. BERETE -
The Group manages its insurance risk through underwriting limits, approval AEBFEBITHAREE - SITESFER
procedures for transactions that involve new products or that exceed set limits, HHBEHRER G 2B ERF ST LEEIE
pricing guidelines, centralised management of reinsurance and monitoring of 5|~ SR E IR AR L BE K R R B R R RE A
emerging issues. EEHRBRRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

34 OUTSTANDING INSURANCE CLAIMS (CONTINUED) 34 KRR RE (E)

The Group manages the variability of risks by careful selection and the
implementation of underwriting strategies, arrangements of reinsurance,
strict claim review policies to assess all new and ongoing claims as well as the
investigation of possible fraudulent claims. The Group also enforces a policy
of actively managing and promptly pursuing of claims, in order to reduce its
exposure to unpredictable future developments that can negatively impact the
Group.

The Group’s underwriting strategy seeks diversity to ensure a balanced portfolio
and is based on a large portfolio of similar risks over a number of years and, as
such, reduces the variability of the outcome.

AEBEATHAERRER ZZEHMN - (T4
BERBERAREKR - RYPFEDR - BBRE
REBRU AT REEEZRE
AR HAEEHFRE 2R - AREITRETT
TEREIE N AR ERIR R 2 K - AR A
BEHI AR BIEK T AR E Z TR TRHAR R E
R’z ER -

A ZARKE B — [l B F
HMAMEELFRMESN—ERRZ AL
[EBR AR BV EE A A PARUE R A AREME

35 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 35 $R17T R HAthfE X

2020 2019
—BoEE —ZFNEF

Bank and other borrowings are repayable as RITREMERERERNT ¢
follows:
Within one year —FR
More than 1 year but not exceeding 2 years —F A BT BBAME
More than 2 years but not exceeding 5 years MEA BT BRRF
Exceeding 5 years HBBRAF
Less: Amount due within one year disclosed B EREBEEANREEITR—FR
under current liabilities Eall- e
Represented by: 255 :
Secured BHER
Unsecured R

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had secured bank loans for certain US senior housing
businesses with a carrying amount of HK$1,120 million (2019: HK$1,431 million),
of which HK$1,050 million (2019: HK$1,360 million) was without recourse to the
Group. These loans are subjected to covenant clauses.

HK$'000 HK$'000
BEF BT

885,078 1,109,840
692,043 691,080
1,345,565 1,328,053
445,381 611,237
3,368,067 3,740,210
(885,078) (1,109,840)
2,482,989 2,630,370
1,690,007 2,023,420
1,678,060 1,716,790
3,368,067 3,740,210

R-ZE-_ZF=-ZA=+—H A£EECHSA
FEBRZEREXBHBEBERRITER
REEABEN20ETL(ZE—NF : B
14.311870) » EREE10650ETL(ZE—1
F B30T BRARNEEHERAE
F o ZEERABTREIEN -

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-_TF=-A=1+—HILLFE

35 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 35 |MITREMER(E)
The carrying value of the bank and other borrowings approximate their fair IKﬁM’JN%?J’\EJ«/{“”@f‘ R B RITRE
values as majority of the borrowings carried interest at floating rate. The bank g REEEE QAR EEE o Rk
and other borrowings are denominated in the following currencies: f‘ﬁ%?ﬂ(?’ﬁ%T’i‘JEﬁ%Z%ﬁu :
2020
—E-EF —T-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT
Canadian dollar meXT 31,061 15,233
Hong Kong dollar i 2,129,860 2,163,378
Renminbi AR 87,059 128,790
US dollar ETT 1,120,087 1,432,809
3,368,067 3,740,210
The effective interest rates per annum of the bank and other borrowings as at ZA=+—H: I KEMERIERE
31 March were as follows: ﬂ};gzuT :

Canadian dollar neEXT 3.1% 3.2%

Hong Kong dollar ks 3.1% 3.1%

Renminbi AR 4.5% 5.8%

US dollar e 4.1% 3.6%
Bank and other borrowings of HK$1,690,007000 (2019: HK$2,023,420,000) $R1T R B A fE 50 HE 1,690,007,000 7T (=
were secured by charges on the assets of the Group as set out in notes 15, 16, —F 7 2,023,420, OOOTE)TJL/(ZIK%@
25, 26, 27. 29 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements. BEEER - PNMRE M BHREM 5 -

252627~ 29 32 NHFE ©

36 SHARE CAPITAL 36 B2
Number of
shares Share capital
RAEE [N
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary shares of HK$1.25 each BREESE 126 T2 BB
Authorised: EERA :
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 EQ:%*/\@PEUEJ* =I
ﬁﬁ_ A=+—HBkK
—E-FTF=A=+—H 540,000,000 675,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTERBERE :
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 R =—Z—/\FMHA—H -
—NWF=ZA=+—HK
—E-TF=A=+—H 301,928,440 377411

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

37 RESERVES

37 &

Attributable to shareholders of the Company
KAARRELR
Capital  Investment Other assets Hedging  Exchange
Share Capital ~ redemption  revaluation  revaluation  revaluation  fluctuation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
-0 RE  EftEE Hn AEH#
ROEE  EARGE  BORE 0 EMBE 0 ERRRE 0 EMEE 0 TERE  RERA a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
I B¥Tn EETR BT BETn E¥Tn B¥Tn BT B¥Tn
(note)
(Rzt)
At 1 April 2019 R-E-AEMA-R 704,087 377863 8,785 17657 222,550 318 242,630 7070123 8,644,073
Profit for the year FRERF - - - - - - - 533,081 533,081
Change in fai value of investments at fair AL ESI AR 2ENE
value through other comprehensive REZRENDAEED
income - - - (13,705) - - - - (13,705)
Change in fair value of properties forown use ~ BEMIENALEED - - - - 143 - - - 143
Exchange difference on translation BERINMERR - BELARR
of operations of overseas subsidiaries, RERRIERAELL
associates and joint ventures MERRER - - - - - - (302,106) - (302,106)
Fair value adjustments on the derivative EERREREH ML
financialinstruments designated as cash SBIANDAESR
flow hedge - - - - - (177) - - (mm)
Total comprehensive (expenses)income for B2 (XH) /U
the year 28 - - - (13,705) 143 (177) (302,106) 533,081 216,636
Dividends paid ERRE - - - - - - - (166,061)  (166,061)
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-F£=fA=1-A 704,087 377863 8,785 3,952 222,693 (399) (59,476) 7431143 8,694,648
HtEBREEERAR

—T_TEER

167



NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020

B

S

FF=A=+—ALFE

=

37 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Capital

37 R (&)

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Investment

Other assets i

Share
premium

Capital
reserve

redemption
reserve

Ankil
HK$'000

(note)

(HsF)

Hedging
revaluation
reserve

revaluation
reserve

revaluation
reserve

e
HK$ 000

HK$ 000
BETT

Exchange
fluctuation
reserve

Retained
profits Total

RERR 5%
HK$000  HKS'000
ik T T

At 1 April 2018 “Z-\EmA-B 704,087 377863 8,785 3381 221,103 216 475,686 6,639,775 8,361,326
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - - - 654,561 654,561
Change in fai value of investments at fair AL ESI AR 2ENE

value through other comprehensive REZRENDLERD

income — - - (16,154) - - - - (16,154)
Change in fair value of properties forown use ~ EBMIENALER - - - - 1447 - - - 1447
Exchange difference on translation BERINERR E“?%"D

of operations of overseas subsidiaries, RERRIERAELL

associates and joint ventures MERRER - - - - - - (233,056) - (233,056)
Fair value adjustments on the derivative EERREREH ML

financialinstruments designated as cash SBIANDAESR

flow hedge - - - - - 162 - - 162
Total comprehensive (expenses)income for B2 (XH) /U

the year e - - - (16,154) 1,447 162 (233,056) 654,561 406,960
Dividends paid ERRE - - - - - - - (120771 (120,77
Change in ownership interests ina subsidiary WAL E25E2 ~EHBAE

without loss of control nEEEERED - - - - - - - (3442) 3.442)
At31 March 2019 RIZ-NE=A=T-R 704,087 377863 8785 17657 22,550 378 U630 070,123 8644073

Note: The balance arose mainly from various Group reorganisations in the past including Mt M TERQBEASZEEESHEHEE  BIF

ZIK’AT Eff - FECEZDHFRILEE -

redomicile of the Company, spin-offs and privatisation of group entities.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

168



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised and
movements thereon during the current and prior reporting years:

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE
38 JEIEBIIE

TXAEDALHFRELBELHMFERER
ZIBFEREAE(BE) REET)

Amortisation
Accelerated of goodwill
tax and Revaluation
depreciation trademarks  of properties Tax losses Others Total
EBIE BimE
A REE B BIEFE Hity Fot ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT AETT Vot AETT Voot
At 1 April 2019 RZZ-NE
mA—H 36,890 59,529 282,573 (44,091) (1,953) 332,948
Exchange realignment E3aEEE (637) 63 (19,108) (161) (323) (20,166)
(Credited)/charged to consolidated ~ 44 XA
income statement (note 12) (FTA) /#k:
(FfH&x12) (1,944) 8,404 3,184 (20,309) (10,937) (21,602)
Transfer to assets held-forsale BRESERENE
(note 47) B (fizta7) (136) - - 1,073 3,666 4,603
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-ZF
=A=+—H 34,173 67,996 266,649 (63,488) (9,547) 295,783
At 1 April 2018 RZZ-N\F
mAE—AH 34,401 50,511 275,522 (48,435) (13,841) 298,158
Exchange realignment i 5 R (87) i (17351) 14 (1,147) (18,560)
Charged to consolidated income ~ REFAMEER
statement (note 12) Mk (Ff7E12) 3,228 9,007 24,402 650 13,035 50,322
Transfer to assets held-forsale BRERENE
(note 47) A UETIY)) (652) - - 3,680 - 3,028
At 31 March 2019 RIE-N&F
=A=+—"H 36,890 59,529 282,573 (44,091) (1,953) 332,948

For the purposes of consolidated statement of financial position presentation,
certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the
analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax assets RIER I E B
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBAE

RESHEAFBHARKZEINHNX  BTE
RRBBEERABKCIFERE - BIERIRLS
BIEMEIME BB 2T

2020 2019
—g-%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
(45,102) (29,916)
340,885 362,864
295,783 332,948
HtEBREERRAR

—T_TEER
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

EE

TERCRFE=A=+-HIEFE

38 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had unused tax losses of HK$2,887956,000
(2019: HK$2,776,784,000) available for offset against future taxable profits. A
deferred tax asset had been recognised in respect of HK$234,400,000 (2019:
HK$212,173,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset had been recognised
in respect of the remaining HK$2,653,556,000 (2019: HK$2,564,611,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in tax losses were
losses of HK$119,696,000 and HK$165,917.000 (2019: HK$104,371,000 and
HK$97953,000) of subsidiaries in Mainland China and the US that will gradually
expire until December 2024 and March 2038 respectively; the remaining tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2020, deferred tax liabilities of HK$131,658,000 (2019:
HK$127,758,000) had not been recognised for the withholding tax that would be
payable on the unappropriated earnings of certain subsidiaries. Such amounts
were expected to be reinvested.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had unrecognised deductible temporary
differences of HK$214,592,000 (2019: HK$137,395,000). No deferred tax asset
had been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary differences as
it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

38 IEFERIIE (48)

R-_ZB_ZF=ZA=+—8 AEEXSHH
2 FRIE 518 & 78 % 2,887956,000 T ( — F
— L& 7E#2,776,784,0007T) © ] A1
SH IR 2 JERR Bt A o HLAR B 234,400,000
T(=ZZF — NF: & #212,173,0007T ) Z
RMEBEECERAECHEERE - BAK
I DATER M EBRHB T 2 RIEEE
7% 1 2,653,656,000C( Z T — AL F : B
2,564,611,0007C) R AIELEFIHEE © Bt
IEJE?%”E%EPIWHE&%IW% INSIEERSEl

DHEE_NF+ AT NF=A

2 7 #119,696,000 7T & 7 ¥ 165,917.000 7T
—ZT—hF : F 104,371,000 T & 5 K
97953,0007T) ; MR T 2 B IBE B o] &R
st

RZZB-_ZEZA=+—H XERETH
BRRIARDIRAFMAI e 2 BN ER
PRI T8 B (F8 % 131,658,000 T (—E— N,
& 1 B¥127758,0000T) - FBHIN S HIES
R{EBRE -

R-_EBE-TFE=ZA=+—H8 ' AEEZXE
RAIRE R = 2 A1 214,592,000 7T
(ZZ—N%F : ¥ 137395,0007T) » FBTHE
R R 52 FERR TR FI LA B EIR B B
ZAIREREER M ARERBE 2K
BRBELEHEAE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Cash generated from operations

39 MERERERMET
(a) REEZHS

2020 2019
—BoBF —ZFNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Profit before taxation BR A5 Al A A 643,141 839,882
Adjustments for: PR -
Share of results of associates Frib B & A R 4R (150,965) (125,003)
Share of results of joint ventures FriE & &R (840) (171,448)
Interest income from bank deposits and RITERER—EEERED
a joint venture FBUA (60,167) (43,216)
Interest expenses on bank overdrafts and bank $R1TiE S K 8877 R HAIER
and other borrowings mF B 110,577 123,239
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEABENFEXE 2,768 -
Depreciation e 163,843 135,288
Amortisation of other intangible assets HEfhmp E 26,398 18,985
Decrease/(increase) in fair value of investment R&EWEZ AR @R, (HH0)
properties 24,937 (166,406)
Remeasurement gain on transfer from RGEMEERIREME
properties for sale to investment properties BT ERE - (25,838)
Loss on disposal of investment property HEREYE 2 EE 320 -
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant HEME - BERREZ
and equipment wia, (las) 6,654 (105)
Gain on disposals of HEAT ARz WES
— Moon Colour Group (note 39(b)(ii)) — Moon Colour & & (M5 39(b)(ii)) (166,747) -
— New Rise (note 39(b)(iii)) — ¥ (B 5E 39(b) i) (38,680) -
— Jumbo Rainbow Group (note 39(b)(iv)) — Jumbo Rainbow £ & (B3 39(b)(iv)) (74,251) -
— other subsidiaries - E BB AR - (231)
Loss on disposal of an associate & — S A R 2 E5iE 1,119 -
Loss/(gain) on investments at fair value through IRAAEFIABFEIR 2 &
profit or loss &ia, (as) 32,357 (887)
(Gain)/loss on derivative financial instruments ~ $TAMIE T A (W) EiE (224) 590
Provision for inventories to net realisable GFERBBEEEE  F8
value, net 2,642 1,225
Provision recognised on trade and ERRE 5 & E M EUERR
other debtors, net 2R FEE 9,155 4,999
Impairment of goodwill [EENEAE 4,381 -
Impairment loss on properties for sale HFEMEZREEE 10,304 -
Operating cash flows before movements in EEESFHNCKERERE
working capital 547222 591,074
HIEBREEBRAT

—TTEFR
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 39

(CONTINUED)

(a) Cash generated from operations (continued)

RERTREBRMEE (A)

(a) REEEZHRE (H)

2020 2019
—g-%F —EnF

HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT

Changes in working capital

Increase in amounts due from non-controlling

e M S 42 e A i AR SR

interests (2,641) (4,810)
Increase in investments at fair value through R AR BV ABTEE 2 8E

profit or loss, net - R (41,961) (122,841)
Decrease in inventories FERD 33,208 13,411
Decrease in properties for sale FEMERD 67,717 153,671
Increase in properties under development BERAYZEILEIN (154,964) (491,244)
(Increase)/decrease in debtors, contract assets, EUWIER - GHEE - FHEER

deposits and prepayments Taf5RE () R (68,025) 144,650
Cash paid upon maturity of derivative financial T4 T AR ENIRE

instruments (18) (619)
Increase in amounts due to non-controlling JEA~ FEFEE AR RE 25 BR L h

interests 66,175 69,334

RN - BREE - TAKES -
AHBEREREREN 12,402 207,670
EIEIRER B K oK B R E R R S o0

Increase in creditors, bills payable, deposits,
contract liabilities and accruals
Increase in unearned insurance premiums

and unexpired risk reserves 90,067 46,386
Decrease in outstanding insurance claims RARBRER D (28,469) (175625)
Other non-cash items Ei 3R EEE 17,521 14,761
Cash generated from operations RELEZRS 538,234 603,918

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (b) WEERHE

(i) WBZEREWE

(i) Acquisitions of senior housing properties

RZZE-N\FRAZ+HH  Fx&£E
EMPRBRERN TRZZEREY
% - {{8/%65,000,000% T (HHE R
#)7% % 509,600,0007T ) ° LR HE
RZB—NF—-ARK -

On 25 May 2018, the Group announced the acquisition of ten senior
housing properties in the US at the consideration of US$65,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$509,600,000). The transaction
completed in January 2019.

2019
HK$'000
FERET T
Purchase consideration satisfied by: BERECZNAR :

Cash paid Res 509,600

Fair value of net assets acquired: FrUEEEFE 2 ANE
Property, plant and equipment (note 16) Y% - BB KR (FisE16) 458,640
Intangible assets (note 18) | A E (M3E18) 50,960
509,600

WEEARRA ST (REATTERSZ )

Acquisition related expenses (included in

administrative expenses) 11,342
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition: W iE 2 e FRE
Cash consideration paid BREESRE (509,600)

1 7 2 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Acquisitions of senior housing properties (continued)

The acquired business contributed revenue of HK$122,617,000, earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (before deducting the
acquisition related expenses of HK$11,342,000) of HK$4,454,000 and
net loss of HK$35,684,000 to the Group for the period from 1 July 2018
to 31 March 2019.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2018, pro-forma revenue and
net loss for the year ended 31 March 2019 of the acquired business
would have been HK$214,352,000 and HK$48,488,000 respectively,
resulting in consolidated pro-forma revenue and profit for the year
ended 31 March 2019 of the Group to be HK$6,984,449,000 and
HK$686,598,000 respectively. The information is for illustrative purpose
only and does not represent actual results for the year.

Disposal of Moon Colour Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(“Moon Colour Group”)

On 28 March 2019, the Group entered into an agreement to dispose of
entire interest in Moon Colour Group at a consideration of approximately
HK$540,000,000. The transaction completed on 1 April 2019.

REeR(E

Cash consideration
Less: professional fees and other expenses

Net assets disposed BHECEEFE

Gain on disposal, net (note 9) HEZ W

Net cash inflow arising from the disposal:
Cash consideration received
Professional fees and other expenses

BEUHREKE

W HEERREMA N

R (PR 9)

HEEEAREM N

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

39 GERTREBRME (B)

(b) WEE R HE ()

(i)

(ii)

HESHEELNRSIRAFR

Wi = EBRE W% (F)

B ESR_Z—\F+A—HBZ
—E-AFEZA=+—BHEALE
BB B U A S 122,617000 7T © K
FAE . BIE - EREHEATAT
(OB U B HE B =2 LB 511,342,000
TCHI) B HE 4,454,000 7T MR BB
35,684,000 7T ©

N EEER T \FNA—B%
A BIFTBEBHE T —NF=
A=+—HBLEFEZHEZERART
BB Bl A7 214,352,000 7T &
7 548488,0007T C EHEE -
—NEZA=Z+—BULFEAEE
RAHBE WA NG TGS B &S
6,984,449,000 JT & 7 % 686,598,000
T WWEREMBEZA - WIEZF
EZERER -

i &Moon Colour Holdings Limited
REKE 2T ([Moon Colour £H |)

RZE—HAhF=ZA=-_+NH K
% B 77 3 5 % A & Moon Colour
SBEz2RBE RENAEBE
540,000,000 ° WX HER =F
—NEFMA—HFEK °

2020
—EBoEE

—=—=

HK$'000
BETT

540,244
(2,969)

537,275

166,747

540,244
(2,969)

537,275

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 39 FERSRERME ()
(CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued) (b) WEER HE (&)
(iii) Disposal of New Rise Properties Limited (“New Rise”) (iii) HEFABELBRAE ([FHFHD
In March 2019, the Group entered into an option agreement with an RZE-—NF=A - AEEHE-ZE
independent third party. Under the option agreement, the counterparty N E =R I B o BB
has right to acquire New Rise. In June 2019, the counterparty exercised B YA ARKENA - K=
the option to acquire New Rise at a consideration of HK$187000,000. T—NFERRA - HHDITEERE AR
The transaction completed in the same month. {8751 187000,000 L W BT F » &

ZERRATERK -

2020

—E-EF

HK$°000

BET T

Cash consideration BeRE 187,000
Less: professional fees and other expenses o BEERNKEMT (2,301)
184,699
Net assets disposed BHECEEFE (146,019)
Gain on disposal, net (note 9) &z WEs - JFRE (H3E9) 38,680

Net cash inflow arising from the disposal: HESHEEANASRAFE -

Cash consideration received BUERESRE 187,000
Professional fees and other expenses BEERAMEME T (2,301)
184,699

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 39 FERSRERME ()

(CONTINUED)
(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

(b) WEE R HE ()

(iv) 4§ & Jumbo Rainbow Limited & &
Ft /B 2 7 ([ Jumbo Rainbow £ |)

(iv) Disposal of Jumbo Rainbow Limited and its subsidiary (“Jumbo
Rainbow Group”)

RZZ—NFERA AEBFY—
5 % & A H & $ Jumbo Rainbow
EEE2PED REHABE
279,000,000 kXSG E R = F
—NEFE+ A5 -

In June 2019, the Group entered into an agreement to dispose of entire
interest in Jumbo Rainbow Group at a consideration of approximately
HK$279,000,000. The transaction completed in October 2019.

Cash consideration RERE 279,108
Less: professional fees and other expenses W BEERRAMTH (2,502)
......276,606
Net assets disposed gheExEE¥a (202,355)

Gain on disposal, net (note 9) ez WEs - FEE (M9FE9) 74,251

Net cash inflow arising from the disposal: HESHEEEANASRAFE :

Cash consideration received BUERERE 279,108
Professional fees and other expenses EEERARAME T (2,502)

276,606

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities/(assets) arising from financing activities (c) MEZBHFEEAE (BE) ZHEK

Bank and other Pledged bank Lease

borrowings deposits Liabilities
SRATR 2R

SRITIFER HESE

HK$'000

HK$'000
BT BT

RS
HK$'000
BT

At April 2019, as previously stated RZE—NFMHA -
LRI 23R 3,740,210 (54,913) -
Impact of change in accounting policy FETHRE B TR
(note 3) (FFF5E3) (277) - 75,966
Restated at 1 April 2019 RIZT—h&F
MA—B#&EEY 3,739,933 (54,913) 75,966
Cash flows Rene (230,318) 5,165 (16,800)
Transfer to liabilities directly associated RS ESENE
with assets held-for-sale BEEEMERZ
BE (124,361) - -
Exchange realignment Rk (25,928) = (3,231)
New lease arrangements FEETHE - - 4,028
Others Hith 8,741 - 2,860
At 31 March 2020 RZE-_TF
=A=+—H 3,368,067 (49,748) 62,823
At 1 April 2018 RZZE—N\F
mA—H 3,376,502 (54,363) -
Cash flows BeEme 363,961 (550) -
Exchange realignment ME 5 SR EE (8,506) - -
Others HA 8,253 - -
At 31 March 2019 RZZTE—N&F
=A=+—H 3,740,210 (54,913) -
HIEBREEBRAT
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

40 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

40 HEREMBREE ZRERNR

BETRENS  REBAHBAZHE -
BEAEREM I RKER S = TERERY
ZEMEETPSBEZRESEXEMN - R-F
TEER_E-NF=ZA=+—H8 &BZ

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in business
combinations, lease-in-place and others are allocated, at acquisition, to the
CGUs that are expected to benefit from such intangible assets. The respective
carrying amounts as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 had been allocated as follows:

REEDESENT :
Goodwill Lease-in-place Others
wmE BiEFHEE Hith
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000
BET T BT T BET T
Cost 2%
Construction and engineering BE R T2
- roads, drainage and waterworks - B - B
KoK T2 - - 26,534
Property development and operations MEBRREE
— cold storage and public bonded warehouse - RERE
(note a) RARREE
(KHizEa) 66,027 - 3,000
Senior housing (note b) b E (Mitkb) 575,091 84,736 -
Insurance and investment R RIEE - - 4,006
Others Hith 8,670 - 11,620
649,788 84,736 45,160
Accumulated amortisation/impairment loss 2ty
WEEE
Construction and engineering BRERERTIE
- roads, drainage and waterworks -8R - R
KoK T2 - - (26,534)
Property development and operations MEERREE
— cold storage and public bonded warehouse - RERE
(note a) RARREE
(Mizta) (1,461) - (3,000)
Senior housing (note b) b E (MisEb) (4,348) (58,071) =
Insurance and investment R RIRE - - (3,986)
Others Efth - - (2,019)
(5,809) (58,071) (35,539)
Net book value at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZF
=A=+-H
ZREFE 643,979 26,665 9,621
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Cost
Construction and engineering
—roads, drainage and waterworks

Property development and operations
— cold storage and public bonded warehouse
(note a)

Senior housing (note b)
Insurance and investment
Others

Accumulated amortisation/impairment loss

Construction and engineering
—roads, drainage and waterworks

Property development and operations
— cold storage and public bonded warehouse
(note a)

Senior housing (note b)

Insurance and investment
Others

Net book value at 31 March 2019

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there

are indications that they might be impaired.

The Group tests other intangible assets for impairment whenever there is an

indication that they might be impaired.

Determining whether goodwill and other intangible assets are impaired require
estimations of the higher of the value in use or fair value less cost to sell. Both
approaches require the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from CGUs and suitable discount rates in order to calculate present value.

40 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE

2%
BE R T2
- B - RTE

ROk IR
VIHBER N EE
- RERE

RARREE

(Mfzta)
ZEhE (Mitkb)
R RIRE
Efth

-G £
BEEE
BERMR TR
-8R - R
RoKIE T2
VIR REE
- RERE
RARREE
(Mfzxa)
b E (MisEb)
IRBE R IGE
HAh

R-E-IF
=ZA=+—~H
ZRHFE

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

40 %ﬁgﬁ%& Lt EE 2R ER A

Goodwill Lease-in-place Others

B2 RiFHE HAl

HK$'000
BT T

HK$'000
BT

HK$'000
BETT

- - 26,634
66,027 - 3,000
612,330 856,829 -
- - 4,235

7,242 - 11,505
685,599 85,829 45,274
- - (26,534)
(1,461) - (3,000)
- (31,963) -

- - (4,126)

- - (1,959)
(1,461) (31,963) (35,619)
684,138 53,866 9,655

AEESFHRNARERTHERE X
EHEREDRE - SEATETAR -

AEBEREMELEEENR A AR
KEETRERR

DERIEN

BEERERAMETLEES D REFRBETE
AREBEXAAEHIRHEER I ZREE -
HEEAZMEREER  ZEEFEFTZR
CEABNELEZARRREMERBZMR
T PEEHERE-

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

40 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE

ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a) Cold storage and public bonded warehouse business

Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and
expectations of future changes in the market. Management determined
budgeted growth rates and gross margins based on past performance and
market expectation. The discount rates reflect specific risks relating to the
relevant CGUs.

Goodwill, after impairment, of HK$64,566,000 (2019: HK$64,566,000)
is allocated to the Group's cold storage and public bonded warehouse
business. The estimated recoverable amount is determined based on value-
in-use approach. The calculation uses post-tax cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management covering a one-year period.
Cash flows beyond the period are extrapolated using a 2% (2019: 3%)
growth rate per annum and a 9% (2019: 9%) discount rate per annum.

(b) Senior housing business

The key assumptions require the entity to estimate the discount rates and
net operating income. Management estimates appropriate discount rates
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the CGUs.

Goodwill, after impairment, of HK$570,743,000 (2019: HK$612,330,000) and
lease-in-place, after amortisation, of HK$26,665,000 (2019: HK$53,866,000)
are allocated to the Group’s senior housing business. The estimated
recoverable amounts are determined based on value-in-use approach. The
calculation uses pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering three to fouryear period. Cash flows
beyond the period are extrapolated using a 3%-4% (2019: 3%-4%) growth
rate per annum and a 9.2%-12.5% (2019: 10.0%-10.5%) discount rate per
annum.

An impairment loss of HK$4,381,000 arose in relation to a senior housing
property located at Michigan, the US in view of lowerthan-expected
occupancy. Any changes in any of the key assumptions used would result in
increase or decrease in impairment loss.

The senior housing business operate in a heavily regulated environment
which are subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state,
and local government. These laws and regulations relate to, among other
things, such as government healthcare program participation requirements,
regulations regarding reimbursement for patient services and related billing,
fraud and abuse. Violation of certain laws and regulations could result in
the expulsion from government healthcare program. Management was not
aware of any actions or potential actions as at 31 March 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

N EEZEREEZB/IRER

41 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ emoluments

Emoluments paid and payable to the Directors are as follows:

2020
Executive Directors
Kuok Hoi Sang
(Chairman and Managing Director)
Tam Kwok Wing
(Deputy Managing Director)
Ho Chung Leung
Ma Chi Wing
Lily Chow

Non-Executive Directors
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles*
Poon Chung Kwong*

Irons Sze#

Sun Leland Li Hsun#*
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar

Ko Chan Gock, William

(a) EEME
BN RENEEMESNT

Salaries

Retirement

Directors’ and other scheme
Fee benefits contribution Total
FeR EIRETEIZ
EEMWE HAthEF R e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T BET T BET T
—EC-EF
HTES
E4E
(EFERESFLRLE) - 17,080 756 17,836
(BIEEBLIE) - 12,600 525 13,125
Al RER - 3,950 251 4,201
HE - 7,400 360 7,760
IEEIE] - 2,200 165 2,365
FHITESE
BiEs 400 = = 400
BRI 350 = = 350
ik e 300 = = 300
AL B #* 300 = = 300
AMEIE 400 = = 400
aEgE 100 = = 100
1,850 43,230 2,057 47137
HETEREEERAT

—T_TEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_T-_TF=RA=1+—HIEFE

41 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES N EERESEZRMRER (&)

(CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEM< (F)
REIEES Retirement
Directors' and other scheme
Fee benefits contribution Total
RINETEIZ
EZ=Me EAobiaF BN Fak]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI Vot BT BT T
2019 —E-NF
Executive Directors HITES
Kuok Hoi Sang g4
(Chairman and Managing Director) (T EF#EEEKIE) - 15,600 720 16,320
Tam Kwok Wing EAEIES
(Deputy Managing Director) (BlESHBEIR) - 12,200 503 12,703
Ho Chung Leung AR R - 3,800 240 4,040
Ma Chi Wing B - 7000 330 7330
Lily Chow IEEIE] - 2,100 157 2,257
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles* g 350 - - 350
Poon Chung Kwong* BRI 305 - - 305
Irons Sze* i <L 300 - - 300
Sun Leland Li Hsun** TR Ep 28 - - 28
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar JE#EE 350 - - 350
Ko Chan Gock, William S 100 - - 100
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph”** [EIERE #** 350 - - 350
1,783 40,700 1,950 44,433
#  Independent Non-Executive Director tOBNIEITES
*  Appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 26 February 2019 * RIE-NEFZAZ+HANBEZEARBE
ERITEE
**  Deceased on 13 October 2018 > AT N\F+AT+=BEH
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEMS
The five highest paid individuals include three (2019: three) Directors, details hE&EeHFWALBE=R(Z22—A
of whose emoluments are set out above. The total emoluments paid to the FZR)EF BEZHeFEEHT
remaining two (2019: two) highest paid individuals are as follows: wmE e EHFEBERE(ZT—NF : W

B)RBHMALZ BHE -

2020 2019

—E-EH —E—NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REAMER 7237 7,066
Performance-based bonus BRI LA 2,649 2,273
Contributions to retirement scheme BRIRET B2 R 18 18
9,904 9,357

1 8 O CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (continued)

The emoluments of the remaining two (2019: two) highest paid individuals
fall within the following bands.

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

N EEREE 2B RER (F)

(b) EEM<E ()

HBpma (C2—1F  mE) R HH
ZANTRIREERE| D R TR

HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000
HK$5,000,001 - HK$5,500,000

The above emoluments paid and payable to Directors and employees also
represent only benefits paid to the Group's key management during the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party
or were parties and in which a Director or any entities connected with a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

42 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees issued for utilised
borrowings in relation to:

RTHENRZRITEE
BYRTIEFABRETORET
ETHEERZIRBERENER

Banking facilities granted to associates
Guarantees given to banks and housing
retirement fund management centres
for mortgage facilities granted
to certain buyers of properties

The Group’s share of contingent liabilities of its joint ventures was as follows:

Guarantees given to banks for mortgage facilities
granted to certain buyers of the joint ventures'
properties

In respect of a completed engineering contract, the Group has contingent
liabilities arising from the claims lodged by a subcontractor for an unprovided
amount of approximately HK$27 million. The ultimate outflow, if any, to settle
this possible obligation is subject to the final outcome of the legal proceedings
and is uncertain.

78 # 4,500,001 7T — ¥ 5,000,000 7T 1 2
75,000,001 7T - % 5,500,000 7T 1 -

trmEZERREECNREN ZHE I
RBE—Z_TFER_ZT-NF=A
=+t —RUEFERNRAAEREZERE
Nz ME—TE7H -

EERXS  RERENP2EXER

AR B S E B A B R AT SR 4
B EREARRIDATE - MEERT
MEZESERENERNE T ERLH
EHRAEAER ABHAREEBNEX
X5 RHHEK

2 HZAREE

AEEFERCBHBERMEL ZERZEAE
(EV I

2020 2019
—z-%5 —T—nF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT
1,368 1,398
548,760 521,960
550,128 523,358

AEEEEREREZIABENT ¢

2020 2019
—z-%5 —TnF
HK$'000

BT

HK$°000
BT T

RTRITMETEEREZMEN
ETERZIRBERENER

268 287

HREZTKNTREAOME  AEEER—2D
BREM—EAREESTEOBE 2,700 BTz
REMELXRNEE  AHGEFZAUREE
B S H (G ) RFERFANRELER
e - ME M ARBEHETE ©

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

r e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-_TF=-A=1+—HILLFE

43 COMMITMENT 43 AiE
The Group had commitment as follows: REBE ZAPENT -
2020 2019
ft el 323 —E-NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT
Contracted but not provided for in the consolidated # TF7I|TEE BT A 4
financial statements in respect of BRELRE I MERANETIR 2 A IE
- property development projects - ¥ ERIES 474,492 342,284
— acquisition of property, plant and equipment - WAV - BEREE 3,018 1,083
— acquisition of a senior housing property - EA—MZEREME (K 48)
(note 48) 151,125 -
628,635 343,367
The Group's share of commitment of its joint ventures was as follows: REBEESSDEZAENT -
2020 2019
HK$ 000 HK$'000
BT T FEEET T
Contracted but not provided for BELBRR 8,215 8,699
44 OPERATING LEASES 44 EEHRE
The Group as lessee AEEERAEA
Operating lease commitments for short-term and low value asset leases which —FRNIEENESHELEEEEERENRK
were due within one year amounted to HK$2,680,000. M%ﬁh% S BB 2,680,000 7T ©
The Group as lessor AEEERHEA
As at 31 March 2020, investment properties and properties for sale with carrying RZZE-ZTF=A=+—H LEEHEY
values of HK$2,974,182,000 and HK$33,306,000 (2019: HK$3,064,680,000 and Mz EMERGTEMEZERES A

HK$36,855,000) respectively were rented out under operating leases. These
properties have committed tenants within the next thirteen years.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in place
at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

—FR
BE—FERFRN
BERFE=FRN
HE=FENFA
HENFERFA
HBhF

Within one year

After 1 year but within 2 years
After 2 years but within 3 years
After 3 years but within 4 years
After 4 years but within 5 years
After five years
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78 £ 2,974,182,000 7T K 7 ¥ 33,306,000 7T

— L : % 3,064,680,000 7T K2 B
36,855,0007T) ° It FEEEEETAGEARK
T=5RHEA -

AEERREAHREIITRBE 2 ZEREE
AR Y 2 RAGR A E FIRMT -

2020
—g-%F

HK$’000
BETT

115,028
91,781
74,205
62,326

3,934
22,552

369,826



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44 OPERATING LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as lessor (continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the future minimum lease payments receivable by the
Group under non-cancellable operating leases for each of the following periods
is as follows:

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth year inclusive
After five years

BeRF

45 RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group has established various retirement benefit schemes for the benefit
of its staff in Hong Kong and overseas.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in both defined contribution schemes
which are registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(the “ORSO Schemes"”) and Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes (the “MPF
Schemes”) established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group and in funds under the control of trustees. The ORSO
Schemes are funded by monthly contributions from both employees and
the Group at rates ranging from 5% to 7.5% of the employee’s basic salary,
depending on the length of service with the Group. For members of the MPF
Schemes, the Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs per employee,
at a maximum of HK$1,500 per month during the year ended 31 March 2020, to
the mandatory contribution of the MPF Schemes.

The Group also participates in the employee pension schemes in countries or
locations where the Group operates. The Group is required to make defined
contributions at rates calculated as a certain percentage or sum of the monthly
payroll.

Where there are employees who leave the ORSO Schemes prior to vesting
fully in the contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are reduced
by the amount of forfeited contributions. As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, there
were no forfeited contributions, which arose upon employees leaving the ORSO
Schemes and which would be available to reduce the contributions payable in
future years. No forfeited contributions utilised in this manner during the year
ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$nil). As at 31 March 2020, contributions of
HK$3,414,000 (2019: HK$3,154,000) due in respect of the reporting period were
paid over to various schemes in April 2020.

E_ERFN(BEEEMF)

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

44 EEHE (8)

REBERHBA (B

REZE-NF=ZA=1T—H AEER T
EHIRR BN A 2 EHE MR R RE
Wz EHRESREMT

2019
—FNF

HK$'000
BETFT
156,336
337276
53,641

547253

45 RIKER

AEBEAEENEBIMERE ZRMNRILZER
REAEHE o

REE - AL E SRR R KT EER)
Atz REHRKEE(BRERKTS D &
RIZEZZTE+ - ARG AE T3
MBI s s M ATE S B ([aESE
Bl ZEBZEEBEIAZZE
SHA BASEEESHERE - IBER
Ketdl - EERAEBESAREEEH Z5%
E75% AEFE  STEERAEBZFE
ME > AEBABRESHEZKE  EES
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A=+—HULFERETAZEZ AEBE1500
J0) BLag i e Rt EIVE o B MR R o

ZEERRERE - AEERIZIAT A HH
ZETANLRBBFEZ SRIEFREMRR -

i 8 B A 3R 2 B 5 B AR 1 B ¥R KA
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=+—H TEEESRHBIERRAZET
RAERFIRER R BSER - BE =
EZoEFZAZ+—HIFEATENILF
NBAZERRER(ZE—NF  BEZT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material transactions entered into during the year with related
parties are as follows:

46 EREALTZRS
RENEEMEATZEEIFFBHT ¢

2020 2019
SE

HK$°000
BT T

HK$'000
BT

RE—EEEREZEHRA 171,668 153,330
LT —EBERARIZAENER (1,053) (7473)
RE—HBE AR EBRBERA (M)

Contract income from a joint venture
Contract fee to an associate
Management fee income from an associate

184

(note 8) 19,800 19,800
Management fee income from joint ventures REGETEZEEBRA (MFES)

(note 8) 1,508 3,136
Maintenance fee to an associate LY —HEBE R ZREEA (7.461) (4,133)
Management fee to an associate BT HEBERRZEEER (341) (347)
Building management fee income RE—HBEARZIEFEES

from an associate 763 705
Rental income from an associate ke —EEE Rz HSRA 21,466 20,793
Rental expenses to an associate BTy —EBE R ZHe S (141) (147)
Sales and marketing services income from an KE—EEE AR HE R

associate (note 8) TG ERBUA (FizE8) 33,922 31,901
Secondment fee income from an associate RE—EEE AT ERABKA 1,670 1,577
Interest income from an associate ke — M E QB2 FLBMA 205 7
Interest income from a joint venture RE—HEEEREZFBMEA 6,265 13,055
Insurance premium from associates REBE QB ZRRE 600 8,254
Insurance premium from a joint venture RKE—FEELEZRRE 700 2,456

The above transactions were entered at terms mutually agreed between all
parties involved.

The emoluments of the Directors, who are also considered to be key
management of the Group, during the year is set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

47 ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE/LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED

WITH ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE
Balance as at 31 March 2019

In December 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
an independent third party to dispose of the Group’s entire interest in Moon
Colour and its wholly owned subsidiaries (together, “Moon Colour Group’ the
group engaged in the property development project located at Tai Yip Street,
Kwun Tong), at a consideration of approximately HK$540 million (note 39(b)(ii).

In March 2019, the Group entered into an option agreement with an
independent third party. Under the option agreement, the counterparty has
a right to acquire New Rise Properties Limited (“New Rise’] a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group which holds the interest in the property situated at the
Ground Floor of Block A and the Ground Floor of Block B, East Sun Industrial
Centre together with Car Park Space Nos. 23 and 24, Ground Floor, East Sun
Industrial Centre, Kwun Tong), at a consideration of HK$187 million (note 39(b)
(iii)).

As a result of these transactions, the assets and liabilities of Moon Colour
Group and New Rise were reclassified as assets and liabilities held-for-sale
respectively as at 31 March 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47 ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE/LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED

WITH ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE (CONTINUED)
Balance as at 31 March 2020

In January 2020, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party to dispose of the Group’s entire interest in
eight companies (the “Disposal Group’ which owned seven senior housing
properties and related assets and liabilities located in North Carolina, the US)
at a consideration of approximately US$42 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$328 million) (on mortgage-free basis). The assets and liabilities of the
Disposal Group as at 31 March 2020 were classified as assets held-for-sale and
liabilities directly associated with assets held-for-sale respectively. The assets
held-for-sale have been stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell. The transaction is pending for completion as at the date of
approval of this consolidated financial statements. Upon completion, the gain on
disposal before tax is estimated to be approximately US$21 million (equilvalent
to approximately HK$161 million).

Assets B

BEME (IR 16)

Investment properties (note 15)
Property, plant and equipment (note 16)

Goodwill (note 17) P (MEE17)
Properties under development (note 25) BREAPME (M3E25)
Other non-current assets HEIERBIEE

Inventories T8

Deferred tax assets (note 38) RIERIRE B (M35 38)
Debtors, deposits and prepayments
Bank balances and cash

RITRETF R ®

Assets of subsidiaries reclassified as held-for-sale

W - B R E (R 16)

FEUERTR ~ 7 RS RIAR IR

BN BAREREZMBRARZEE

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-_THF=F=+—RAIFE

4 HFELHEEE ERMEHEEE

BEEMABZAE (&)
R-B-BF=A=+-A2&H

RZZE_TF—F AEEER—FZBIE=
FEN—EEWHE  WEEAREER M
AR ([HEEE]  EBEEMRERILRER
MM tEZEREMEAREEBEERE
BlzaPpEzs RELHNAE4L2008FE7T(H
LRHEE 3288 ) (RHIETRIZBAE
W)  HEEER -_ZTZ-_ZTF=-A=1+—H
CEERBRBEADEABIEHELEER
HBEHESERERABZAE - BHIELE
BECREAEEQAARABEZREERLENK
AFIER - RS AL E A BT IS @R B 8
KRFERK © SERKIE © BRELATH B USSR L
2,100 3T (IRERLBE 1.61187T) °

Liabilities of subsidiaries reclassified as held-forsale B DB AFIEHEZHBATIZ BE

Creditors, borrowings, amount FERTRRER
due to a non-controlling interest,
deposits and accruals

48 EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

Acquisition of a senior housing property

In January 2020, OR4 Medford, LLC (a subsidiary of the Group) entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with an independent third party to purchase
a senior housing property in the US at a consideration of US$19.5 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$151 million). The transaction completed in May
2020.

ER N —RIEER
MR  FARELARER

2020 2019
—E-EF —Z-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
- 146,000
123,992 -
29,439 -

- 367498

4,198 -

82 -

4,603 3,028
12,640 23
535 -
175,489 516,549
128,350 34

48 HEPRKREE

WiE—BREREYE

MZ-ZE-ZF4%—H » OR4 Medford, LLC (A<
EEEP—HMBAR) B—RBMYE=FE]
Y EBEEWE - UAE1,9508 X (HF
756%’1/%#}151 TO) BB E RN ERN LT ER
=Y - JH:X%E\_Y_7$£HEEX

HIEBREEERATF
—TTEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

r e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILFE

49 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Company statement of financial position

As at 31 March 2020

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries
Interests in associates
Other intangible assets
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Investments at amortised cost

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Amounts due from associates
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Investments at amortised cost
Debtors, deposits and prepayments
Derivative financial instruments
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Creditors, deposits and accruals

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves (note a)

Total equity

Non-current liability
Bank borrowings

Total equity and non-current liability

Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2020 and signed on its behalf

by:

KUOK Hoi Sang
gt
Director

EE

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

49 & A T

MBRRRFEERE R

DA BARRR

i

T_THE=-A=1—H

zozo 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

FRBEE
B A R 2,711,955 2,774,489
NS o 89,594 89,594
HibEEE 599 599
BAREYABRRIEZICE 85,936 54,134
RE AR 2 18 23,003 30,851
______ 291,087 2949667

RENEE
FEU BB A RIBR IR 4,201,978 5,030,293
FEUHS: & 2 RIBR SR 19,584 17,685
BAREIIABRRIEZIRE 15,141 7858
REEN AR 2188 7778 3,970
FEURERER « TFHiiRS RIEN B 5,815 2,627
PTHEMBIA 242 -
RITEFRIAS 1,466,420 375,927
______ 716,958 5438360
FEBEE

FERTII B A RIBRSR 4,445,032 4,166,759
AR - FARSREREA 7,664 9,793
______ 4452696 4,176,552
rBEEFE 1264262 = 1,261,808
HEERARBEE 4,175,349 4,211,475

BARHE
& 377411 377411
it (M7Ea) 2,206,938 2,246,064
MR 2,584,349 2,623,475

kRBEE
RITIER 1,591,000 1,588,000
HEZRFRBERE 4,175,349 4,211,475
KEEEN - 7*7¢/\H +N B8

WHTIEEREE

HO Chung Leung

{RER
Director

EF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

49 A RNAMBIRR R R BB R

Reserves movement of the Company

At 1 April 2019 RZT—NEF
MA—H

Profit and total comprehensive  EE#M &2 E

income for the year hErats]

Dividends paid BEfRE

At 31 March 2020 RZZB_TF
=A=+—H

At 1 April 2018 RZT—N\F
mMA—H

Profit for the year FEHEF

Fair value adjustments on the EERBE2RE

derivative financial instruments ¥ RITA B 75
designated as cash flow hedge =~ TEAMQAAREFHE
Total comprehensive FE2E )/
(expenses)/income for the year ~ URz542%8
Dividends paid BEfARE
At 31 March 2019 HRZZE—NF
=—A=+—H

Share
premium

RDBE

HK$'000
BT

49 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Notes:

Contributed
surplus
BB
HK$'000
BT
(note b)
(Mt b)

(a)

Capital
redemption
reserve
EXWE G
HK$'000
BT

LN i)

Retained

profits
RE BT
HK$'000
BEF T

Hedging

reserve
iR A
HK$'000
BT

Total
Fitc]
HK$'000
BT

704,087 95,413 8,799 = 1,437,765 2,246,064
_ - - - 126,935 126,935
_ _ - - (166,061) (166,061)
704,087 95,413 8,799 = 1,398,639 2,206,938
704,087 95,413 8,799 3 1,430,871 2,239,173
_ _ - - 127,665 127,665
_ - - (3) - (3)
_ _ - @) 127,665 127,662
_ _ _ - (120,771) (120,771)
704,087 95,413 8,799 - 1,437,765 2,246,064
(b) BABREBTIR KB BAF B EFER

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the value of net assets of
subsidiaries acquired and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for their
acquisition. Under the Companies Act of 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed surplus of

the Company is available for distribution to shareholders.

WERMETARBARN ZEAERZZE - R
BARECNAN-FREE) ARBZHA

BT HDIR TR

HtEREEERAR

R
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
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50 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 50 = /ML F]

Percentage of

issued share

capital/

Issued and registered

Place or country paid up Effective percentage of capital held
of incorporation share capital/ issued share capital/ by non-
or registration/  Class of registered Number of registered capital held controlling

Name of company operation shares held capital shares by the Company interests  Principal activities

FRARAERT FERERRR

BRITRAR R/ ERAZ BRITRE/
GEL:S EXtNTE FEROEN  RE/ERRE RAgE ERED FmRAzEAL  EEER
Directly Indirectly
E# Mk

9%

% %

Ample Trade Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS!1 1 - 100 - Property development

BERRLA & B3 BT NEER

Changchun New Star Mainland China ~ N/A RMB675,000,000 N/A - % 4 Property development
Universe Sheng Chi Real RER TER  AR¥675,000,0007 TER NELE
Estate Development
Co., Ltd. (note a)

RENETENRIE
RRAREMAR (M)

Chevalier (Aluminium Engineering) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 100 - Supply and installation of
Hong Kong Limited Bk LB BT aluminium windows
EL(BIR)EEERAA and curtain walls

RERZERERERE

Chevalier (Aluminium Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 - 100 - Supply and installation
Engineering) Limited % el BE1007T of aluminium windows
(note b) Deferred HKS$2 2 - 100 - and curtain walls

ET(BIR)ERAR (KEb) BT AR HERRERERER

Chevalier Automobiles Inc. (Canada Common CAD101 200 - 100 - Saleand servicing

mex L 101 MEXT of automobiles
EHEREERT

Chevalier (Building Supplies Hong Kong Ordinary HK$20,000,100 20,000,100 - 100 - Supply and installation
& Engineering) Limited B ! 720,000,100 7 of building materials
note b Deferred HK$2 2 - 100 - BEREEEENH

AT (B IR)BRAR (i) i1 Ao

1 8 8 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

50 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 50 FEMERT (&)

Percentage of

issued share

capital/

Issued and registered

Place or country paid up Effective percentage of capital held
of incorporation share capital/ issued share capital/ by non-
or registration/  Class of registered Number of registered capital held controlling

Name of company operation shares held capital shares by the Company interests  Principal activities
ARAEHERS FERERRE
YRR/ BRTRER B%/EREsz BRRE/
AEER EXHEDER  FEROER RA/EREA RA%A EREAL FmRAzEAL  EEER

Directly Indirectly
E# 3

9%

% %

Chevalier Cali Holding Us Common US$4,012,000 4,012,000 - 100 - Grocery trading
(Cal) Inc. £l ! 4,012,000%7T REES
Chevalier (Chengdu) Mainland China ~ N/A RMB250,000,000 N/A - 100 - Investment holding and
Investment RER TER  AR250,000,0007 TER provision of
Management Limited (note c) management service
HH (8 REERERAT RABRRREERRS
(M c)
Chevalier Chrysler Inc. Canada Common CAD101 200 - 100 - Saleand servicing of
JIEYN g 101 NEAT automobiles
EHEREER
Chevalier Cold Storage and Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 2 - 75 25 Operation of a cold
Logistics Limited % LB BT storage warehouse and
ELREMRERAR logistic business
BERFRERMRER
Chevalier (Construction) Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$60,500,000 60,500,000 - 99.67 033 Building construction
Limited B T 760,500,000 and maintenance
Bt (BE)ARAT BTRERRE
Chevalier Construction (Hong Kong) ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$409,990,000 40,999,000 - 100 - Building construction
Limited (note bl & L 7#409,990,0007T Bres
HIRE(FE)BRARA (Hb) Deferred HK$10,000 1,000 - 100 -
it 710,000
Chevalier (Corporate Management) ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 100 - Provision of corporate
Limited % el BRI management services
AL(0¥ER)BRAA RIGCEERRR
Chevalier Development (S) Pte Ltd ~ Singapore Ordinary §$2,500,000 2,500,000 - 100 - Property investment
R 3 2,500,000%7 1% 7T NERE

R+ERERERAT
“e-paeg 189
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_T-_TF=RA=1+—HIEFE

50 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 50 FEMERT (&)

Percentage of

issued share

capital/

Issued and registered

Place or country paid up Effective percentage of capital held
of incorporation share capital/ issued share capital/ by non-
or registration/  Class of registered Number of registered capital held controlling

Name of company operation shares held capital shares by the Company interests  Principal activities
ARAEHERS FERERRE
YRR/ BRTRER B%/EREsz BRRE/
AEER EXHEDER  FEROER RA/EREA RA%A EREAL FmRAzEAL  EEER

Directly Indirectly
E# 3

9%

% %

Chevalier (E & M Contracting) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$69,200,000 69,200,000 - 100 - Installation of electrical
Limited B 3l 769,200,000 and mechanical
AT(KETIR)BRAF equipment and provision
of project management
service
RERERERRIARER
MR
Chevalier (Envirotech) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$232,740,000 232,740,000 - 100 - Environmental engineering
ET(RERIBRAR i L 7% 232,740,000 BRIE
Chevalier (Insurance Brokers) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 100 - - Insurance brokerage
Limited % B 71,000,000 RRER
BT (RBER)BRAR
Chevalier Insurance Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200,000,000 200,000,000 100 - - Insurance underwriting
Limited &k A 71200,000,0007T RIBRH
ET-REARDA
Chevalier iTech Services Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 100 - Trading and servicing
ETHRTRERAR % LB BT of computers and
business machines
ERRAFREZ S REE
Chevalier iTech Thai Limited Thailand Ordinary BAHT18,980,000 189,800 - 100 - Trading of computers
(note d) Fl ! 18,980,000 %k and business machines
(Pt o) Preference  BAHT1,020,000 10,200 - 100 - ERREEHEES
B 1,020,000%8%
Chevalier (Macau] Limited Macau Ordinary MOP100,000 4 - 100 - Building construction
HE (M) BRAF 2R LA 2P 100,000 0 andinstallation of
airconditioning

systems, aluminium
windows and curtain walls

BFRERRELREN
REREE

1 9 O CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

50 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Name of company

AAER

Chevalier (Network Solutions)
Limited
EL(BERR)BRAA

Chevalier Network Solutions
Thai Limited

Chevalier Pacific Limited
AL DERARA

Chevalier Property Development
Limited (note b)
EthzERERAA (Hitb)

Chevalier Property Management
Limited (note b)
ETEENFERARLR ()

CIH (BV) Limited

CPC Construction Hong Kong
Limited (note b)
ETHEERERAR (HiE0)

Full Ascent Development Limited

BAREERLA

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/

operation

R/
EXBATAR

Hong Kong
B

Thailand
%

Hong Kong
&

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
&

British Virgin
Islands

ARAAREE

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

Issued and
paid up
share capital/
registered
capital

Class of
shares held

BRORAR

FEROEN  &E/EREE

Ordinary HK$2
3l Vot Y
Ordinary BAHT15,000,000
LA 15,000,000 %%
Ordinary HK$200,000,000

Lh 7% 200,000,0007

Ordinary HK$360,000,000
3l 787 360,000,000
Deferred HK$51
Eit BT
Ordinary HK$100
el EE1007
Deferred HK$1,002
it 11,0027
Ordinary US$1
1B %7
Ordinary HK$415,284,200
LB 71415,284,2007C
Deferred HK$25,936,200
BT 725,936,200 70
Ordinary HK$2
L BT

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

50 FEMEBLTE (E)

Percentage of
issued share
capital/
registered
capital held
by non-
controlling
interests
FERERRE
BRRE/
B ALY

Effective percentage of
issued share capital/
registered capital held
by the Company
ARAEHERS
B%/EREsz
EREAL
Directly Indirectly
E# 3

%

Number of

shares Principal activities

Rt#E IERHK

%

2 - 100 - Network systems and
solution services
RBEZG IR
150,000 - 100 - Trading of
telecommunication
equipment
EHREES
200,000,000 - 100 - Property development
NELR
360,000,000 - 100 - Property development
and investment
51 - 100 - DEERRRE
100 - 100 - Property management
and security services
1,002 - 100 - DEERLRZRH
1 100 - - Investment holding
RERR
4,152,842 - 100 - General construction and
trading business
259,362 - - 00 -REEREHEH
2 - 75 25 Property investment
NERE
HtEBREEERAR

191
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50 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 50 FEMERT (&)

Percentage of

issued share

capital/

Issued and registered

Place or country paid up Effective percentage of capital held
of incorporation share capital/ issued share capital/ by non-
or registration/  Class of registered Number of registered capital held controlling

Name of company operation shares held capital shares by the Company interests  Principal activities
ARAEHERS FERERRE
YRR/ BRTRER B%/EREsz BRRE/
AEER EXHEDER  FEROER RA/EREA RA%A EREAL FmRAzEAL  EEER

Directly Indirectly
E# 3

9%

% %

Goldyork Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 49 51 - Property investment
SHREERLRA B B 1007 NERE
Keysford 1 Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000 100,000 - 100 - Property development
B i %%100,0007T NEER
Kwai Hei Investments No.T Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS!1 1 - 75 25 Property investment
& B3 BT NERE
Lac Kar Investment Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3,600,000 3,600,000 - 100 - Property investment
Limited & A 713,600,000 7T VESE
NMEEERAA
Macleh (Chevalier) Limited Canada Common CAD10,100 10,100 - 100 - Investment holding of
nex L@ 10,100 2 AT property investment
and hotel operation
MEREREEREL
RERR
Macont Developments Inc. Canada Common CAD1,000 1,000 - 100 - Property investment
JIIEVN ta 1000 /EAT NERE
Matterhorn Properties Limited British Virgin Ordinary US$1 1 - 100 - Property investment
Islands/ gl %7 NERE
Hong Kong
ERABRES/
i
Mi4 Ashford, LLC Us N/A 1JS$6,980,000 N/A - 100 - Operation of senior housing
X8 el 6,980, 000%7 el genzhs
NV4 Cheyenne, LLC Us N/A 1US$4,256,000 N/A - 100 - Operation of senior housing
Bl TR 4,256,000% T TER BEZEhE
NC4 Albemarle, LLC Us N/A UUS$10,041,476 N/A - 9.6 14 Operation of senior housing
X8 el 10,041 4767 el genzhs
NC4 Covington, LLC Us N/A US$5,087122 N/A - 986 14 Operation of senior housing
Bl TR 5,087122% T TER BEZEhE
NC4 Kingsbridge, LLC Us N/A 1JS$6,056,405 N/A - 9.6 14 Operation of senior housing
X8 el 6,056,405%7T el genzhs

1 9 2 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Name of company

AAER

NC4 Magcreek, LLC

NC4 Magnolia, LLC

NC4 Oliver, LLC

NC4 Wellington, LLC

Proud Rich Limited (note b)
FEERAF (Hb)

LEETMEERARAT
(note ¢)

(FitzEc)

Shanghai Chevalier Trading Co.,
Ltd. note ¢
PEETESERRAA (Hc)

Shanghai Chonmain Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (note a)

RRIE RN EERERAT
(Mt a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/

operation

us
*H

us
e

us
*H

us
e

Hong Kong
Bt

Mainland China
FEML

Mainland China
FERL

Mainland China
FEML

50 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Class of
shares held

kAR

N/A
oyl

NA
oyili

N/A
oyl

NA
oy ili

Ordinary
R
Deferred

N/A
oyl

P’

N/A
oyl

’a

N/A
oyl

Issued and
paid up
share capital/
registered
capital

BRORAR
BA/EmRE

1S$3,464,273
346427357

US$4,464,085
4,464, 08550

582,794,319
279431950

US$3,674,901
3,674,901 %7t

HK$20
EENT
HKS$20
BT

US$3,650,000
3,650,000 %7

US$3,500,000
3,500,000%7C

US$18,000,000
18,000,000%7

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

50 FEMEBLTE (E)

Percentage of
issued share
capital/
registered
Effective percentage of capital held
issued share capital/ by non-
Number of registered capital held controlling
shares by the Company interests  Principal activities
ARAEHERS FEREERE
Bx /A BRRE/
RG%E BRADL dRRAZEAL  FEEE
Directly Indirectly
E# 3

9%

% %

N/A - 986 14 Operation of senior housing
TR menEhs
N/A - 9.6 14 Operation of senior housing
i Bezzhs
N/A - 986 14 Operation of senior housing
TR menEhs
N/A - 9.6 14 Operation of senior housing
TR Bezzhs
2 - 100 - Property investment
NERE
2 - 100 -
N/A - 100 - Property management
&R and provision of
property management
consultation

NEEERRENFEERS

N/A - 100 - Trading of lifts,
TER escalators, electrical and
mechanical equipment

Rl BERESS

g5
N/A - 80 20 Property development
&R and investment
NEERRRE
HtEBREEERAR

—T_TEER
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BHE_T-_TF=RA=1+—HIEFE

50 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 50 FEMERT (&)

Percentage of

issued share

capital/

Issued and registered

Place or country paid up Effective percentage of capital held
of incorporation share capital/ issued share capital/ by non-
or registration/  Class of registered Number of registered capital held controlling

Name of company operation shares held capital shares by the Company interests Principal activities
RARRFERRT FEREREE
RIBER/ BRITRAR R/ ERAZ BRIRE/
GEL:S EXHEIER  FRROER  RE/ERRA RAgE ERED afRAZE AL TEER
Directly Indirectly
Ei Mk

%

TaiTung Industrial Equipment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$30,000,000 30,000,000 - 875 125 Logistics services
Limited i 3l 7%30,000,000T ikt
AAIERBEERAT
Winfield Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$2 2 - 100 - Property investment
BAERERAR & el BELT NERE
Xinyang Chevalier Hotel Co., Ltd. Mainland China ~ N/A RMB55,000,000 N/A - 70 30 Hotel operation
(note ¢) PER TER  AR¥55,0000007 TER EEEE
EBETNEEERAR ()
757040 Ontario Limited Canada Common CAD10 10 - 100 - Property investment
nex Ete 00EAT NERE
mEG e SERAR Mainland China ~ N/A RMB15,000,000 N/A - | - Trading of motor vehicles
PER TER  ARE150000007 TR and provision of
maintenance services
EE S RIERRERE
ARG EMAEHERE Mainland China ~~ N/A RMB30,000,000 N/A - | - Trading of motor vehicles
BRAT FEA, TERE  AR%30000,0007 TNER and provision of
maintenance services
BB 5 RIERRERE
RBEGHL T HERY Mainland China ~~ N/A RMB22,000,000 N/A - | - Trading of motor vehicles
ARAR el TER  AR¥22,0000007 TER and provision of
maintenance services
B RRERERE
RARBRE T EHERE Mainland China ~~ N/A RMB10,000,000 N/A - | - Trading of motor vehicles
BRAR FER TEE ARE10,000,0007 TR and provision of
maintenance services
REE S RIRERERE
Notes: BEE -
(a) Established in Mainland China as sino-foreign owned equity joint ventures. (a) MAFPBIRMK ZRIMEEDE -
(b) All deferred shares are non-voting and practically have no rights to participate in any (b) FIBEREERMEEEERE  MER EEEE
distribution upon winding up. NEBERESERDIR
(c) Established in Mainland China as wholly-foreign owned enterprises. (c) RHPBIRHKY ZINEBERE -
(d) Preference shares are 10% non-cumulative and every four preference shares of this (d) BEAIERZT10% @ MZAF 2 BUARE L
company carry one vote. REH —IREHE -

1 94 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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51 PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

Name of associate

BENR 4R

Cafe Deco Holdings Limited

Chevalier (HK) Limited
Ht (F8)BRAA

il
¢
)

B (PR BRAT

Toshiba Elevator (Shenyang)
Co., Ltd.
RZEBOEG)BERRA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-_TF=A=+—HILFE

51 TEBE QT

Place or country
of incorporation

Effective percentage
of issued share
capital/registered

or registration/ Class of capital held Measurement
operation shares held by the Company Principal activities method
NG
ERTRE/
R, AR 2
EX A E R PR ERESL
%
British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary 25.28 Investment holding Equity
Hong Kong L@ REER EE
REgEBRHS/
B
Hong Kong Ordinary 49 Marketing, installation and Equity
) L@ maintenance of lifts and T
escalators and
security devices
B RERREAEE
EFBRREEE
Mainland China N/A 20 Manufacturing, sales, Equity
REIAL A installation, repair %
and maintenance
of lifts and escalators
SUE - HE TE BB
RRETHRE R ERE
Mainland China N/A 20 Manufacturing, sales, Equity
REIAL A installation, repair s

Note: The Group’s entitlement to share of the profit or loss in these associates is in
proportion to its ownership interest.

and maintenance

of lifts and escalators
SUEHE - wEBE

RIREFHRE R EHH

GERES RSS2 Pl s
BT 2 M A -

HtEBREERRAR
“EoTEER
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_T-_TF=RA=1+—HIEFE

5 FTESE

>
e

52 PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES

Place or country
of incorporation

Effective percentage
of issued share
capital/registered

Name of joint or registration/ Class of capital held Principal Measurement
operation shares held by the Company activities method
LGS
BRITRE,/
PV AR 2
EXBHIER PR 5 EREANL
%
Lam Woo & Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 50 Civil engineering Equity
BREERRAR EE E® TARIR B
Rosy Value Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 50 Property development Equity
EEBRARA B i i MEER 1
Seavest Core Fund I, LLC us N/A 95 Medical office building Equity
£H NEA investment g
BREBELAENERE
T REREREEREER AR Mainland China N/A 44 Property development Equity
FEA TER MEER o
FEBEGEREH TEHERS Mainland China N/A 2133 Trading of motor vehicles Equity
BRAF RE A TiEA and provision of B
maintenance services
B E S RRERERS

Note: The Group's entitlement to share of the profit or loss in these joint ventures is in Mzt  NEBERHESRR ZEPETEAEREZE
proportion to its ownership interest. BEBE RN EE

1 9 6 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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